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ACCRONYMS

BRD - Development Bank of Rwanda
RSSB - Rwanda Social Security Board
MINECOFIN - Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning
BNR - National Bank of Rwanda
RPF - Rwanda Patriotic Front - Inkotanyi
DFI - Development Finance Institution
IFRS -  International Financial Reporting Standards
AADFI - Association of African Development Finance Institutions
NISR - National Institute of Statistics of Rwanda
PCGRS - Prudential Standards, Guidelines and Ratings System
REB - Rwanda Education Board
RDF - Rwanda Defence Forces
PSF - Private Sector Federation
ROI - Return On Investment
EDPRS -  Economic Development and Poverty Reduction Strategy
UNILAK - University of Lay Adventists of Kigali
SME - Small & Medium Enterprizes
plc- public limited company



Vision
A world-class finance institution focused on 
accelerating Rwanda’s economic transformation

Mission
To be a trusted and strategic partner for Rwanda’s 
development by availing financing and advisory 
services to impactful entrepreneurs in key priority 
sectors.

Strategic themes
For the bank to achieve its transformational role in 
Rwanda’s economy in the next five years, BRD will 
have four strategic themes:
1. Focused investments and growth
2. Strong partnerships
3. Maximize development impact
4. Resource mobilization

Core values
1. Pragmatic
2. Focused
3. Innovative
4. Engaged
5. Inclusive
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Our esteemed Stakeholders, on behalf of the Board of 
Directors and Management of the Development Bank of 
Rwanda (BRD), I want to thank you for your invaluable 
support that enabled us to successfully close the year 
2017 which marked 50 years of our existence. This 
was a very difficult year for the Bank - 2017 was the 
second year of the new BRD strategy (2016-2020) on 
our journey to fully reposition as a development Bank. 
Clearly there are still many things we still need to learn 
and do before this critical transition is complete. 

We continue to face old and emerging risks that have 
affected our performance metrics and our ability to 
consistently comply with prudential requirements. 
The challenges are mainly a result of transiting into 
the new business model, a new regulatory regime and 
market driven conditions. Some of them include:

Capitalization

Our inability to secure in time additional capitalization 
(from 7 billion to 50 billion) as approved by the 
shareholders, limited our headroom to borrow and lend 
in 2017, this significantly constrained our business 
prospects in the year under review. On the brighter 
side, 2018 has started well. We are immensely grateful 
to the Government of Rwanda and Rwanda Social 
Security Board (RSSB) for their recent injection of Rwf 
35 billion that will greatly assist the Bank to stabilize as 
it seeks additional capital injection elsewhere beyond 
2018. 

Liquidity

 In our new business model, we ceased to be a 
deposit taking institution and thus largely depend on 
international borrowing and equity injection - this has 
created a currency mismatch, foreign exchange losses 
as well as a higher ‘net open position’, thereby affecting 
capacity to borrow for on-lending again constrained by 
low capitalization.

Francis Mugisha
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

Chairman’s 
Statement -
On behalf of the Board of Directors
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current and future challenges associated with changes 
in the regulatory and market environment. As we make 
progress in these efforts, reversals through recoveries 
and turnarounds, will positively impact the bottom line 
in the next two years.
We wish to highlight the following:

Investment approvals: 

Due to the reorganization, we were ambitious in fast-
tracking investments in the priority sectors of the 
economy. However, faced with liquidity constraints in 
2017, the Bank slowed down on investment approvals. 
The focus shifted to improving the quality of our loan 
book, fundraising and capitalization efforts.  

Improved efficiency management of student loans 
and bursaries 

We are happy to report that the Bank has eliminated 
the persistent delays encountered in disbursement 
of students’ bursaries over the previous years. We 
have invested in automation of the processes and 
procedures that streamlined operations which led to 
increase in total disbursement of student loans and 
student loan recoveries to the tune of 32.9 billion 
and 2.2 billion Rwandan francs respectively. There 
was also an increase in the number of student loan 
beneficiaries studying locally (27,693) and abroad 
(627). Going forward, we look to new innovations to 
transform financial access to education beyond to 
reflect the national need. We extend appreciation to our 
partners (including students) - the Ministry of Finance 
and Economic Planning (MINECOFIN), the Ministry 
of Education, High Education Council and Rwanda 
Education Board (REB) for their trust and collaboration.

Investment in IT infrastructure:  

To improve internal business processes and boost 
efficiency, the Bank is upgrading its IT infrastructure 
and the acquisition of a new core banking system. 
The board is fully engaged with this and we expet 
these IT platforms to transform the Bank significantly. 

NEW REGULATIONS

Unlike other Development Finance Institutions (DFIs), 
we are regulated as a commercial Bank when not 
all metrics apply to our business model. We finance 
startups with varying complexities across sectors – 
and being regulated as a commercial Bank in many 
cases hinder our ability
to invest in the risky areas that often require longer 
gestation periods but form part of our mandate. The 
latter sometimes creates cash flow challenges in 
the initial stages of these complex startups. In 2017, 
the tightening of asset classification rules between 
‘subjective and objective’ as promulgated by our 
Regulator has compelled the Bank to aggressively 
provide for projects we know will succeed, but only in 
the long term. From 2018, both Basel II/III and IFRS 9 
will have an additional impact on our performance.

 
Macro conditions and concentration in the hospitality 
sector

Our clients, especially in the hospitality sector, have 
generally struggled to meet their obligations in time 
and continue to report difficult trading
conditions. Our earlier investments into hotels and the 
hospitality industry, while necessary for the economy 
in pursuit of tourism receipts, is a major challenge 
today and a major contributor to our NPLs position. 
Many in the industry are facing low occupancy and 
pressure on room rates before they hit the critical 
mass in the numbers of ‘arrivals’. The fact that most 
are highly geared as a result of their startup nature 
and large capital outlays typical of many infrastructure 
investments, adds more pressure on margins and cash 
flows. We believe that it is a difficult inception phase 
but given time they will even-out
to post better results

NPLs  

In light of the above, the Bank has had to aggressively 
provide whilst intensifying efforts to

recover and restructure the client portfolio. In the new 
business model of the Bank we are dealing with an 
increasingly large ticket size, project complexity and 
long lead times of projects to mature in their cash 
flows and impact. These potentially impactful projects, 
would otherwise have no other recourse other than 
BRD given the weak ‘equity’ and nascent long-term debt 
market options currently available within our economy. 
Many start well, and in areas greatly beneficial to the 
economy, but new risks emerge in their implementation 
– requiring additional restructuring along the way and 
the innevitable
provisioning. We have concluded that we have to go 
beyond the traditional monitoring role of a lender and 
be active in ‘turnaround’ efforts through a coordinated 
multi-stakeholder collaboration. We have made 
institutional arrangements to rapidly establish this 
capability in the Bank.

REVIEW OF 2017 PERFORMANCE 

As we mark the completion of the second year in 
adoption and implementation of the Bank’s new 
strategy 2016-2020, it is important to look back to 
the sale of BRD’s more liquid commercial business 
portfolio (equivalent to 31% of BRD business then) to 
Atlas Mara which left the Bank with an imbalanced 
and illiquid portfolio in order to rightly focus as a pure 
DFI. Our mandate as a DFI is to provide affordable and 
long-term financing to economically impactful projects 
intended to improve Rwanda’s socio-economic 
development through the promotion of exports, 
import substitution, job creation, affordable housing, 
energy for all, among others. However with this new 
business model comes challenges of high exposures, 
an imbalanced and illiquid portfolio. It also requires a 
diversification into new lending sources – and BRD is 
beginning to make progress in this.

Considering the weak financial results reported today, 
the Bank is increasing its focus on recovery and rapid 
adaptation to the new business model. We have 
embarked on an aggressive turnaround strategy that 
will ensure that the Bank is well positioned to withstand 

C H A I R M A N ’ S  S T A T E M E N T

We are also cognizant of the new potential risks that 
will emerge. We will fully implement the BNR new 
regulation on corporate governance in its committee 
structure, including a new IT Board Committee.

OFFICIAL CELEBRATIONS OF GOLDEN JUBILEE

We are delighted to reach 50 years of BRD’s existence 
(on 5th August 2017) - a journey of resilience and 
sustained growth where the Bank has made a major 
contribution to Rwanda’s economic development. The 
projects the BRD has financed, especially in the last 
20 years are visible and impactul. This will for us be 
a period of renewed determination to do more in the 
pursuit of a vibrant private sector as the engine of our 
economy.

IMPACT ASSESSMENT OF 50-YEARS OF BRD’S 
FINANCING INTERVENTIONS

Looking back at the past five decades, our financing 
interventions have greatly contributed to a visible 
development impact particularly in terms of 
employment creation (mainly for women and youth); 
boosted export revenues and balance of payments; 
increased access and supply of clean and reliable 
electricity; increased agricultural modernization and 
agro-processing and food security; increased supply 
of affordable and decent homes; supported education, 
and increased tax revenue contribution to the national 
coffers.

MID-TERM STRATEGY REVIEW

Mid-term strategy review: We are also concluding this 
April our review of the strategy (2016 – 2020) to take 
into account emerging opportunities and challenges in 
the new operating environment as well as align with 
the Rwanda Strategy for National Transformation 
(NST-1) – extending our forecasts to 2024. We will 
communicate our conclusions, especially regarding 
the necessary equity injections necessary to provide 
a platform to source new debt financing from lenders 
and development partners.

OUTLOOK FOR 2018

We look forward to 2018 with excitement and positive 
energy to turnaround the fortunes of the Bank due to 
an elaborate plan put in place with strong stakeholder 
collaborations. The Board is committed to support 
Management to implement the essential strategies to 
fast-track improvement in performance, appropriately 
mitigate risk and deliver results. The revised strategy 
will come with an institutional balanced scorecard and 
hold each other accountable. Some of the areas we will 
focus on include:

People, processes, and systems

The year ahead will see massive investments and roll-
out of the new core banking system, upgrade of IT 
Infrastructure, staff development, and strengthening 
of our monitoring and evaluation systems to 
enhance impact assessment of the Bank’s financing 
interventions. We shall also invest in a ‘turnaround’ 
capability to support our portfolio ‘ahead’ of challenges.
Increased investments
As the Bank intensified contributions to financing 
projects aligned with national development agenda in 
the last 5 years, it mobilized debt that has increased 
the gearing of the Bank. The nature of development 
investments made, means that returns from 
investments will accrue over a long time. We plan to 
focus on improving investment returns and early exits 
where necessary.

Capital injection

The Bank-attracted debt in excess of USD $ 170 million 
into the economy in the last 5 years. Currently, the 
Bank’s ‘Debt to Equity’ ratio is 1:3.9 while the optimal 
is 1:3. The Bank will work hard to continuously engage 
the stakeholders to periodically inject additional equity 
necessary to match the development appetite – a 
necessary condition to diversify and raise additional  
resources from lenders. This will be in tandem with 
efforts to maintain a brand synonymous with efficiency, 
effective execution of mandate, significant impact and 
strong corporate governance.

Adoption of IFRS 9

Notwithstanding that the Bank will continue 
contributing to the development of the country, we 
forecast more challenges in the fiscal year 2018 as we 
adapt to the ‘International Financial
Reporting Standard (IFRS) 9’ that comes into effect 
starting 1 st January 2018. It is expected to have a 
huge impact on how the Bank accounts for credit 
losses as well as provisioning for bad debts in the 
portfolio. This will be a significant challenge for BRD 
with a DFI mandate in comparison to commercial 
bank operations, which have adequate collateral and 
shorter loan tenors. The same period will also see 
the implementation of BASEL II/III, where new capital 
buffers have been introduced and market risk and 
operational risk requirements are considered in the 
asset risk weighting. This might require additional 
commitments from shareholders to allow the Bank to 
meet these new requirements.

Comprehensive risk management

To appropriately position BRD to respond to these 
emerging and current risks, the Bank will review and align 
its risk management program to maintain compliance 
with key regulations (corporate governance) and 
limits (capital adequacy and liquidity ratios). Focus on 
affordable housing and establishment of housing fund: 
The Bank is working with the government of Rwanda 
to manage the affordable housing fund. Currently the 
government and BRD are engaged in discussions with 
some investors to provide funding for both the demand 
and supply side to
satisfy the unmet need for affordable housing in the 
country.

Other Sectors: 

Our efforts in other priority sectors will also continue, 
including the imlementation of the World Bank Energy 
Fund of USD 50 million.
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Eric Kwizera Gasana (RSSB), both appointed by the 
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on 30 th 
Mar 2017 but started their Directorship responsibilities 
later in the year.

In light of the new regulatory changes (the Banking 
Law N° 47/2017 of 23/09/2017, the Law Governing 
Companies N° 27/2017 of 31/05/2017 as well as the 
recently approved Corporate Governance Regulation 
for Banks), the board will need to be reorganized. We 
have to maintain a minimum of 5 independent directors 
in a board of 9, including the new requirement to have 
visible IT skills at the board. The new mandatory board 
committees include: Audit; Risk (merges risk and 
ALCO), Nomination and Remuneration; Credit; and
IT Committees. As we ask you to consider renewing 
the mandate of the board and later, introduce a 
succession plan, it is important that we continue to 
place appropriate emphasis on the balance of skills 
and independence within the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW 

The fiscal year 2017 ended with BRD welcoming Mr. 
Eric Rutabana who the Board appointed as the new 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of BRD in Dec 2017. 
The Board has tasked Eric with the responsibility to 
consolidate and ‘fast-track’ the transformation of the 
Bank through the revised strategy. 

Eric brings a wealth of experience and style to do the 
job and the Board is confident that he will successfully 
steer the Bank forward to play its essential role in the 
development agenda of our country. On the other hand, 
we bid farewell to Mr. Alex Kanyankole, to whom the 
Board is indebted for his tireless efforts and dedication 
during his 4-year tenure at the helm of BRD – especially 
in repositioning the Bank as DFI. 

In line with good corporate governance practices and 
regulations, the Board is currently composed of 9 
Non- Executive Directors (NEDs), including two new 
members - Mr. Patrick Mwesige (independent) and Mr. 

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I wish to thank 
the Management and staff of BRD for their resilience 
and commitment towards success in a new operating 
environment. The Board is supportive of the long-term 
plan in place to reposition the Bank and achieve set 
objectives.

To our esteemed clients, we extend our gratitude 
for the continued trust to do business with the Bank 
through the 50-years journey. We look forward to more 
collaboration and mutual growth next year and many 
more years to come.

Finally and importantly, we are grateful to you the 
shareholders, to our leaders, development partners 
and other stakeholders for the counsel, support 
and commitment towards our mandate as a DFI for 
Rwanda. We are confident that with your continued 
support, we will achieve more together in the exciting 
journey beyond the golden jubilee reflections!

C H A I R M A N ’ S  S T A T E M E N T

O U T G O I N G  C E O  M R .  A L E X  K A N Y A N K O L E  H A N D S  O V E R  T O  I N C O M I N G  C E O  M R .  E R I C  R U T A B A N A  I N  T H E  P R E S E N C E  O F T H E  C H A I R M A N  B R D  B O A R D  O F 
D I R E C T O R S  M R .  F R A N C I S  M U G I S H A
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On behalf of Management and Staff, I extend my 
gratitude to all our Stakeholders – the esteemed 
Shareholders, Customers, Policymakers, Lenders, and 
the Development Partners – for all your collaborative 
support towards Development Bank of Rwanda (BRD) 
during this financial year 2017.

In a special way, I am grateful and humbled by the 
enormous trust and honor bestowed on me by the BRD 
Shareholders and Board of Directors by appointing me 
as the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of this esteemed 
institution.
 
I am indebted to the warm reception from my 
colleagues in Management and the staff community 
which enabled a seamless transition into the new 
duties that begun on December 7, 2017. Special 
appreciation to my predecessor, Mr. Alex Kanyankole, 
for his wise counsel and guidance provided to me till 
today.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW

This financial year marks the completion of 
implementation of the second year of the five-year 
strategic plan; and the general outlook of the bank 
shows tremendous progress in certain areas. However, 
there was significant decline in financial and investment 
performance However, there was significant decline in 
financial and investment performance due to a number 
of challenges.

First and foremost, a thorough review of the bank’s 
investment and credit processes culminated in an 
aggressive plan jointly initiated with support from the 
Board to deliberately clean up the bank’s loan book 
that had progressively deteriorated in quality. 

This led to significant increase in credit losses mainly 
resulting from additional impairment provisions 
of 4.8 billion Rwandan francs and the writin off of 
loans that had been non performing for more than 
two years, amounting to 8.5 billion Rwandan francs; 
and ultimately contributed to an increase in the non-

CEO’s Statement
Eric Rutabana | CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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performing loans ratio (18.7%). The absolute increase 
in credit losses amounted to Rwf 11.1bn. The Banks 
equity investments also recorded impairments of 
Rwf 2.7bn in the P&L and 3.1bn in available for sale 
investments. 

Consequently, the Bank management has initiated 
a comprehensive review and enhancement of the 
existing lending and investment processes; and 
committed to enhancing loan recovery and investment 
monitoring activities to recover substantial funds from 
both the non-performing assets and the written-off 
portfolio. 

INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE REVIEW

During the year 2017, the bank registered minimal 
investment approvals to the tune of Rwandan francs 
18.3 billion against the annual target of Rwandan francs 
67.2 billion largely attributed to liquidity challenges 
and undercapitalization. With undercapitalization, the 
bank’s ability to borrow was also significantly affected 
thereby impacting on the ability to underwrite new 
business. 

Despite the above challenges, the bank completed 
some major investment projects during 2017 such as 
Eastern Province Investment Corporation (EPIC) hotel, 
AFRIPRECAST, Muhima Investment Company (MIC) 
shopping mall, ABUSOL Ltd. Other major investment 
approvals were also made. These were the construction 
of 80-megawatt peat to power plant (YUMN Ltd) and 
Bugesera International Airport.

In addition, the bank, through the government of 
Rwanda completed requirements allowing the access 
of financing support worth $49 million from the World 
Bank under the Renewable Energy Fund (REF) to 
provide off-grid energy solutions. This will boost the 
bank’s interventions in the energy sector to increase 
electricity access through off-grid technologies (stand-
alone solar systems, mini-grids) with private sector 
participation. The projected impact includes 445,000 
new off-grid connections by 2023 (with an estimated 

1.8 million beneficiaries of whom 52 percent are 
women).

In education, BRD continued to make significant 
strides during this year in improving efficiency in the 
management of the students’ loans and bursaries 
whilst improving the students’ welfare – through timely 
disbursement of bursaries. Speed of disbursement will 
further improve though a new robust MIS that is under 
implementation. Focus has also been put in ensuring 
improved recovery from beneficiaries. In this context, 
we to extend since appreciation to our partners. 

Lastly, the bank is currently engaging different partners 
to raise funds for the newly established ‘Affordable 
Housing Fund’ to support multiple housing projects 
to address the supply side constraints in readiness 
for the launch of the government’s affordable housing 
fund. An estimated total investment of $297.4 million 
is required in the next 10 years (at an annual average 
amount of $29.7 million) to deliver a total of 6,000 
homes.

This will be possible through partnerships with key 
strategic partners and investors to implement ongoing 
project such as RUGARAMA Park Estates (to construct 
2,674 homes) and NDERA affordable housing project 
(to construct 1,300 homes).
FUND MOBILIZATION AND RECAPITALIZATION 

The Bank carried out sustained efforts to mobilize 
low-cost long-term funds – from both local and 
international lenders. This will enable the bank to raise 
much needed funds to competitively meet private 
sector demand for affordable and long-term financing 
to spur development of key sectors of the economy. 
This year, the bank raised funds amounting to $33 
million. We are grateful to our development partners 
and lenders for the consistent support offered to 
deliver on our mandate.

Looking further ahead, we will continue to explore 
innovative funding models such as Green/Climate 
financing and enhance existing resource mobilization 
strategies.

PEOPLE, PROCESSES AND SYSTEMS

During the fiscal year 2017, Management focused 
on reviewing and upgrading the internal business 
processes to appropriately position the bank to adapt 
and deliver on the new mandate. The bank engaged 
the services of an external firm to develop and upgrade 
its IT infrastructure, developed a new core banking 
system, and undertake skills transfer to the BRD team 
who will drive implementation of these new systems.

The Bank greatly invested in staff development to build 
a highly competent and productive workforce through 
availing training opportunities in key business sectors 
such as Exports and Energy. In the same context, we 
initiated the development of a new Human Resources 
Management and Development strategy that shall 
drive the implementation of the strategic plan, and 
other planned strategies in place to boost staff 
productivity and performance of the bank. 
Although the staff headcount has slightly increased 
to 138 staff, the year closed with recruitment exercise 
to identify key candidates to fill the strategic vacant 
positions including the Chief Finance Officer and Bank 
Economist that are crucial in facilitating the delivery on 
our objectives. 

The bank undertook a comprehensive review of its 
cost structure with the strategic intention ‘to do more 
with less’ to provide better value for our shareholders 
and customers. 

CELEBRATION OF 50-YEARS OF FINANCING FOR 
DEVELOPMENT IMPACT 

On August 5, 2017 – BRD officially marked fifty years 
of existence during which the bank has contributed to 
economic development through providing financing 
for the different sectors of the Rwandan economy. The 
Bank has also supported community activities through 
its focused corporate social responsibility mandate.

In celebration of this milestone, the bank carried 
out special documentation to capture cumulative 

development impact generated from sector-specific 
financing interventions over the last 50 years. This 
feature report provides outlook on highly impactful 
projects in the 50-year journey supported private sector 
investments in crucial sectors – such as agriculture, 
energy, exports, housing and social infrastructure 
development. 

LOOKING AHEAD TO 2018 

According to the National Institute of Statistics of 
Rwanda (NISR), Rwanda’s economy grew by 6.1% in 
2017 beating 5.2% projections set earlier. The growth 
is attributed to good performance in the fourth quarter 
which registered 10.5% growth, rebounding from the 
slowdown in the first quarter where the economy grew 
by 1.7%. The economy is expected to grow by between 
7-8 per cent in 2018 riding on the services sector, 
agriculture and a rebound in construction activities. 
These growth prospects present opportunities for 
growth to the bank. 

The year 2018 presents a unique opportunity for 
the bank to implement key strategies aimed at 
turning around the bank’s performance. The bank 
will however continue to operate from a complicated 
regulatory environment arising from the adoption 
and implementation of the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) 9 and Basel II/III, both of 
which are expected to have wide ranging impact on the 
banking industry in general. 

Despite the setback in financial and investment 
performance experienced during 2017 as well as the 
projected complicated regulatory environment, we 
recommit to undertake the following strategies to 
improve performance in 2018: 

Sustained engagement with key 
shareholders for capital injection 
(recapitalization to the tune of 35 billion 
Rwandan francs); 
Comprehensive plan to increase loan 

recovery and work out activities; 

Enhancement of the lending and 
investment policies and procedures; 
Fund mobilisation to finance key priority 
projects in energy, housing and exports; 

Sustained management of the credit, 
liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
Create efficiencies in business 
operations while ‘doing more with less’.

Additionally, the bank will roll-out the new core 
banking system and upgraded IT infrastructure that 
will tremendously create operational efficiency and 
productivity. 

The bank also expects to embark on the development 
of the new office park premises with groundbreaking 
exercise expected during the year 2018 as discussions 
with potential investors into the project are close to 
completion. 

In recognition of the combined efforts of everyone – 
ranging from our shareholders, esteemed customers, 
development partners, the Board, Management, and 
entire staff – BRD will hold official celebrations to 
mark the 50 years next year 2018, and it will be an 
opportune moment to review our journey, recommit 
to consolidating achievements, and look to the future 
with resolute optimism to fast-track delivery of our 
mandate.

50 years
H I G H W A Y  T O  D E V E L O P M E N T  S I N C E  1 9 6 7

You will certainly find more interesting facts 
on the bank’s financing impact in this special 
feature dubbed ‘50-years of availing financing 
for development impact’

Happy reading!
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This year 2017, the Development Bank of Rwanda 
(BRD) registered a huge decline particularly in key 
financial performance indicators such as negative 
profitability, reduced total investment output, and poor 
portfolio quality that led to increased non-performing 
loans.

The Board and Management have jointly developed 
mitigative strategies aimed at turning around the 
bank’s performance which certainly provide positive 
outlook for next year 2018 going forward; and the 
bank is confident of complying with all prudential and 
financial requirements as set by the regulator as well 
as the industry benchmarks.

The comprehensive turnaround plan will mainly focus 
on a deliberate exercise to clean up the bank’s loan book 
as a prerequisite for the bank’s urgent recapitalization 
process to boost our liquidity position and enable the 
bank to sustain its increased financing interventions. 
There will also be massive investments in people, 
processes and systems such as roll-out of the new 
core banking system, upgrade of IT Infrastructure, 
staff development, and strengthening our monitoring 
and evaluation systems.

Review of key turnaround strategies 

• Mid-term strategy review: a key ongoing activity is 
reviewing our 5-year strategy that will ensure that the 
bank aligns with the changing business operational 
environment. Therefore, for the bank to continue 
contributing to the realization of national development 
programs, particularly aligned with the 7-years National 
Strategy for Transformation, it needs commensurate 
equity injection to allow continuation of sourcing for 
new debt financing from lenders and development 
partners. 

The Board is very committed to support Management 
in implementing the essential strategies that will fast-
track improvement of the bank’s performance through 
reviewing of the strategy to set realistic targets 
that will appropriately align with prevailing financial 

services sector challenges while leveraging on new 
opportunities in the market.

• Capitalization

In the strategic plan of 2016-2020 the Bank’s business 
model changed, it ceased to be a deposit taking 
institution. BRD is largely dependent on sourcing 
funding from internal sources, the foreign currency 
borrowing has created a currency mismatch. The 
ensuing increase in costs due to forex associated 
losses has reduced the headroom to borrow for on-
lending due to low capitalization. This was attributed 
to delays encountered in securing additional 
capitalization (from 7 billion to 50 billion) that had been 
approved by shareholders. However, the Government 
of Rwanda and Rwanda Social Security Board (RSSB) 
recently authorized capital injection of Rwf 35 billion 
which will greatly assist the bank to stabilize as it seeks 
additional core capital injections for the difference 
from other shareholders.

For the last 5 years, the bank attracted debt more than 
USD $ 170 million that was invested in the economy. 
Currently the banks Debt to equity ratio is 1:3.9. 
Given that the high gearing of the bank as we mostly 
mobilize debt to finance investments, we need to meet 
the optimum ratio of 1:3, however this will require 
shareholders to periodically inject additional equity to 
match debt in line with increased investments into the 
economy which will favorably position BRD to attract 
more development financing from lenders.
The bank is committed to working with development 
partners and stakeholders to design programs in the 
priority sectors to attract blended funds especially in 
agriculture, energy, housing and SME development – 
this is particularly evident with the ongoing programs 
such as REF & EGF.

• New regulations

Unlike other DFIs, BRD is regulated as a commercial 
bank – and not all metrics apply to its business model.  
The bank finances startups with varying complexities 

across sectors – and being regulated as a commercial 
bank in many cases hinders its ability to invest in the 
risky areas in its broad mandate. In 2017 the tightening 
of classification rules between ‘subjective and 
objective’ as promulgated by the Central Bank required 
the bank to aggressively provide for projects that bank 
expects to succeed.  In 2018 the adoption of Basel III 
and IFRS 9 will have an additional impact on the bank’s 
performance, however most of the provisions were 
made in 2017 in anticipation of the new regulations.

It is envisaged that the bank will face more challenges 
in the fiscal year 2018 emanating from adoption and 
implementation the International Financial Reporting 
Standard (IFRS) 9 that comes into effect starting 
January 1, 2018. It is expected to have enormous 
impact how the bank accounts for credit losses as 
well as provisioning for bad debts in its portfolio – 
particularly in the case of BRD – owing to the nature 
of DFI mandate (business model) in comparison to 
commercial banks operations which have adequate 
collateral and shorter loan tenures.

• NPLs

The combination of the issues above and a new 
loan classification regime has required the bank to 
aggressively provide for the poor performing loans. 
For instance, there has been consistent increase 
of NPLs as a result of the macro conditions and 
concentration in the hospitality sector where clients 
have generally struggled to meet their obligations in 
time due to challenges in the economy. The bank’s 
instance invested in hotels early to support the sector 
and promote tourism, however the subsequent supply 
challenges were unprecedented since there was a lot 
of demand but currently most of them are struggling 
with occupancy. Most of them are also highly geared 
given their startup nature – a condition that creates 
additional pressure on margins and cash flows.

In the new business model of the bank, we are dealing 
with increased size, complexity and long lead times 
of projects. These are potentially impactful projects 
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that have no other recourse other than BRD given the 
weak ‘equity’ options available within our economy. 
Despite that, these projects are of great impact and 
beneficial returns to the economy, however new risks 
emerge from time to time during implementation that 
may require additional restructuring and provisioning 
due to non-performance. Management of the bank has 
resolved that in addition to monitoring of these projects, 
the bank’s role will also include developing ‘turnaround 
capabilities’ that have become increasingly necessary.

• Massive investment in IT infrastructure

To improve internal business processes and boost 
efficiency, the Bank initiated the process of upgrade of 
IT infrastructure and the development of a new core 
banking system under the active coordination of the 
Board showcasing the importance of this investment 
to the bank going forward. 

• Brand audit: The Board and Bank’s Management is 
cognizant of the importance of a strong brand, and 
hence the continuous need to invest in activities that will 
improve the Bank’s Brand Equity. We will continuously 
engage in strategies that will communicate better in the 
market and strengthen bank’s position in the market 

and amongst stakeholders, the bank will focus on 
improving its brand equity that is essential in attracting 
and building strong partnerships with our lenders and 
development partners who are crucial in the ongoing 
fund mobilization and recapitalization efforts.

• Comprehensive risk management

As a Development Bank we are always working in 
sectors with the most risk and given that most projects 
we finance are startups given the focus of our mandate 
as a catalyst in the market, risk management is of great 
importance to the bank and appropriately positioning 
the bank to respond to emerging and current risks is 
at the forefront. The is ongoing combined efforts of 
implementing a robust risk management program 
to maintain our compliance with key regulations 
(corporate governance) and limits (capital adequacy 
and liquidity ratios).

• Management of REF

The bank will start implementing the World Bank 
funded Renewable Energy Fund (REF) thanks to 
financing support worth $50 million for off-grid solar 
solutions financing that will boost the energy sector. 

The Project will have a number of socio-economic 
impact given that its main its objective is to increase 
electricity access in Rwanda through off-grid 
technologies (stand-alone solar systems, mini-grids) 
with private sector participation. The Expected impact 
is 445,000 new off-grid connections by 2023 of which 
in the 1.8 million people, 52 percent are women.

• Establishment of a Housing Fund

The Bank is working with the government and the World 
Bank to support the development of affordable housing 
in the country. This will be through the development of 
the Affordable Housing Fund to be managed by BRD 
in partnership with implementing partners that will 
include Ministry of Infrastructure, Rwanda Housing 
Authority, and private developers. 

The Board, Management and entire staff are confident 
in collaborating to turnaround the fortunes of the bank 
due to this elaborate plan put in place with involvement 
and support from the key stakeholders. 
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

C H A I R M A N ’ S  S T A T E M E N T

As a bank, we place great 
importance in continuing to 
grow a sustainable business 
that impacts Rwanda’s socio-
economic transformation built 
on strong ethical standards 
and exemplary conduct.

LOYCE K. BAMWINE
COMPANY SECRETARY & GENERAL COUNSEL
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The Board of Directors of the Development Bank of 
Rwanda Plc is responsible for the governance of the 
institution and has final accountability for its strategic 
direction, management and performance. In executing 
its duties, the Board ensures the Bank complies with 
good corporate governance principles and high ethical 
standards as embedded in the Bank’s Articles of Asso-
ciation and other applicable laws.

As a financial institution, the Development Bank of 
Rwanda is subject to the supervisory authority of the 
National Bank of Rwanda. Accordingly, the corporate 
governance principles and standards adopted by the 
Board have been developed with close reference to the 
Law governing the organization of banks in Rwanda, 
Central Bank Regulation on corporate governance, the 
law governing companies in Rwanda as well as other 
international corporate governance guidelines. 

To underpin its commitment to sound corporate gov-
ernance, the Board has adopted a Board Charter that 
sets out roles and responsibilities for the Board, the 
Board Chairman and each of the Board directors and 
respective Board committees. In execution of its fidu-
ciary responsibilities, the Board is also guided by the 
Company’s Articles of Association as well as laws in 
force. The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of 
Association and the Board Charter are revised regular-
ly to ensure their alignment with new corporate gov-
ernance requirements, the Bank’s strategies, share-
holders’ interests and governance best practices. In 
accordance with the Board Charter, directors endeav-
our to work together to advance good corporate gover-
nance within the bank. 

In recognition of its efforts and commitment to pro-
moting good corporate governance practices, the 
Bank was assessed by the Association of African 
Development Finance Institutions (AADFI) Prudential 
Standards, Guidelines and Rating System [PSGRS] 
during the Association’s 2017 Peer Review Exercise 
and scored a rating of 77% (AA) in corporate gover-
nance out of a weighted score of 91, which is a clear 
indication of good corporate governance standards in 
the Bank. 

As a bank, we place great importance on continuing 
to grow a sustainable business that impacts Rwanda’s 
socio-economic transformation built on strong ethical 
standards and exemplary conduct.

KEY HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR 2017

According to article 10 of the Company’s Memoran-
dum and Articles of Association as well as the corpo-
rate governance regulation, directors are appointed 
by the Shareholders meeting for a specified period 
of time. In adherence to good corporate governance 
practices and regulations, Mr. Patrick Jonny Mwesige 
(an independent director) was appointed by the Annu-
al General Meeting of Shareholders held on March 30, 
2017. 

During the year 2017, the shareholder, Rwanda Social 
Security Board (RSSB) also replaced Mr. John Bosco 
Sebabi with Mr. Eric Kwizera Gasana, who was also ap-
pointed at the General Meeting of Shareholders held 
on March 30, 2017. The two new directors joined the 
board with vast experience and expertise to strength-
en its fiduciary function. The Bank’s Board of Directors 
is currently composed of nine (9) non-executive direc-
tors.

During the year under review, the Board also appoint-
ed a new Chief Executive Officer of the Bank, Mr. Eric 
Rutabana, replacing Mr. Alex Kanyankole who had 
served the bank since July 2013, particularly leading 
the bank’s successful reorganization and restructuring 
to a development finance institution. 
The change of the top leadership was intended to 
cement the Bank’s achievements and accelerate the 
efforts to implement the Bank’s Strategic Plan 2016 
– 2020. Mr. Eric RUTABANA joined the Bank in De-
cember 2017, having been previously serving as the 
Country Head, Corporate and Investment Banking at 
BPR (part of Atlas Mara Group). 

Furthermore, the year 2017 ushered in changes in the 
legal framework governing banks and Companies in 
general. Important ones to be highlighted include; 

In recognition of its 
efforts and commitment 
to promoting good 
corporate governance 
practices, the Bank 
was assessed by the 
Association of African 
Development Finance 
Institutions (AADFI) 
Prudential Standards, 
Guidelines and Rating 
System [PSGRS] during 
the Association’s 2017 
Peer Review Exercise 
and scored a rating of 
77% (AA) in corporate 
governance out of 
a weighted score of 
91, which is a clear 
indication of good 
corporate governance 
standards in the Bank. 
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the Banking Law N° 47/2017 of 23/09/2017, the Law 
N° 27/2017 of 31/05/2017 governing Companies in 
Rwanda and Regulation N° 01/2018 of 24/01/2018 
on corporate governance for banks. 

The Corporate Governance Regulation for Banks re-
defined the best corporate practices and clearly set 
out roles and responsibilities of the Board of Direc-
tors and respective committees. 
In order to continue regulatory compliance, the 
Bank’s Articles of Association have been revised to 
align with the new laws highlighted above and Corpo-
rate Governance Regulation. The amendment to the 
Bank’s Articles of Association particularly considered 
the requirement for a ratio of 4:7 Independent Non-Ex-
ecutive Directors, Board responsibilities and the Board 
of Directors’ 3 year’s term of office renewable twice (a 
maximum of 9 years), the new authorized share capital 
of FRW 57,808,931,000 adopted by new shareholders 
in 2016, and the shareholding structure.   

Our Board 

In accordance with the Law Governing Companies and 
Article 10 of the Bank’s Memorandum and Articles of 
Association, the business and affairs of a company are 
managed under the direction of the Board of Directors.  
Article 14 of the Bank’s Articles of Association provides 
that the Board of Directors has the most extended 
powers concerning management so as to act on be-
half of the bank and perform all operations relating to 
its objectives. 
The Board of directors is therefore responsible for the 
overall administration, establishment of the Bank’s 
vision, mission and strategy for the interests of the 
Shareholders. 

Article 10 of the Bank’s Articles of Association sets out 
that the bank is administered by the Board of Directors 
composed of at least seven members and a maximum 
of eleven directors. The Shareholders are represented 
in the Board of Directors proportionally to their shares. 
A shareholder with less than 5% of the shares cannot 
be represented in the Board of Directors. 

As such, our Board of directors is presently comprised 
of 9 Non-Executive Directors (NEDs), four (4) of whom 
are Independent Directors appointed in consideration 

NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS

4 5
INDEPENDENT 
DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS

of their expertise and experience in corporate gover-
nance. The remaining five directors represent three 
Shareholders, being the Government of Belgium, the 
Government of Rwanda and Rwanda Social Security 
Board (RSSB). 

BOARD COMMITTEES

To effectively discharge its roles and responsibilities, 
the Board of Directors has delegated specific 
responsibilities to specific Committees. The Board 
of Directors has five Board Committees that play a 
pivotal role in assisting the Board in the execution of 
its mandate. Each Committee has specific terms of 
reference which have been adopted by the Board and 
form part of the Board Charter. Committees report to 
the Board on their deliberations and recommendations 
through reports from the Committee’s Chairperson at 
Board meetings

All Committees are adequately facilitated and each 
Board Director has access to the services of the 
Company Secretary for facilitation and professional 
advice in relation to discharging his/her duties either as 
a Director or as a Committee member. The respective 
Board committees and their objectives are detailed 
below: 

THE BANK’S BOARD MEMBERSHIP FOR THE YEAR UNDER REVIEW IS AS FOLLOWS: 

• Mr. Francis MUGISHA                                             Chairman of the Board (Independent)

• Mr. Eric RWIGAMBA                                            Non-Executive Director

• Mr. Cyrille HATEGEKIMANA                                             Non-Executive Director

• Ms. Agnes KANYANGEYO                                            Non-Executive Director

• Mr. Athanase RUTABINGWA                                             Non-Executive Director (Independent)

• Ms. Antonina R. KAYITESI                                            Non-Executive Director (Independent)

• Mr. Johan M. DEBAR                                            Non-Executive Director

• Mr. Eric  K. GASANA                                            Non-Executive Director

• Mr. Patrick MWESIGE                                            Non-Executive Director (Independent)
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board Audit Committee is established to review 
the financial conditions of the Bank, assess the 
effectiveness of the internal audit and control function, 
maintain adequate ratios in accordance with the laws 
and regulations, and accordingly support internal 
audit function in discharging their duties effectively. 
The committee is composed of five members, chaired 
by an independent director Mr. Patrick Mwesige 
(Independent Director) in accordance with the Articles 
25 and 26 of the National Bank of Rwanda Corporate 
Governance Regulation in force. The Committee meets 
on quarterly basis or as business demands.

CREDIT COMMITTEE

The Credit Committee identifies possible risks 
assumed by the Bank for various types of transactions 
which are not within the competence of the Asset 
and Liabilities Committee. It assesses and review the 
adequacy of the Bank’s credit and lending processes 
and approves investments beyond the discretionary 
limits of Management Committees. Comprised by five 
non-executive Directors, the Committee is chaired by 
an Independent Director Mr. Athanase Rutabingwa 
(Independent Director) and meets on a quarterly basis 
or as business demands.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Risk Management Committee is established 
to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities in 
managing the Bank’s Risk. The Committee reviews and 
approves principles, policies, strategies, processes and 
control frameworks pertaining to Risk management. 
It oversees the strategies for capital and liquidity 
management as well as other relevant risks of the Bank 
to ensure consistency with the stated risk appetite to 
ensure compliance with both internal and statutory 
requirements and to protect the Bank, staff and assets.  
The Committee is comprised of five (5) non-executive 
directors and is chaired by Ms. Antonina R. Kayitesi 
(Independent Director). The Committee meets on a 
quarterly basis or as business demands.

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES COMMITTEE (ALCO)

The Assets and Liabilities is a supervisory committee 
mandated to provide important management 
information system and oversight for effective 
evaluation of on- and off balance sheet risk for the 
Bank. It is established to review and approve the 
Bank’s liquidity and funding management, develop 
and maintain contingency funding plan by ensuring 
immediate funding needs and sourcing. It determines 
the liquidity risk exposure to adverse scenarios with 
varying probabilities. It ensures that emphasis is 
placed on managing assets liquidity, liabilities and 
operating cash flows to meet daily and contingent 
funding needs. Comprised by five (5) non-executive 
directors, the Committee is chaired by Ms. Agnes 
Kanyangeyo  (Non-Executive Director). The committee 
meets on a quarterly basis or as often as business 
demands.  As per the new corporate governance 
regulations, the Assets and Liabilities Committee is no 
longer a mandatory Board Committee.

HR & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Committee is established to assist the Board in 
discharging its responsibilities related to governance, 
review and approval of guidelines for remuneration 
systems design and operation vis-à-vis the bank’s long 
term business and legal and regulatory requirements. 
The Committee assesses and issues independent 
judgement on Bank’s organizational structure, policies 
and incentives. 

The Committee also analyses the role and 
responsibilities of the Board members as well as 
senior management, knowledge, experience and 
competences to ensure their duties are effectively 
discharged. It is comprised of four non-executive 
directors, and chaired by the Board Chairman - Mr. 
Francis Mugisha (Independent Director and Chairman 
of the Board). The Committee meets quarterly or as 
often as business demands. With the changes in the 
legal framework, the committee has been changed to 
Nomination and Renumeration Committee.

The amendment to 
the Bank’s Articles 
of Association 
particularly 
considered the 
requirement 
for a ratio of 4:7 
Independent Non-
Executive Directors, 
Board responsibilities 
and the Board of 
Directors’ 3 year’s 
term of office 
renewable twice (a 
maximum of 9 years), 
the new authorized 
share capital of 

RwF 
57,808,931,000 

adopted by 
shareholders in 2016, 
and the shareholding 
structure.   

C O R P O R A T E  G O V E R N A N C E

BOARD AND COMMITTEES’ MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS.

The Board meets at least once a quarter in accordance with BNR corporate governance regulation and the Board of Directors Charter or as often as the business demands. 
During the year 2017, the Board and its Committees held meetings to deliberate and take decisions on the Bank’s business and key interventions.

The records of Board Committees membership and Directors’ attendances at the Board and respective Committees’ meetings during the year under review are as shown in the 
table below:



SKILLS AND EXPERIENCE BOARD (DIRECTORS) RISK COMMITTEE AUDIT COMMITTEE CREDIT COMMITTEE ALCO HR & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

TOTAL DIRECTORS

GENDER DIVERSITY

Executive leadership
Leadership in private and public sector at senior executive level

Global Experience 
Experienced in multiple global locations, exposed to awide range of 
political, cultural, regulatory and business environment

Governance
Committed to the highest governance standards,with exposure in 
major institutions that ato rigorous governance standards, with an 
ability toassess the effectiveness of implementation

Strategy & Risk 
Track record of developing successful strategies, development of 
customized long term strategic plan for the institution with key 
measurable targets.

Financial judgment 
The Board is largely experienced in financial, accounting,  corporate 
finance, audit and internalfi nancial control. It has the ability to probe 
the adequacies of financial and risk controls.

Credit Analysis
Acquainted and experience in fi nance and credit analysis, involving 
capital outlays and long term investment horizons.
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on performance and corporate governance practices. 
During the year under review, the Board engaged in a 
Board Evaluation Review and this covered a review of 
the performance and effectiveness of the Development 
Bank of Rwanda Plc Board. The results of the review 
were discussed and will be submitted to the National 
Bank of Rwanda as a regulatory requirement. 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The Board has adopted a robust Conflict of Interest 
Policy. In accordance with the Board’s Charter, all 
directors have a duty to avoid conflicts of interest. This 
duty applies to any situation that could reasonably be 
expected to give rise to a conflict. It is clear on how 
Directors should manage their outside interests and 
how these may conflict with their duties as Directors 
of Development Bank of Rwanda Plc. Any actual or 
potential conflicts of interest is reported to the Board.

BOARD DIVERSITY & SKILLS

Based on their multifaceted skills and academic 
background, directors have been allocated into different 
committees of the Board – namely HR & Governance 
Committee, Credit Committee, Risk Management 
Committee, Audit Committee and Assets and Liabilities 
Committee as indicated below. We believe that the 
Board members have the requisite integrity, skills and 
experience to enable them discharge their fiduciary 
duties. 

OUTLOOK FOR 2018

In terms of corporate governance, we look forward to 
next year with much enthusiasm and commitment 
to continue demonstrating exemplary Corporate 

Governance standards. In line with the provisions of 
Article 22 of the new corporate governance regulation, 
the Board shall reconstitute its committees as follows; 
Board Audit Committee, Board Credit Committee, 
Risk Committee, Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee, and IT Committee. Accordingly, terms of 
reference for new committees will be drawn to guide 
the discharge of the duties of these committees. 

Additionally, the new regulation requires more 
independent non-executive directors (a requirement 
of a ratio of 4:7 independent NEDs) and has rightly 
introduced a new committee (Board IT Committee). 

The IT Committee members should be technically 
competent and a least one member must have 
substantial IT expertise in managing technology. In 
order to continue to comply with regulatory provisions 
and ensure a balance of skills at the bank, the 
Shareholders will appoint a new Non-Executive Director 
with the required skills in Information Technology.

The Development Bank of Rwanda Plc shall also 
revisit some its policies to align them with different 
sector regulations adopted in 2018 so as to continue 
implementing good corporate governance practices 
and compliance with sector regulations.

The Board shall also adopt the Bank’s revised Strategic 
Plan that is fully aligned with Rwanda’s National 
Strategy for Transformation (NST-1) and 2050 Vision, 
covering the period 2018 – 2024, supported with a 
clear implementation plan.

Overall, the Board meetings attendance met the 
regulatory requirement of 75% attendance as per a 
corporate governance requirement. 

NB: As indicated above, John Bosco Sebabi was 
replaced by the shareholder, Rwanda Social Security 
Board (RSSB), with Eric Kwizera Gasana, who was 
appointed at the General Meeting of Shareholders held 
on March 30, 2017 and subsequently approved by the 
Central Bank together with Director Patrick Mwesige.

TRAININGS UNDERTAKEN BY THE BOARD 

The Bank has a robust training plan for the Board. 
During the year under review, the Board of Directors and 
Senior Management were trained by the Institute of 
Directors (IoD) on Directors’ duties and responsibilities, 
which included a review of emerging trends in 
Corporate Governance, Finance for Non-Financial 
Directors, the Director’s role in Strategy and Marketing 
and the Director’s Role in Leading the Organisation and 
evaluation. 

This training was aimed at enhancing the Board and 
Senior Management knowledge and understanding 
of corporate governance. The Board also had 
an opportunity to engage with the entire senior 
management of the Development Bank of Rwanda Plc. 
A comprehensive induction was also provided to the 
two Board directors who had just joined the bank. 

BOARD EFFECTIVENESS EVALUATION 

A Board Effectiveness evaluation is conducted 
annually. Each Board member has been evaluated, 
individually so as to ascertain their performance and 
the results are shared with all directors for feedback 
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JOHAN DEBAR

AGNES KANYANGEYO

FROM LEFT TO RIGHT

BRD Annual Report | 2017

Francis is the founder and managing director 
of “Cerrium Advisory (formerly MCA)”, a niche 
management consulting firm operating within Africa 
to unlock performance and sustainable value across 
institutions.

He is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Management 
Accountants (FCMA); a Chartered Global Management 
Accountant (CGMA); and a Fellow of the East African 
Leadership Initiative (ALI) and the Aspen Global 
Leadership Network (AGLN). 

Mr. Mugisha is the immediate past president of the 
“Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Rwanda 
(ICPAR)” and was a board member for the Pan African 
Federation of Accountants (PAFA) for two years. He 
is the vice chairman of the Horizon Group; a past 
member of the East African ‘Superbrands Council’; and 
has served as BRD chairman since March 2014.

He has over 12 years management consulting 
experience across sectors and industry. Francis is 
BSMP (Balanced Scorecard Master Professional) 
certified, a PEFA consultant and practices the Memetor 
leadership methodology. 

Mr. Mugisha believes that “a society grows significantly 
when each one plants trees whose shade they know they 
will not use.” 

Antonina has diversified 16 years’ experience of 
which she has held leadership roles in Commercial 
Banking, Development Finance with regional financial 
institutions as well as Public and International 
Development Organizations. 

She has hands on technical expertise in Financial 
advisory, Banking, Accounting, Auditing, Funds 
Management as well as structuring innovative broad-
based access to finance, financial inclusive solutions 
and seed stage venture capital at the base of the 
pyramid. 

Kayitesi holds an MBA, B.Comm and ACCA.

Francis Mugisha
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

Antonina Kayitesi
B O A R D  M E M B E R
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Agnes Kanyangeyo
B O A R D  M E M B E R

Rutabingwa Athanase is an advocate with the Rwanda 
Bar Association since April 2000 to date. 

He is a Partner with MRB Attorneys. He holds an LL.B 
Degree from the National University of Rwanda and 
currently a finalist at the LUNDI University - Master of 
Science in International Trade Policy and Trade Law. 

Agnes has 16 years’ experience in the areas of 
statistical analysis, strategic planning, monitoring 
the implementation of planned activities, tax policy 
analysis, revenue forecasting and tax administration 
performance monitoring.

She holds a Masters of Arts in Policy Economics, 
Bachelor of Statistics degree; and serves on numerous 
other Boards.

Kanyangeyo is currently the Deputy Commissioner 
for Planning and Research at the Rwanda Revenue 
Authority (RRA).

Athanase Rutabingwa
B O A R D  M E M B E R

Mr. Rutabingwa is a Chartered Arbitrator from 
the London Chartered Institute of Arbitrators. Mr. 
Rutabingwa specializes in commercial law, Alternative 
Dispute Resolution (ADR), banking, corporate law, 
labour law, land law, transport law. He has advised and 
worked on different Clients` assignments in Rwanda 
and beyond. He has excellent working relationship with 
both public and private authorities in Rwanda. 

He has advised both public and private authorities 
in different infrastructure projects. He is a regular 
teacher of law at the Institute of Legal Practice and 
Development in Rwanda.

He is the immediate Past President of the Rwanda 
Bar Association, and a Council Member for the East 
African Law Society for five years since 2011 to 2015. 

Mr. Rutabingwa is a former President of the Conference 
International de Barreau (CIB). He has served on a 
number of Board of Directors of several companies 
(both local and foreign) with specific leadership roles. 

He is also currently a Non – Executive Director of 
Volkswagen Mobility Solutions Rwanda, and also a 
Board Member of the Rwanda Development Bank, 
chairing its Credit Committee. He also serves as the 
Chairman of the Kigali City Council.  

BRD Annual Report | 2017

Johan Debar
B O A R D  M E M B E R

Mr. Eric Rwigamba is the Director General of the 
Financial Sector development for the Rwanda Ministry 
of Finance and Economic Planning. 

In this capacity, he oversees a variety of nationally 
important initiatives related to the financial sector 
development (banks, MFI, SACCOs, insurance, pension 
and capital markets). 

Eric Rwigamba
B O A R D  M E M B E R

Before joining the Ministry, he was the Technical 
Manager for Access to Finance Rwanda. He also 
served as the General Manager for GroFiN Rwanda; 
the Country Head, Audit and Compliance - Ecobank 
Rwanda and as Audit senior at Ernst & Young, Uganda.
Eric has vast experience in the development and 
implementation of; Financial Sector policies, Strategies, 
Legislations and corporate Business planning. 

He is well versed with Finance and accounting, 
Budgeting and control, SMEs investment, Taxation and 
Auditing, investigation as well as Due diligence. 

He is a Board member of Development Bank of 
Rwanda (BRD), a Board member and vice chair of 
Capital Market Authority (CMAC), and Advisory Board 
member of the Financial Intelligence Unit. 

He holds an MBA in Finance, Bachelor of Commerce/ 
finance and is also an ACCA finalist.

Johan Debar holds a Master’s Degree in Applied 
Economics and another MA in Economics with 
Majors in International economics, econometrics, 
development economics.
He joins the BoD team with a rich experience spanning 
over 35 years in international cooperation and 
development economics.

Since 1998, he has been serving with the Belgium’s 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Foreign Trade and 
Development Cooperation in several functions including 
Deputy Director General Development Cooperation 
(2014-2016), Permanent Mission of Belgium to the EU 
(2011-2014), Deputy Director Cabinet of the Minister 
of Development Cooperation (2008-2011), Research 
department Directorate General development 
cooperation (2004-2008), and the Permanent Mission 
of Belgium to the United Nations (1998-2004) among 
others.

He also previously worked in Rwanda as Economist in 
the Embassy of Belgium to Rwanda (1989-1992).

Mr. Debar has since September 2016 returned to 
Rwanda, serving at Embassy of Belgium to Rwanda in 
the capacity of Minister Counselor.



34 35

Cyrille is currently the Advisor to the Minister 
of State in charge of Economic Planning at the 
Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning since
November 2014. 
Prior to that, he served as the Director of 
Government Portfolio Management Unit at the 
Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning where 
his core responsibilities fall under promoting best 
practices in good Governance, risk and financial 
management among public enterprises and 
coordinating all Government Investments within 
Government Business Enterprises.

Cyrille has a wealth of knowledge and experience 
in Planning, Audit and control, Management of 
Public Finance and enforcing compliance with 
policy guidelines on management of Government 
Business Enterprises. He holds a Master’s degree 
in Financial Management.

Cyrille Hategekimana
B O A R D  M E M B E R

Eric G. Kwizera
B O A R D  M E M B E R

Mr. Eric Gasana is Masters degree holder in 
Business Administration, Banking and Financial 
industry from the University of Bologna, Italy. 

He is equipped with a vast experience of 11 years, 
serving in different leadership positions at the 
Rwanda Social Security Board. 

Eric stood out among his peers through his 
deep expertise in Asset management, Financial 
Analysis, Financial Management, Equity Analysis, 
Credit Assessment & Analysis as well as the 
Strategic Planning and Risk Management to 
name but a few.

Patrick Mwesige is equipped with knowledge 
and expertise spanning over 15 years in varied 
sectors including Energy, Public Investments 
and PPPs for Infrastructure, Utilities Regulation 
and Strategy, Project Management and Project 
Finance Modeling among others.   

Mr. Mwesige is a Fellow of the Chartered 
Association of Certified Accountants and holds 
an MBA from the of Durham University Business 
School along with a special honors award as a 
certified PPP Specialist from the Institute of 
Public Private Partnerships (IP3) in the USA. 

He is also a Member of the Chartered Association 
of Certified Accountants – UK, and also a member 
of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
Uganda (ICPAU).

Mr. Mwesige is currently the Project Manager 
for the RESSP Project of the Energy Utility 
Corporation Limited (EUCL).

Patrick Mwesige
B O A R D  M E M B E R
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IN AFRICA TODAY, WE RECOGNISE THAT 
TRADE AND INVESTMENT, AND NOT AID, 
ARE PILLARS OF DEVELOPMENT. 

 H.E PAUL KAGAME
PRESIDENT OF THE REPUBLIC OF RWANDA
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

STANDING LEFT – RIGHT: 

Bosco Mkombozi Karake (Ag. Chief Finance Officer), Peter Rwambala (Chief Risk Officer), Loyce K. Bamwine (Company Secretary & General Counsel), 
Benjamin G. Nyakeriga (Chief Development Officer), Odeth Mbabazi (Chief Human Capital & Admin. Services)

SITTING LEFT – RIGHT: 

Eric Rutabana (Chief Executive Officer), Dr. Livingstone Byamungu (Chief Investment Officer), Jean D’amour Dufatanye (Ag. Chief Internal Auditor)
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE
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FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE 
The Bank’s profitability has significantly reduced 
(by 638%) falling from a Profit/TCI of Rwf 3.6 
billion in 2016 to close at a loss of Rwf 19.5 billion. 
Key factors include deteriorated operational 
performance and also increase in provisions for 
long outstanding assets and receivables. 

Operating income after impairment charges 
for the year decreased by 170% to a loss of Frw 
6.8 billion (2016: Income of Frw 9.7 billion). Net 
Interest income decreased by 5% to Frw 9.6 billion 
(2016: Frw10.1 billion), whilst FX losses decreased 
by 64% as a result of a relatively stable local 
currency during the year as opposed to 2016. The 
return on average equity declined to -35% (2016: 
6%), while return on average total assets declined 
to -7% (2016: 2%).

NET INTEREST INCOME
The deterioration in net interest income was 
mainly due to increase in interest expense as a 
result of increased borrowings partially offset 
by an increase in interest income as a result of 

the growing loan book. Interest income earned in 
2017 was 20.7billion compared Frw 19.5 billion 
(increase of 7%). Interest expense in 2017 was Frw 
11.1 billion compared to Frw 9.4 billion (increase 
of 19%). Hence, net interest income reduced as 
interest expense outgrew interest income and the 
net interest margin reduced to 6% from 7%.

IMPAIRMENTS
Impairments for the year increased from Frw 
1.5 billion to Frw 12.6 billion (increase of 738%) 
mainly due to deterioration of loan book quality 
A deliberate effort to clean up the loan book has 
led to significant impairment provisions of Frw 4.8 
billion and written off loans amounting to Frw 8.5 
billion. 
LOSSES ON EQUITY INVESTMENTS
The bank’s equity investments were assessed for 
impairments and this led to booking impairments 
of Frw 2.7 billion reported in P&L and Frw 3.1 
billion reported in Other Comprehensive Income. 
Equity investments reduced by 19% as a result of 
impairments recognized.

TOTAL ASSETS 
Total Assets shrank by 3% year on year by closing 
at Frw 216.1 billion (Frw 223.7 billion). The 
reduction was mainly due to impairment losses on 
various equity investments of the bank, fair value 
losses on investment properties and provisions 
for long outstanding receivables of the bank.

F I N A N C I A L  P E R F O R M A N C E

RWF 20.0

RWF 10.0

RWF 0.0

RWF 10.0

RWF 20.0

RWF 30.0

Total comprehensive income (Frw’bn) 

Net interest income (Frw’bn)

loan impairments (Frw’bn)

2017

10.1 9.6

3.6

19.5

1.5

12.6

2016

T O T A L  A S S E T S

RWF 225

RWF 220

RWF 215

RWF 210

20172016

223.7

216.1

LOANS AND ADVANCES
Net Loans and advances grew by 2% year on 
year basis to report an absolute increase of Frw 
3.4 billion. The growth of the loan book is due 
to resources investments in new loans during 
the year estimated at Frw 24.9 billion in form 
of disbursements to various projects. However, 
this increase was netted off by usual collections, 
increased provisions and loans written off during 
the year ended.

The quality of the loan book deteriorated during 
the year with the non-performing loans to gross 
loans ratio (NPL Ratio) closing at 16.34% from 
9.41%. The Bank will endeavor to improve the 
quality of its loan portfolio and collecting funds 
into the NPL and written off books over the 
course of next year.

L O A N S  &  A D V A N C E S

RWF 156

RWF 154

RWF 152

RWF 150

20172016

151.9

155.3

BORROWINGS
Borrowings have mainly increased by 14% from 
Frw 130 billion as at 31 December 2016 to Frw 
149 billion as at 31 December 2017 mainly due to 
new borrowings that came in during the period.

EQUITY
Equity has reduced by 34% from Frw 57.4billion 
as at 31 December 2016 to Frw 37.8 billion as at 
31 December 2017 mainly as a result of the loss 
reported for the year. The debt-to-equity ratio has 
increased from 2.3 to 3.9 during the year.
Shareholders of the bank have committed 
to recapitalize the bank in the first quarter of 
2018. This will withstand the reduction in Equity 
due to reported losses and will increase the 
regulatory capital to enable the bank continue its 
development financing role in the economy.

OTHER SIGNIFICANT ITEMS
The auditor’s report outlines certain key audit 
matters to assist users of the Annual Financial 
Statements in their understanding of the 
statements. Note that these items are not 
cause for concern but rather an indication of 
importance.
The Development Bank of Rwanda will implement 
IFRS 9: Financial instruments with effect from 
1 January 2018. The Bank has disclosed the 
impact of this new accounting standard in its 
financial statements.

OUTLOOK 
The Development Bank of Rwanda Plc remains 
carefully optimistic about the financial prospects 
of the coming year. After the clean-up of the loan 
book in the previous year, we have established a 
healthy loan book to drive net interest income, 
our main source of income. We believe there is a 
substantial pipeline of opportunities in all of the 
sectors and a need for infrastructure investment, 
which will drive disbursements. We expect to 
start seeing the results of the updated strategy in 
the coming year. Financial sustainability remains 
a key strategic imperative and we will continue to 
focus on net interest margin, cost containment, 
balance sheet strengthening, foreign exchange 
management, as well as liquidity management.
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RISK MANAGEMENT 
OVERVIEW 

C H A I R M A N ’ S  S T A T E M E N T

RISK 
MITIGATION

RISK ACCEPTANCE & 
MONITORING / AVOIDANCE 

OUR PROCESS

ORGANISATIONAL 
OBJECTIVES

RISK 
IDENTIFICATION

RISK 
EVALUATION

1 2

4

5

3

The Development Bank of Rwanda’s anticipation and 
response to risks and opportunities is an integral part 
of achieving on our strategic mandate and ensuring 
that we deliver on it. BRD’s Board of Directors are 
responsible for the effective management of risks 
and reviews and approves on a regular basis the Risk 
Management Framework covering Credit, Operational, 
Compliance and Asset & Liability Management policies 
and procedures used to manage risk exposures of 
the bank. This is to ensure   that BRD pro-actively 
manages the risks inherent in its strategy, operations 
and business, and that the management of risks is 
embedded into the mainstream planning, business 
and decision-making processes.

BRD’s Risks are managed in nine risk categories;

The eight risk categories are managed under 4 units 
which are: Credit unit, Operational unit, Compliance, 
Asset & Liability & social and environmental risks

1. EFFECTIVE CREDIT RISK 
MANAGEMENT
 
Credit risk refers to the risk or a potential for loss if 
a borrower or a counterparty to a transaction fails to 
meet its obligations on agreed terms and conditions 
of financial contracts. Credit risk is the main risk that 
BRD is faced.

Credit Risk, the Unit aims at minimizing risks involved 
in projects to be financed or already financed by 
finding mitigation measures in order to have a healthy 
portfolio. 

In 2017, the Credit Risk Unit assessed 35 files worth 
RwF 20 billion and reviewed also the restructuring for 
the existing projects in the loan book. The staff in Credit 
Risk Unit has benefited from trainings to empower 
them in various areas of the Bank’s intervention, such 
as energy financing, project finance and agriculture 
risk management. 
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The Credit Risk Management Unit also has the 
role of reporting to the Board Risk Committee the 
Bank’s portfolio to prevent undue concentration by 
maintaining a diversified and healthy portfolio. In 2017, 
quarterly reports were produced and presented to the 
Management and Board Risk Committees. 

2.EFFICIENT MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT (Interest 
rate risk, Foreign Exchange risk)

Market risk is the potential for loss resulting from 
adverse movement in market risk factors such as 
interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices 
for BRD.

In 2017, BRD was exposed to market risk given the 
volatile uncertain interest and exchange rates.
On the market risks, BRD policies put in place prudent 
and precise limits for currency and interest rate risk.

The general principle to mitigate the currency risk is 
to match the currency profile of the Bank’s net assets 
(i.e the difference between assets and liabilities 
denominated in the same currencies) so that the 
fluctuations in market exchange rates would have a 
perfectly off-setting effects.

On interest rate risk, the primary strategy for the 
management of interest rate risk is to match the 
interest rate sensitivity of both sides of the balance 
sheet. More specifically group of assets are funded 
with liabilities having the same characteristics in 
terms of interest rate (fixed or floating), currency and 
maturity. This creates a natural offsetting mechanism 
to immunize the balance sheet.

In that regard, since end 2014, the Bank started using 
currency swaps and loans in foreign currency have 
been granted to eligible clients.
However, in addition to the above strategies, the bank 
plans to mobilize funds in the local currency.
In order to reduce the sensitivity of the Bank’s returns 
to changes in market interest rates, BRD intends to 
start using non-deliverable swaps for interest rate 

risk management and in addition to this, the bank will 
implement the approved policy of lending at a floating 
interest rate.

3. LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT

Liquidity risk is the current or prospective risk to 
earnings and capital arising from a bank’s inability to 
meet its liabilities when they fall due without incurring 
unacceptable losses.  
Liquidity and increase in funding costs concerns have 
affected the Bank as it takes a relatively long time to 
mobilize external funding resources given its financial 
commitments.

On the liquidity risk, the Bank will continue to use 
a match-funding approach by funding loans with 
liabilities having broadly the same characteristics in 
terms of interest rate, currency and tenor. 

This will minimize the effects of changes in interest 
rates, currency rates on market-funded assets.
In addition, the Bank has adopted to hold in the form 
of liquid assets a certain percentage of the moving 
average of some past years expected disbursements 
while also the Bank is waiting for an injection of 
additional capital from the Shareholders. Efforts are 
being made to mobilize funds from different financial 
institutions.

The Asset and Liability Management function in 
the Risk Division has responsibilities to analyze and 
manage market, liquidity so as to obtain the strongest 
protection for its assets, its financial results and 
consequently its capital.

The Asset and Liability Management also covered 
the design of analytical tools for the identification 
and quantification of the bank exposures to market 
(Interest Rate risk and Foreign exchange risks). The 
tools provided both a static assessment of balance 
sheet risks but also a forward visibility on market and 
liquidity risks over the business planning period.

4. STRATEGIC RISK MANAGEMENT 

The possibility that unforeseen opportunities or threats 
may hinder BRD’s strategy ineffective or 
uncompetitive or that events or circumstances 
may occur which could hinder the ability of BRD to 
implement its strategy and successfully deliver on its 
strategic mandate.

5. FOSTERING COMPLIANCE 

Compliance risk is defined as the risk of legal 
or regulatory sanctions, financial loss, or loss of 
reputation a bank may suffer as result of its failure to 
comply with all applicable laws, regulations, directives, 
code of conduct and standards of good practice.
The compliance function manages risk through the 
following activities:

Identification of laws, regulations, 
Directives, policy and procedures where 
non-compliance could lead to significant 
negative effect to the Bank’s assets;

Advising and supporting Management 
concerning the adherence to laws 
regulations, Directives, policy and 
procedures as well as implementing 
effective procedures for compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations, 
and the setup of effective controls; 

Monitoring the implementation of new 
regulations within the industry; 

Assessment of the implementation of 
existing laws, regulations and directives 
by the Bank 

Report to the Management and the 
Central Bank;

Ensure compliance to standards of the 

R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T

banking industry and internal policies 
and procedures.

During the year 2017, BRD continued to enhance the 
management of compliance risks as required the 
central bank regulations and international standards.

The compliance program for the year was approved 
and regular compliance reports were provided. Staff 
were trained on new regulations and advised on 
effective compliance with the existing regulations.
BRD is generally managing its compliance risk by 
complying to set regulations, rules, laws, directives 
and standards of good practice. To enhance 
compliance to the regulatory thresholds as well as 
address where potential risks of non-compliance were 
noted, recommendations were given and follow up of 
implementation was done. 

6. EFFECTIVE OPERATIONAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT

The Operational risk management function is 
responsible for the identification, assessment, control 
and monitoring of risks related to inadequate or failed 
processes, systems, people and external events. 
Based on the assessment of major risks involved in 
its new strategic plan approved in 2016, we continued 

monitoring and reporting the progress realized in the 
mitigation of identified risks through regular reports 
presented to both the Management and the Risk 
Committee of the Board on a quarterly basis. These 
reports emphasized on a detailed presentation of 
the Bank’s risk profile, with a focus to the key risks to 
which the Bank was exposed to with corresponding 
mitigation measures. 

Following the Bank’s decision to invest in appropriate 
risk infrastructure to improve on both the efficiency 
and effectiveness of risk assessment, monitoring 
and reporting processes, the unit played an active 
role in the monitoring of the development of the 
Facility Origination System (FOS) which shall integrate 
the credit flow processes from loan origination to 
disbursement. User acceptance testing and “Go-Live” 
of the platform is expected to be completed in the first 
half of 2018.
7. SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT 
REPORT
Project Financing

BRD finances socially and environmentally friendly 
projects, and work with clients to avoid or minimize 
negative social and environmental impacts of projects. 
In 2017, the projects that have been financed by BRD 
were assessed and classified into three categories: 
High Risk, Medium Risk and Low Risk.

3% of the investment projects have been classified 
under high risk category and these include modern 
markets and Airport.

BRD financed 21% projects Under the medium risk 
category, these are small scale projects without 
explosive or hazardous substances.

The remaining 76% investment projects are under the 
low risk category.

The following graph shows the distribution of the 
projects financed.
 

Project Monitoring

Projects were visited on a regular basis in 2017 and no 
incident was reported.
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The new Rwanda is about building 
an economy that delivers prosper-
ity and opportunity for our citizens 
based on a robust private sector. 

 H.E PAUL KAGAME
PRESIDENT OF THE REPUBLIC OF RWANDA

C H A I R M A N ’ S  S T A T E M E N T

Overview of our 2017 Corporate Social Investment/
Responsibility Report 

The Bank commits to voluntarily contribute to a 
better society and integrate corporate, social and 
environmental concerns in our business operations 
and in interaction with our stakeholders. The Bank’s 
approach to CSR is done through community – 
based development projects by giving aid to local 
organizations and disadvantaged communities in the 
country (donations) or by sponsoring events taking 
place within the country.

As we concluded the second year of implementation of 
the new strategy, the Bank continued to mainly focus 
on activities geared at ensuring that all stakeholders 
gain a common understanding of BRD’s brand 
repositioning. We believe that by getting involved 
in Corporate and Social activities, this presents an 
opportunity to propagate a clear communication of the 
bank’s new business model as a development finance 
institution. 

At BRD, we perceive CSI/CSR (Corporate Social 
Investment/Responsibility) as an area of management 
action which has developed in response to the changes 
and demands of society at large and involves business, 
government, and communities in the following areas: 

• Socio-economic, ethical and moral 
responsibilities of companies; 

• Compliance with legal and voluntary 
requirements for business and professional 
practice; with CSI/CSR, companies are able 
to enhance their ability to do business with 
government and others by being ‘good’ 
corporate citizens; 

• The company and its employees; 

• The natural environment; 

• The challenges posed by the needs of the 
economic management of business activities. 

CORPORATE 
SOCIAL 
INVESTMENT/ 
RESPONSIBILITY

320 
FRIESIAN COWS

G I V E N  O U T

250
C H I C K E N
G I V E N  O U T

25
G O A T S
G I V E N  O U T
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Thus corporate social investment/responsibility 
encompasses our responsibility as a Bank to ensure 
we: 
• Deliver the right services and products to our 
customers (being customer centric); 
• Manage ourselves responsibly and to the advantage 
of our employees and society; 
• Contribute to sustainable development of the natural 
environment; 
• Contribute towards the development and uplifting of 
disadvantaged people; 

Given the CSI trends, we continue to recognise these 
areas as an important business consideration.

The Bank’s CSI Communication Strategy and 
programmes are expected to provide a return on 
investment (ROI) and also to contribute towards the 
Bank’s image in the marketplace objectives, as aligned 
to our mission and strategic objectives. 

Some of the activities invested in, form part of public 
relations and this provides a tremendous advantage. 
A new concept in this area that we focused on in 
our new strategy is GREEN Public Relations which is 
derived from the “green movement”, an ideology which 
seeks to minimize the effect of human activity on the 
environment. 

Through this concept, BRD intends to reaffirm our 
corporate social responsibility or environmentally 
friendly practices to the public and to this we expect, 
will ultimately produce increased brand awareness 
and improve the Bank’s reputation as environmentally 
friendly as we embrace environmental awareness.
The year ending 2017, saw BRD giving back over Two 
Hundred and Thirty-Eight Million (238,000,000 Rwf) 
through a comprehensive number of activities including 
community development, strategic support of women, 
youth and advocacy groups, government social 
development programs, partnering with conferences 
and events as well as sponsoring emerging sports 
activities among others. 

1. In an effort to celebrate Heroes day in February 2017, 
BRD sponsored the Heroes Day Tennis tournament 
which took place on 25th January to 1st February 
2017. This allowed the Bank to add to the voices that 
honor the liberators of our country as well as enabled 
the Bank’s brand visibility and networking among the 
corporate participants.

2. BRD contributed towards Girinka (one cow per 
family) initiative and purchased an estimated 320 
Friesian cows that were given to households in 
Rwanda and served over 1,600 beneficiaries. 

3. BRD also made a financial support to AGACIRO 
Development Fund, a government program designed 
to build up public savings to achieve self-reliance, 
maintain stability of the national economy and 
accelerate Rwanda’s socio-economic development 
goals. 

4. In March 2017, BRD extended a financial contribution 
to Foundation for Youth Future; a non-profit 
organization that was set up by retired RPF soldiers 
to support former RPF disabled war veterans and their 
families to improve their livelihoods. The contribution 
was particularly used to cater for 25 goats and 250 
chicken to start farm (livestock rearing) activities.
5. BRD also supported Rwanda Sports Awards; 
an annual event organized by East African Youth 
Development Agency that brings together different 
sports personalities and fans to celebrate, honor 
and appreciate men and women with exceptional 
achievements in the world of sports. We were part 
of those who honored these celebrated national flag 
bearers during a gala dinner on the June 30th 2017.

6. Through BRD’s green funding strategy, the bank 
made a financial contribution and participated in a 
tree planting initiative in partnership with a local NGO 
Compagnie Agricole, –this was used to plant five 
thousand nine hundred and eighty-eight trees (5,988) 
in Nyagatare district, Eastern Province.  

7. Among our priorities is to increase strategic 
partnerships. One of the undertaken activities each 
year is to participate in the International Annual Trade 
Fair organized by the Private Sector Federation in 
partnership with the Ministry of Trade and Industry. 
This event attracts many international and local 
exhibitors, offering an ideal platform and business 
window to manufacturers of goods and services hence 
targeting to bring new investments to the country. BRD 
emerged as the Best Exhibitor in the Financial Services 
Sector of the 2017 trade fair.

8. We were also privileged to be a co-sponsor of the 4th 
Edition of the SME & BANKING AFRICA FORUM jointly 
organized by the International Finance Corporation 
(IFC), the African Guarantee Fund, Afreximbank, 
AfricSearch among others. This opportunity presented 
a unique space dedicated to the growth of African 
SMEs. The forum was held on November 13 – 15, 
2017 at the Kigali Convention Center. 

RwF

238
MILLION
AMOUNT OF 
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BACK AS OF END 
OF 2017

C O R P O R A T E  S O C I A L  R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y

9. In forging more strategic partnerships, BRD also co-
sponsored the Sustainable Development Goals Center 
for Africa (SDGC/A) conference under the theme, 
“Mobilizing African Intellectuals Towards Quality 
Tertiary Education”, which took place on 5th – 6th July 
2017 at the Kigali Conference Center. The conference 
explored solutions and aimed at building consensual 
approaches on the major themes relevant to SDG 
implementation in tertiary education and research 
throughout Africa. 

The Bank was also the official partner of the Poultry 
Africa Rwanda Conference which took place on 
4th to 5th October 2017. Another summit, the Dot 
Finance Africa provided a perfect platform for BRD 
to position itself among the leading proponents of 
financial services innovation in Rwanda. Sponsoring 
this event highlighted the Bank’s commitment to 
promote Rwanda as the emerging hub of finance and 
ICT in Africa These conferences and others provided 
essential platforms in gathering policy makers, private 
sector and stakeholders to tackle challenges and map 
sustainable solutions for the future.

10. Another focus area in our CSI/R is on community 
development where priority is given to youth and women 
empowerment. History has shown that pressures from 
globalization, unprecedented education and business 
opportunities, leave young people with an identity 
crisis and a lack of role models. 

The Bank contributed towards the construction of 
a multi-purpose building (constructed by Anglican 
Church of Rwanda) that is expected to gather Youth 

and Women as well as the entire community. This 
platform will go a long way in availing resources and 
opportunities to set up sustainable youth and women 
initiatives that impact young people of all walks of 
life to contribute together to the social-economic 
development of the Rwandan community. 

The Anglican church in Rwanda is not only the Bank’s 
client, but it also has many members we consider as 
potential clients, hence partnering with them to align 
themselves with the Nation’s development agenda in 
terms of infrastructure/housing improvement. With 
the same focus, the Bank also financially supported 
the construction of the new cathedral of Kigali Diocese, 
Remera Parish.

11. Again in our emerging sports sponsorships and 
employee wellness benefits, the Bank has invested 
in Staff wellbeing and ensures a healthy workforce 
through encouraging sports activities and participating 
in sports events. BRD partnered with the Rwanda Golf 
Union, and sponsored the 2017 Rwanda golf open 
which took place on 15 to 18 November. Our staff also 
became members and we are pleased to see some 
of them becoming golfers. It has also presented an 
opportunity for interaction and networking within the 
corporate audience and participants at the Golf Club.

12. BRD maintains a high consideration to health 
and wellness not only for our Staff but for the entire 
populace, hence we could not miss out to partner and 
participate in raising awareness on the deadly risks 
and the fight against breast cancer in Rwanda. The 
Ulinzi dinner & walk is an annual programme organised 
by Breast Cancer initiative East Africa (BCIEA).  

Going forward in 2018

As we celebrate 50 years of existence, we intend 
to sustain more communication activities that will 
increase brand awareness and brand development as 
part of the jubilee and most importantly in line with the 
bank’s renewed mandate.
Communicating and reflecting the development, socio-
economic and environmental impact of the banks 
activities to our stakeholders will be a key focus of our 
activities. 

We will maintain CSI in itself and uphold funding of, and 
involvement in socio-economic uplifting while usually 
concentrating on the following areas of involvement, 
aligned to our line of business: 
• Education; 
• Housing; 
• Health; 
• Welfare; 
• Job creation; 
• Community development and empowerment; 
• Small business development; 
• Arts and culture; 
• Environment conservation; 
• Rural development. 
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BRD participated in the International Annual Trade Fair organized by the Private Sector 
Federation in partnership with the Ministry of Trade and Industry (MINICOM).
BRD emerged as the Best Exhibitor in the Financial Services Sector of the 2017 trade fair.

BRD participated in the International Annual Trade Fair organized by the Private 
Sector Federation in partnership with the Ministry of Trade and Industry (MINICOM).

BRD has invested in Staff wellbeing and ensures a healthy workforce through 
encouraging sports activities and participating in sports events. 
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BRD annually honors its fallen former Staff and Clients, victims of the 1994 Genocide 
agains Tutsi

T he bank also participated in raising awareness on the deadly risks and the fight against breast cancer in Rwanda. The Ulinzi dinner & walk is an annual programme organised by Breast Cancer initiative East Africa (BCIEA).  

The Bank supported survivors of the 1994 Genocide against Tutsi through roofing 22 houses in Kirehe District
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C H A I R M A N ’ S  S T A T E M E N T

Access to finance is very crucial to the emergence and 
growth of private sector investments into the priority 
sectors of the Rwandan economy. Incorporated in 
1967, the Development Bank of Rwanda (BRD) has 
been consistently dedicated to providing financing 
in form of debt (loan capital) and equity to viable 
economic development projects particularly those 
identified under the priority sectors in the national 
development programs – the Second Economic 
Development and Poverty Reduction Strategy (EDPRS 
2) and Vision 2020 – with the overall mandate of job 
creation, poverty reduction and overall socioeconomic 
development.

The consistent rapid growth registered over the 
50-years is anchored on the bank’s robust level of 
liquidity and profitability as well as compliance with 
industry best practices – including good corporate 
governance, financial and prudential standards – 
under guidance by the National Bank of Rwanda.

Significant development impact has been noted 
through increased employment opportunities, tax 
revenues, reducing the trade deficit, electricity access, 
development of secondary cities, empowerment of 
women and youth, and promotion of financial inclusion 
through refinancing MFIs and SACCOs.

To mark 50-years of existence, this document explores 
the key phases that defined BRD’s five decades journey 
of financing projects that have greatly contributed to 
enormous socioeconomic development of Rwanda.

• 1968 – 1987: Establishment and 
    development phase 

During the years 1968 to 1970, the Bank was 
being established and no projects were financed.

In the four years that followed, the Bank recorded 
major loans on vehicles (pick-ups) and grinding 
mills. The financing of the vehicles extended 
all over the country and marked a crucial step 
towards improving accessibility of goods in the 
country.

Strong economic growth, and especially 
a significant increase in private sector 
investment, is the only sustainable path 
forward for Rwanda.

H.E PAUL KAGAME
PRESIDENT OF THE REPUBLIC OF RWANDA

PROVIDING FINANCING
FOR DEVELOPMENT 
SINCE 1967
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Effectively from 1974, the bank embarked on 
aggressive financing of different sectors of the 
economy. By the end of the 20 years of operations, 
BRD had registered the following 
milestones:

• An amount of loans totaling Rwf6.6 
billion had been extended to 501 
operations

• An amount of Rwf 317 million had 
been invested in equity shares with 23 
companies

• An amount totaling to Rwf 6.3 billion 
in loans was extended to 478 borrowers

• This meant an investment impact of 
about Rwf12.6 billion with a creation 
of employment opportunities for 8,400 
people and cumulative added value of 
Rwf25.2 billion

• The bank had financed about 80% 
of the country’s medium and long-
term loan portfolio in the productive 
ventures.

• 1988 – 1994: Maturity phase

BRD clocked 27 years of existence during this phase 
and had registered loan disbursements 
totaling:.

• Rwf4.6 billion in 873 lines of credit;

• Rwf 84.5 million in equity shares in 7 
productive ventures. 
• These investments generated an 
investment volume of Rwf15.7 billion 
with a creation of employment for 
9,094 people, and value added to the 
economy of Rwf 8.5 billion.

• These loans supported priority areas 

including Agro-industries mainly the 
sectors of tea and manufacturing, 
enabled by low cost financial resources 
available to small and medium scale 
enterprises in agribusiness; artisans 
and micro- projects.

Unfortunately, the 1994 Genocide against the Tutsi 
and the liberation war greatly affected the bank’s 
operations as several staff and clients of the bank lost 
their lives.

• 1995 – 2000: Post-Genocide phase

The events of the 1994 Genocide against the Tutsi led to 
catastrophic results that followed. The bank continues 
to shoulder a burden of more than 50% of its portfolio 
constituting non-performing loans consequential from 
the 1994 genocide.

The post-genocide phase marked 33-years of BRD’s 
existence, and the bank had posted positive
trends by the end of the 20th century:

• An amount of loans totaling Rwf6.8 
billion was extended to support 115 
operations

• An amount of Rwf 6.7 billion in 112 
lines of credit

• Over Rwf 156.4 million in equity shares 
in 3 productive ventures – the loans 
were mainly invested in modernization 
and rehabilitation of ventures to the 
tune of Rwf13.4 billion, creating an 
employment of 8,923 people and an 
added value to the economy of about 
Rwf8 billion. 

Since the liberation war paralyzed the rural areas, 
the bank’s revitalization activities after 1994 mainly 
concentrated on the secondary and tertiary sectors 
based in the Capital City (Kigali). Essentially, this period 
was a reorganization and consolidation phase.
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• 2000 – 2009: Growth and Innovation phase

This phase ensued from the necessity for the Bank to 
contribute to the recapitalization and the monetization 
of the rural areas where more than 90% of the 
population lived and practiced agriculture as the main 
economic activity. 

More so, the need to increase exports to enable 
the country withstand challenges of the Rwandan 
Economy imposed by the needs of fast and long-
lasting growth to fight poverty. 

To enhance the Bank mission of development, in 
2005 the Government of Rwanda mandated BRD 
with a mission to become the “Financier” of Rwanda’s 
development. Since then BRD has been transforming 
itself to be able to play its crucial role in Rwanda’s 
development. 

The bank’s comprehensive strategic operating plan 
(2005-2009) sought to consolidate and fast-track its 
mission as the ‘most profitable bank at the service of 
poverty reduction’. This crucial role involved a more 
aggressive approach in the research for the profitable 
projects and in the creation of new instruments of 
financing which can serve large number of Rwandans. 

To do that, the Bank created two additional instruments 
to diversify its activities and generate products 
necessary to balance the level of its profitability. These 
new products concerned:

During this period, the bank focused on financing the 
productive sectors of the economy – such as the tea, 
coffee and pyrethrum – that would enable the relaunch 
of the exports sector essential in attracting foreign 
exchange revenues into the country. 

Several coffee and tea cooperatives across the country 
received loan financing to expand their plantations and 
build washing stations for value addition and quality 
assurance of the agricultural produce.
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two subsidiary companies – BRD Advisory Services 
(BAS) and Business Development Fund (BDF) – to offer 
advisory services and Fund management services 
respectively. 
This was in a bid to enhance sustained momentum of 
SME development and compliment the bank’s mandate 
of financing the country’s development through direct 
investments. Additionally, this was to enable the bank 
to diversify its portfolio by financing real estate and 
developing trade finance facilities.

To provide exceptional customer care and efficiently 
serve its growing portfolio across the country, BRD set 
up and opened four branches – including in Kayonza 
(Eastern Province), Musanze (Northern Province), 
Karongi (Western Province), and Huye (Southern 
Province) – to easily identify viable projects and boost 
financial inclusion in Rwanda.

• Consolidated overview of sector-specific 
development impact
With the completion of its strategic plan (2011 – 
2015), BRD reorganized and refocused its mandate as 
a typical development finance institution all guided by 
the new strategic plan 2016 – 2020. The expanded and 
refocused mandate of the bank is to mainly provide 
financing to priority sectors including energy, housing, 
education, agriculture, exports as well as special 
projects and infrastructure.

In charting BRD’s 50-years, the bank registered strong 
financial growth with significant trends realized over 
the past 5 years where currently the Bank’s loan book is 
at Rwf155.4 billion; the total assets grew to Rwf 216.1 
billion; and the loan portfolio currently consists of 597 
projects that fall under the key sectors of the economy.

From 2013 to 2017, the Bank has maintained its position 
as the leading long-term lender by realizing investment 
approvals amounting to over Rwf 283.2 billion into the 
Rwandan economy benefiting the priority sectors of 
Agriculture, Energy, Exports, Education, Housing, and 
social infrastructure development.

• A Microfinance Department and a 
Leasing Unit (opened in 2002 and 2007 
respectively)

• In its 5-year strategic plan, BRD 
planned to inject Rwf132 billion into 
the Rwandan economy between the 
year 2005 to 2009; and attain a total 
loan portfolio growth of Rwf 74 billion 
by 2009.

• 2010 – 2014: Sustaining growth and Innovation 
phase
As the Government of Rwanda’s investment arm, 
BRD’s financial development objectives focused 
on the priority sectors of the economy as set out in 
EDPRS I and Vision 2020. The bank positioned itself 
to become the first-stop for all long-term investments 
into Rwanda’s key sectors; and to be the prime driver 
of viable private sector investments. Indeed, the 
bank had undoubtedly become the main financier of 
medium and long-term investments with an estimated 
market share of 40%. 

This was anchored on its stellar record in honoring 
credit lines from development partners and lenders, 
and in financing high risk sectors, and a strong debut 
in microfinance.

A review of its operational plans for the year 2010 to 
2014, BRD planned to inject Rwf 160 billion into the 
Rwandan economy, and ultimately grow its portfolio 
from Rwf 36.1 billion in 2009 to over Rwf 178 billion 
in 2014. The bulk of these resources were focused on 
stimulating economic growth, accelerating Rwanda’s 
development agenda and reducing poverty. 

This investment was expected to contribute towards 
attaining huge development impact through creation 
of nearly 150.000 jobs which would impact livelihoods 
of more than one million people.

During this phase, BRD re-affirmed its triple role of 
being “a Financier, Advisor and Partner” by setting up 

B R D ’ S  5 0  Y E A R  I M P A C T  O N  D E V E L O P M E N T  R E P O R T

The Bank been at the forefront of financing investment 
projects that have contributed to the national economy 
and the local community through the financed 
investment projects in different sectors. 

These investments have resulted in massive 
development impact generated including creation 
of employment, upsurge in tax revenues, availing 
affordable housing solutions, improved literacy and 
quality of education, increased export revenues, and 
increased agriculture modernization.  

 
FINANCING HOUSING SECTOR TO DELIVER 
DECENT AFFORDABLE HOMES
A housing study undertaken by the City of Kigali in 
2012 showed that Rwanda needs more than 344,068 
housing units by 2020 (that is more than 35,000 
housing units to be constructed on average every year) 
to meet the growing demand for decent and affordable 
housing. 

BRD continues to support government’s efforts 
to provide enough affordable and decent housing 
to its populace by financing several large housing 
developments in partnership with the private sector in 
the City of Kigali and the other six secondary cities.

Over the past decade, BRD injected financing 
amounting to Rwf 3.7 billion to facilitate real estate 
developers and housing cooperatives to construct 
over 163 housing units. 
However, it is important to note that over the past 
7-year period, the Bank acquired the former Housing 
Bank of Rwanda (Banque de l’Habitat) which had a 
mortgage portfolio amounting to Rwf 8.7 billion. 
This enabled BRD to launch into the retail banking 
segment by availing individual mortgage loans which 
grew up to almost Rwf 10 billion portfolio hence 
enabling individuals to own an estimated 400 housing 
units (residential houses). Most of the projects were 
later sold as part of the commercial banking portfolio 
that was acquired by Atlas Mara Co-Nvest in 2015.

In its current strategy 2016-2020, the bank is working 
to promote affordable housing basing on two-twin 
pillars of “mortgage finance and production of bankable 
housing” through focusing on both short, medium 
and longer-term market interventions to address 
challenges around housing finance in Rwanda.

Over the next 10-years period, BRD projects to invest a 
total of $297.4 million – at an annual average amount 
of $ 29.7 million – in the housing sector to deliver a 
total of 6,000 homes. More specifically funding will be 
channeled towards – 

(1) construction financing: $86 million that will be used 
to catalyze $258 million of investments; 

(2) end-user financing: $211 million – to be channeled 
towards provision of affordable long-term funds both 
for scaling-up mortgage lending and setting-up a rent-
to-own housing scheme. 

INCREASED ACCESS TO RELIABLE AND 
AFFORDABLE ENERGY

In consideration of the last decade, BRD was committed 
to supporting investments in energy which is essential 
for Rwanda’s efforts to attract foreign investments as 
well as spur private sector growth. 
Our mini-survey indicates that the bank injected over 
32.1 billion Rwandan francs in 8 energy projects 
(including hydro-power, bio mass, peat fired, and 
methane gas fired plants) which has increased access 
to reliable, affordable and clean energy in the country.

An analysis of the 8 energy projects indicates that 
a total of 93.4 megawatts has been generated and 
connected to the national grid enabling over 747,430 
households to access electricity. In addition, these 
projects have contributed to the creation of over 18 
small and medium enterprises (SMEs), creation of 
1,854 employment opportunities (both permanent 
and temporary) with beneficiaries including youths 
and women, and increasing national confers through 
tax revenues amounting to Rwf 1.6 billion collected 
annually.
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In its strategy 2016-2020, BRD is committed to 
continue supporting the Government’s targets for 
electricity access to all Rwandans by investing over 
USD 185 million in the Energy sector through use 
of syndicated loans and co-financing to catalyze 
investments from other development partners. 

This will be possible through three main programs 

-Energy generation, 
Energy efficiency and Technical assistance – which 
are interventions designed to address key constraints 
in the sector such as high startup costs and risks 
involved since energy projects require significant time 
and financial investments and their long-term nature 
requires specialized financing terms.

FOSTERING PROVISION OF QUALITY EDUCATION 
FOR SKILLS DEVELOPMENT 

BRD has played an important role in increasing 
access and improving quality of both basic and 
tertiary education. This has been achieved through 
investments in Education projects that initiate 
programs which include early childhood development, 
primary and secondary education, and promotion of 
Technical Vocational Education and Training (TVETs). 

With these interventions, the bank has laid strong 
foundations for improvements in literacy, numeracy 
and child development needed to ensure better quality 
students for secondary and tertiary levels of education, 
and skills development for the labour market in 
Rwanda.

With emphasis on the past decade, BRD invested 
over 6.1 billion Rwandan francs to facilitate extension 
of infrastructure and other activities for projects in 
education sector – with key beneficiaries including 
Green Hills Academy, Kigali Parents School, Good 
Harvest Primary School, UNILAK, amongst many.  
These interventions in the sector jointly contributed 
towards many achievements as shown on the left.

It is evident that BRD has played a crucial role in 
the provision of adequate classroom infrastructure, 
improved nutrition and hygiene, availability of well-
equipped laboratories necessary for practical 
scientific research, and boosted uptake of information 
communications technology (ICT) in the national 
curriculum by supporting production of Made in 
Rwanda laptops. 

In September 2015, BRD entered into an agreement with 
the Ministry of Education to undertake key functions 
of the efficient management of disbursements and 
recoveries of student loans.  This is coupled with the 
bank’s establishment of an education savings scheme 
and financing investments in education infrastructure. 

In only the past 2-years, BRD has since registered key 
milestones through improvement in students’ welfare 
through timely disbursement of bursaries; increased 
number of student loan beneficiaries studying both 
locally and abroad; and tremendous growth in recovery 
of student loans extended to past beneficiaries working 
in various sectors in Rwanda and abroad. 

These successes have been possible through 
combined efforts and consistent support from key 
partners such as Ministry of Finance and Economic 
Planning (MINECOFIN), Rwanda Social Security Board 
(RSSB), Rwanda Education Board (REB), students’ 
population and entire community of employers in both 
public and private sectors.

BOOSTING AGRO-PROCESSING AND EXPORT 
PROMOTION 

Under the industries and services sector, BRD’s 
financing seeks to enhance the growth of industries 
to augment production for exports to generate foreign 
exchange, improve the country’s balance of payment, 
and stimulate job creation.  The bank has significantly 
contributed to better service delivery through 
increasing supply of quality accommodation (booming 
hotel construction) and setting up of service centered 
business. 
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The EDPRS 2 indicates that export growth targets 
should grow by 28%, BRD plays an instrumental role in 
catalysing private investment that will enable Rwanda 
to reach its exports targets. 

Specifically, in the past five years, BRD invested over 
51.4 billion Rwandan francs to support export-oriented 
projects – such as Trust Industries, East African 
Granite Industries, Inyange Industries, SteelRwa, 
Pasta Rwanda Ltd, Bella Flowers, among others – that 
significantly contributed to generation of annual export 
revenues amounting to 17.1 billion Rwandan francs. 

Furthermore, these projects contributed 6.8 billion 
Rwandan francs in annual taxes to the national confers, 
created 22,434 employment opportunities (both 
permanent and temporary jobs), and construction of 
more than 200 additional hotel rooms.

Last year 2017, BRD financing contributed to the 
completion of major projects in that boosted tourism 
in secondary cities – these projects include EPIC City 
Blue Hotel in Nyagatare, and Kivu Marina Hotel in 
Rusizi district. 

BRD also finances several small-holder farmers 
grouped under cooperatives mainly in coffee and tea 
farming that have largely benefited from the annual 
coffee campaign. One of the key beneficiary is a coffee 
cooperative – Abakundakawa ba RUSHASHI – which 
grows and processes cherries into fully-washed coffee, 
and later green coffee for export. With support from 
BRD, the 1,962-member cooperative has registered 
consistent increase in production resulting in Rwf 630 
million annual export revenues through key export 
destination in Holland, United Kingdom, and the United 
States of America.

The sector recently received further boost with the roll 
out of the Export Growth Facility (EGF) - which is jointly 
supported by KfW and Ministry of Trade and Industry 
(MINICOM) – aimed facilitating export-oriented 
SMEs to access finance through interest subsidies, 

grants and credit insurance facilities. The EGF facility 
is designed as a single facility with three separate 
windows, an investment catalyst fund, matching grant 
fund for market entry related costs, and an export 
guarantee facility. 

FINANCING SPECIAL INFRASTUCTURE 
PROJECTS BRIDGING DEVELOPMENT GAP

Leveraging on the public-private partnerships, 
BRD extends financing support towards large 
strategic projects that enhance rapid infrastructural 
development essential in accelerating economic 
transformation for Rwandans.

The bank is actively committed to financing 
construction of hospitals, clinics, and acquisition of 
high-tech equipment that is much required to enhance 
availability of affordable and quality health care 
services in the country.

To support government efforts to encourage pooling 
of resources and investments through cooperatives, 
BRD is the leading financier of group investments 
particularly in construction of modern community 
markets, commercial buildings, and other facilities that 
improve the business working environment to abide 
by the requirements of the various provincial master 
plans.

Focusing on the past 5 years, BRD financed special 
infrastructure developments to a tune of 39.2 billion 
Rwandan francs which contributed to payment of over 
one billion Rwandan francs in annual taxes, creation 
of over 9,994 employment opportunities (combined 
permanent and temporary jobs), and led to creation of 
over 359 small and medium enterprises (SMEs).
Last year 2017, the bank facilitated in completion 
of major commercial complexes such as Muhima 
Investment Company (MIC) and INKUNDAMAHORO 
cooperative; and AFRIPRECAST, Bugesera International 
Airport, amongst others. 
In addition, the bank has boosted project promoters 
who would otherwise be excluded from access to 
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finance due to insufficient collaterals by linking them 
to guarantee facilities such as Fonds de Solidarite 
Africain (FSA), African Guarantee Fund (AGF), and 
Business Development Fund (BDF).  

EQUITY INVESTMENTS IN VIABLE STARTUPS

BRD provides financing in form of equity in exceptional 
cases where a project is assessed to have a significant 
impact on the community and its development 
but where the equity participation is necessary for 
improving the capital structure of the company or 
where the sponsors are unable to raise additional equity 
to enable the borrower to operate on a commercially 
sound footing. Usually these are companies, which 
have substantial development impact but whose cash 
flows cannot support continuous repayments for long 
term loans.
In this context, the bank has injected equity investments 
amounting to over Rwf 30.4 billion Rwandan francs in 
30 local companies in its portfolio. These companies 
operate across the key sectors of the economy, and 
notable amongst these include MAGERWA, MINIMEX, 
Rwanda Free Trade Zone Co. Ltd, Trust Industries Ltd, 
Rugarama Park Estates, Kivu Marina Bay Hotel, Kinazi 
Cassava Plant, among others.
CONCLUSION

In its recently expanded and refocused strategy 2016-
2020, BRD projects to invest a total of USD 712 million 
in the economy to trigger at least USD 1.6 billion worth 
of returns into the economy and create over 180,000 
jobs. 

This strategy is underpinned by four strategic themes 
– focused investments and growth; creation of strong 
partnerships; maximization of the development 
impact; and strong resource mobilization.  

The bank is committed to its role of supporting the 
national development agenda by providing long-term 
financing in support of strategic sectors with high 
socio-economic impact such as agriculture, education, 
exports, energy, affordable housing as well as 

infrastructure development through collaboration with 
key stakeholders (our esteemed customers, policy 
makers, and lenders).
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Sekimondo Vincent is a private real estate developer who has constructed over 140 housing units in 
Kigali which contributed to meeting the huge housing demand. This project has provided employment 
opportunities (both permanent and temporary) to over 515 people.

Rugarama Park Estates, is a joint venture undertaken by BRD, Shelter Afrique and City of Kigali to 
build 2,674 housing units in Kigali to provide decent and affordable houses for the Rwandan 
population.

Inaugurated in 1973 as the first grand hotel of the country under the financing of BRD, the Hotel 
garnered global acclaim for providing refuge for victims fleeing the 1994 Genocide against Tutsi. 
It is in the central business district and boasts of breathtaking views over the hills of Kigali.

Rwanda Mountain Tea Ltd constructed two mini-hydro power plants ñ Giciye 1 (4 MW) and Giciye 2 (4 
MW) ñ which are both operational and jointly added a total of 8 MW to the national grid.
This has enabled over 64,000 households (320,000 people) to benefit from the generated electricity; 
and provided employment to 23 permanent staff, and 50 temporary workers.         

RWANDA MOUNTAIN TEA LTD

HOTEL DES MILLES COLLINES
SEKIMONDO VINCENT -  REAL ESTATE DEVELOPER

RUGARAMA PARK ESTATES
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Rwanda Federation of Taxi Cooperatives (RFTC) with over 1,575 members has received over Rwf 8.1 
billion financing from BRD for: Purchase of over 75 coaster buses plying upcountry routes and 24 city 
buses which has improved public transport in the country; Construction of 5 Modern taxi parks 
(Muhanga, Gicumbi, Musanze, Kayonza, Nyagatare) that have commercial buildings accommodating 
shops, bars and restaurants, offices and other facilities and a petrol station ñ improving doing 
business in secondary cities; andProvision of employment opportunities (permanent: 5,000 and 
temporary jobs: 200)

The Cooperative of Tea Growers of MUGANZA-KIVU (COOTHEMUKI) has 727 members ñ of whom out 
of 580 active members, 435 are men, and 145 women ñ is involved in growing of tea on 1,300-hectare 
plantation and selling of tea leaves. The project has contributed to increased revenue generation for 
the cooperativeís tea growers; increased quality tea production and foreign exchange earnings from 
tea exports; and generation of value-addition of Rwf548.3 million by 2021.
It has provided employment to over 31 permanent jobs and temporary jobs for at least 60 on-farm 
plantation casual workers.

RWANDA FEDERATION OF TAXI COOPERATIVES (RFTC) THE COOPERATIVE OF TEA GROWERS OF MUGANZA-KIVU (COOTHEMUKI)

The Prime Economic Zones Co. Ltd develops and manages infrastructure in the Kigali Special 
Economic Zones (KSEZ) located on 276 hectares of land which has massively contributed to:
Construction of modern roads in the KSEZ.
- Access to full supply of electricity and water, sewerage and water treatment plant, and reliable 
  fiber optic connection.
- Increased flow of foreign direct investments and domestic investments.
- Skills development and knowledge / technology transfer. 
- Diversification of exports and generation of foreign exchange.

Eastern Province Investment Corporation Ltd constructed EPIC City Blue Hotel), a 4-star hotel (with 
over 78 rooms) in Nyagatare District which has provided permanent employment to over 132 people, 
and will boost domestic tourism and the MICE strategy in secondary cities. 

THE PRIME ECONOMIC ZONES CO. LTD EASTERN PROVINCE INVESTMENT CORPORATION LTD



Founded in 1969, Magasins Généraux du Rwanda s.a (MAGERWA) is a public customs bonded 
warehouse which manages assorted varieties of cargo; land freight, Air Freight and Transit goods.

As the first custom bonded warehouses in Rwanda, the company has been handling most imports and 
exports of goods. It also provides transit facilities for all cargo passing through Rwanda to 
neighbouring countries. MAGERWA has benefited from financing by BRD.

MAGERWA
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Over 30 years of strengthening 
the Rwandan journey  
of development.

With a heritage of over 30 years of changing the Rwandan landscape, CIMERWA is Rwanda’s ONLY 
integrated cement producer. The production plant is located in Bugarama, Rusizi district in South 
Western border of Rwanda. CIMERWA, is arguably the dominant cement business player in the 
country, and currently enjoys more than 50 per cent of the market share. 

The plant has generated employment for over 250 people.The plant is currently running at about 65 per 
cent of its production capacity of 600,000 tonnes per year. 

CIMERWA was producing 380,000 tonnes by the end of last year and the plant is expected to be 
producing up to 500,000 tonnes per annum to be able to meet the current demand, both locally and in 
the region.

CIMERWA has also helped set up a number of initiatives geared at improving the livelihoods of the 
people. These include a nursery and primary school, medical clinic, an ambulance and providing them 
with clean, piped water as part of its CSR initiatives. The firm has also helped local entrepreneurs set 
up a carpentry workshop, knitting and tailoring outfits.

The factory which was commissioned in 2012 is located in Kinazi Sector, Ruhango District in Southern 
Province and adds value to cassava produced in the country, both for local consumption and export.

Over USD 10 million has been invested in the modern, highly automated cassava milling factory which 
has greatly added value to the agriculture sector in Rwanda through exporting produce. Kinazi Cassava 
Plant has also helped thousands of farmers find market for their produce.

Kinazi Cassava Plant is an integrated company covering all aspects of the Cassava value chain, from 
developing farmer capacity to packaging and selling wholesale products throughout the region and 
internationally.

CIMERWA CEMENT FACTORY

KINAZI CASSAVA PROCESSING FACTORY



OUR CSR PHILOSOPHY
We promote and champion the Made in Rwanda campaign
EAGI offers high quality and elegant but affordable products
EAGI is the regional flagship bearer in the dimensional stone space
Harnessing the export and import substitution
We continue to invest in the latest technology machines with minimal damage to environment
We recycle 100% of the waste from production
We actively participate in local community initiatives
We offer apprenticeship schemes to young technicians and fully supports the government in capacity building 
initiatives
We offer employment and business opportunities to local people
We offer customized products tailored to the design needs of our diverse clientele
We undertake extensive research on potential Granite, Quartzite, Sandstone and Marble deposits across the 
country
EAGI STRATEGIC PRIORITIES FOR THE NEXT 5 YEARS
Meet the current ever growing local demand by 2017
Export at least 30% of the granite production by 2018
To increase the granite color portfolio from 3 to 6 by 2018
To mine and process 250,000 square meters of Granite by 2018
Commercially use the waste from production
Improve production efficiency and capacity utilization
Embrace fully the latest technology in stone processing industries (diamond wires)
Expanding business portfolio in Quartzite, Slates, and Marble deposits across the country.
Form strategic alliances with western companies to boost technical capacity
Setting up of a research and innovation hub in dimensional stones
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EAST AFRICAN GRANITE

The East African Granite Industries (EAGI) is located in Rutaraka Cell, Nyagatare District, Eastern Province. EAGI, the 
largest granite factory in the region, has a vision to become the leading manufacturer and supplier of affordable and high 
quality granite products in East Africa. 

EAGI is an exciting competitor to the domestic and regional granite industry. It is dedicated to producing the most durable 
and authentic stone-building products for local, regional and international markets. 

Built on 72 hectares, this modern 12 billion Rwandan Francs granite-processing factory is outfitted with the most 
sophisticated and environmentally friendly equipment available.

The plant’s product spectrum includes granite slabs and standard sized tiles. Currently, the production is around 500m2 
tiles per day. With brand new machines imported from Italy, production is expected to increase more by around 1.500m2 
tiles per day by 2018.
The plant meets –Made in Rwanda – Brand and due to the quality and assurance of its tiles, EAGI contributed to the 
construction of huge buildings such as Kigali Convention Center and others.

In terms of job creation, EAGI created 120 jobs, most of them are Nyagatare residents. EAGI creates a platform to utilize 
Rwanda’s untapped raw materials; furthermore, contributing to a dynamic industrial sector which is one of the key drivers 
in Vision 2020, the national roadmap



BRD Advisory Services (BAS Ltd) and 
BRD Development Fund (BDF Ltd) – 
the two subsidiaries were merged into 
BDF Ltd – with a mandate to provide 
services and products that boost the 
development of SMEs.

BRD completed the sale of its 
commercial retail banking activities 
(equivalent to 31% of its business) 
to Atlas Mara Co-Invest Ltd.

Celebration of 50-years at the forefront 
of financing for development impact

BRD adopted new strategic plan 2010-2014 
in which the bank plans to inject Rwf 160 
billion into the Rwandan economy and grow
its portfolio to over Rwf178 billion by 2014. 

BRD was incorporated on August 5, 1967; 
however, its incorporation certificate was 

issued on 7/7/2011 while a banking license 
n°003 was issued by the National Bank of 

Rwanda on August 11, 2009.

I N C O R P O R A T I O N

BRD COMMERCIAL SOLD TO 
ATL AS MARA CO-NVEST

S U S TA I N I N G  G R O W T H  A N D  
I N N O V AT I O N  P H A S E A D O P T I O N  O F  N E W  S T R AT E G I C  

P L A N  2 0 1 6  -  2 0 2 0

A U G U S T  5 T H ,  2 0 1 7  –  
G O L D E N  J U B I L E E !

M E R G E R  O F  B A S  A N D  B D F

A C Q U I S I T I O N  O F  B H R

GROWTH AND INNOVATION PHASE

BRD adopted the new strategic plan 
2005-2009, the Bank plans to inject Rwf 132 
billion into the Rwandan 
economy and attain a total loan portfolio of 
Rwf 74 billion by 2009.

On the 26th April 2011, BRD officially 
acquired Banque de l’Habitat du Rwanda 
(BHR) which grew its asset base to over 
Rwf 72 Billion.

BRD concluded its restructuring 
process to align the bank’s operations 
and management to its new expand-
ed and refocused mandate as a 
purely Development Finance 
Institution (DFI).

2011

1967

2000 - 2009

2011

2010 - 2014

2014 TODAY

2015

50
Years
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RENEWABLE ENERGY FUND 
P R O J E C T  F A C T  S H E E T

C H A I R M A N ’ S  S T A T E M E N T

The Renewable 
Energy Fund (REF) 
project is a US$ 48.94 
million fund

A multi-donor trust fund managed 
by the World Bank - to catalyze 
private resources for deployment 
of renewable energy. 

REF was signed between the 
International Development Agency 
(IDA) and the Government of Rwanda 
(GoR)

Renewable Energy Fund project is aligned 
with Rwanda’s National Strategy for 
Transformation for the period 2017–2024.

After a thorough appraisal of the 
potential institutions nominated by the 
Government of Rwanda as possible 
hosts, BRD was found to have 
adequate capacity and internal 
systems to efficiently manage the 
fund.

These will gain access to off-grid 
electricity services through solar 
systems or mini-grids and whose use 
of electricity will replace consumption 
of 

REF will provide access to 
local-currency financing through 
three active financing windows 

(i) On-lending through SACCOs to  

     households and micro-enterprises

(ii) On-lending through banks 
      (commercial and microfinance) to  
      households and small and  
      medium enterprises. 

(iii) Direct lending of off-grid mini-grid  
      developers.

To increase electricity access in 
Rwanda through off-grid technolo-
gies and facilitate private sector 
participation in renewable off-grid 
electrification.

To scale-up deployment of stand-
alone home systems and renew-
able energy-based mini-grids in 
Rwanda.

To address consumer affordability 
and access to finance constraints. 

Scaling-Up Renewable 
Energy Program (SREP)

Objectives

Financed by 

Development 
Bank of Rwanda (BRD)

Rwandan House holds
and small businesses

diesel  -  kerosene  
- dry cell batteries

Targeted beneficiary

Selected by Project Implementing 
entity to manage the Renewable 
Energy Fund project.

The Fund will thus allow qualified 
SACCOs, commercial and 
microfinance banks to provide 
affordable loans to their customers 
(households, microenterprises, and 
small- and medium-enterprises) in 
local currency for the purchase of 
certified solar systems and facilitate 
cooperation between Rwandan 
financial institutions and private 
sector to ensure quality provision of 
off-grid services. 

The REF will also provide necessary 
technical assistance and capacity 
building to BRD and participating 
financial institutions (PFIs), as well as 
other players engaged in off-grid 
electrification to ensure smooth 
operation of the Fund. 

All systems supported by the facility 
will be required to be at least Tier 1 
that provides a basic service level, 
such as lighting, radio and cell phone 
charging and meet predetermined 
quality standards aligned with 
International Electrotechnical 
Commission (IEC) Technical 
Specifications. 

The pre-qualified Commercial banks 
have signed the Subsidiary Financing 
Agreements with BRD during the first 
quarter of 2018, namely Bank of 
Kigali, I&M Bank Rwanda, KCB Bank 
Rwanda and Access Bank Rwanda. 
Off-grid Solar Companies, SMEs and 
households are invited to approach 
them to get financing for the Off-grid 
systems. More commercial and 
micro-finance banks will be 
appraised to join the program and 
facilitate the roll out.

About 100 SACCOs will be appraised 
to participate in the REF program. By 
end of 2017, 20 SACCOs have been 
already qualified and will be signing 
the Subsidiary Financing Agreements 
(SFA) during Semester 1 of year 2018. 
The process of appraising more 
SACCOs will go on to ensure easy 
accessibility of funds in peri-urban 
and rural areas and promote financial 
inclusion. 

The Renewable Energy Fund is 
expected to crowd-in resources to 
scale-up electrification in Rwanda 
using off-grid renewable energy 
technologies, attracting financing 
from both the private sector and 
development partners, thus 
contributing to sustainable expansion 
of electricity services in Rwanda. 

Hector Mutijima
REF PROJECT MANAGER
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PICTORIAL

B E L L A  F L O W E R S F I N A N C I N G  A G R I C U L T U R E  T R A N S F O R M A T I O N ,  T R A C T O R S  D E L I V E R E D  T O  M U V U M B A  P 8  R I C E  G R O W E R S ,  N Y A G A T A R E  D I S T R I C T
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G R E E N  H I L L S  A C A D E M Y  -  P R I M A R Y  S C H O O L  S E C T I O NI M E N A  S C H O O L  -  J A B A N A  K A B U Y E
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G I C I Y E  H Y D R O  P O W E R  S T A T I O N G O R I L L A S  H O T E L S
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I N K U N D A M A H O R O  C O M P L E X  -  N Y A B U G O G O P A R K  V I E W  C O U R T S
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P E A R L  E S T A T E  L T D H O T E L  V I L L A  P O R T O F I N O
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M U H A N G A R W A N D A  M I L I T A R Y  H O S P I T A L
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Principal activity

The principal activity of the Bank is development 
finance lending through direct and indirect equity 
holdings, or other stocks and granting of short, 
medium and long term loans.

Results 
The results for the year are set out on page 9 of 
the financial statements.

Dividend
The directors do not recommend the payment of 
dividends for the year (2016: Nil).

Directorate
The Directors who served during the year are set 
out on page 2.

Auditors
Ernst & Young Rwanda Limited have been ap-
pointed as Auditors of the bank commencing 
2016 in accordance with Regulation No. 04/2009 
on accreditation and other requirements for ex-
ternal auditors of banks have expressed willing-
ness to continue as auditors.

By order of the Board

………………………………..
Chairman

Date

F I N A N C I A L S

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors submit their report together with 
the audited financial statements for the year end-
ed 31 December 2017, which disclose the state 
of affairs of Development Bank of Rwanda (“BRD” 
or “the Bank”).

Incorporation

Development Bank of Rwanda Limited (BRD) is a 
Public Limited Liability Company created by the 
law on August 5, 1967. However, pursuant to Law 
No. 14/2011 of 30/05/2011, BRD ceased to be 
governed by an Act of Parliament and changed 
into a Public Company limited by shares in accor-
dance with the previous Law No. 7/2009 relating 
to companies. BRD is a development finance in-
stitution dedicated to becoming “the financier of 
Rwanda’s development”.

BRD’s vision is to become “A world-class finance 
institution focused on accelerating Rwanda’s 
economic transformation”. For 50 years the bank 
has been at the forefront of economic develop-
ment in Rwanda through investment financing in 
different sectors of the economy.

In its triple role as “Financier, Advisor and Part-
ner”, Development Bank of Rwanda (BRD) contin-
ues to fund development in the country through 
direct investments. 

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITIES

The Bank’s Directors are responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements, comprising the statement of finan-
cial position at 31 December 2017, the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements, which 
include a summary of significant accounting pol-
icies and other explanatory notes, in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and the Law No: 03/2016 of 24/06/2016 
issued by the National Bank of Rwanda (BNR), 
Law No. 27/2017 of 31/05/2017 relating to com-
panies and Law No: 47/2017 of 23/9/2017 Gov-
erning Banks in Rwanda and for such internal 
control as the Directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of consolidated finan-
cial statements that are free from material mis-
statement whether due to fraud or error.

The Directors’ responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of these consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying ap-
propriate accounting policies; and making ac-
counting estimates that are reasonable in the cir-
cumstances. They are also responsible for safe 
guarding the assets of the company.
The Directors accept responsibility for the 
financial statements set out on pages 9 to 78, 
which have been prepared using appropriate 
accounting policies supported by reasonable and 
prudent judgments and estimates, in conformity 
with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the requirements of the Law No: 03/2016 

DIRECTORS AND STATUTORY INFORMATION

Directors
The directors that served during the period and to the date of this report are shown below:

Mr. Francis Mugisha     Chairman 
Mr. Eric Rwigamba     Non-Executive Director 
Mrs. Agnes Kanyangeyo     Non-Executive Director 
Mr. Cyrille Hategekimana    Non-Executive Director 
Mr. Johan Debar     Non-Executive Director 
Mrs. Antonina Rutembesa Kayitesi   Non-Executive Director 
Mr. Athanase Rutabingwa    Non-Executive Director 
Mr. Patrick Mwesige     Non-Executive Director Appointed on 30 March 2017
Mr. Eric Kwizera Gasana     Non-Executive Director Appointed on 30 March 2017

Company Secretary
Mrs. Loyce K. Bamwine 
Development Bank of Rwanda Limited
154, Boulevard de la Révolution,
P.O box 1341
Kigali, Rwanda

Auditors
Ernst & Young Rwanda Limited
Certified Public Accountants
M. Peace Plaza - 6th Floor
Executive Wing
P.O. Box 3638
Kigali - Rwanda

Registered office & principal place of business
DEVELOPMENT BANK OF RWANDA Building
154 Boulevard de la Revolution
P.O Box: 1341 Kigali, Rwanda.
Lawyers      Address 
MRB Attorneys Ltd     PO. Box 682  Kigali - Rwanda
Kigali Allied Advocates (KAA) Ltd    PO. Box 675 Kigali - Rwanda
Barezi Marie Aimée     PO. Box 5035  Kigali - Rwanda
Bimenyimana Eric     PO. Box 4067  Kigali - Rwanda
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of 24/06/2016 issued by the National Bank of 
Rwanda (BNR), Law No: 27/2017 of 31/05/2017 
relating to companies and Law No: 47/2017 of 
23/9/2017 governing Banks in Rwanda. 

The Directors are of the opinion that the financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the state 
of the financial affairs and the profit and cash 
flow for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The Directors have made an assessment of the 
bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and 
have no reason to believe the business will not 
be a going concern for at least the next twelve 
months from the date of this statement.
The Auditor is responsible for reporting on whether 
the annual consolidated financial statements 
are fairly presented in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the Law No: 03/2016 of 24/06/2016 issued by 
the National Bank of Rwanda (BNR), Law No: 
27/2017 of 31/05/2017 relating to companies 
and Law No: 47/2017 of 23/9/2017 Governing 
Banks in Rwanda.

Approval of the financial statements
The financial statements which appear on pages 
9 to 78 were approved by the Board of Directors 
and signed on its behalf by:

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR 
TO THE MEMBERS OF DEVELOPMENT BANK OF 
RWANDA

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial 
statements of Development Bank of Rwanda 
(“the Bank”) as set out on pages 9 to 78. These 
financial statements comprise the statement 
of financial position as at 31 December 2017, 
the statement of comprehensive income, 
the statement of changes in equity and the 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory notes.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Bank as at 31 December 2017 and of its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 

the Audit of the Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the Bank 
in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises 
the Directors’ Report, as required by Law No: 
27/2017 of 31/05/2017 relating to companies 
and Law No: 47/2017 of 23/9/2017 Governing 
Banks in Rwanda which we obtained prior to the 
date of this report, and the Annual Report, which 
is expected to be made available to us after 
that date. Other information does not include 
the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does 
not cover the other information and we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the 
other information obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a 

                        
Chairman                                         Chief Executive Officer

Date: …………………….. 

F I N A N C I A L S

material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard. 
When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement therein, we 
are required to communicate the matter to those 
charged with governance.  

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO 
THE MEMBERS OF DEVELOPMENT BANK OF 
RWANDA (CONTINUED)

Responsibilities of Directors 

Directors are responsible for the preparation 
of financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and with the requirements 
of Law No. 27/2017 of 31/05/2017 relating to 
companies, Law No: 47/2017 of 23/9/2017 
Governing Banks in Rwanda, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the  financial statements, Directors 
are responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Bank or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible 
for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 

Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. 
We also:-

• Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Bank’s internal control. 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the directors. 

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO 
THE MEMBERS OF DEVELOPMENT BANK OF 
RWANDA (CONTINUED)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the group to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the 
consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner 
that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the 
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explanations which to the best of our knowledge 
and belief were necessary for the purposes of our 
audit;

iii. In our opinion proper books of account have 
been kept by the Company, so far as appears 
from our examination of those books;  and

iv. We have communicated to the Company’s 
Board of Directors, through a separate 
management letter, internal control matters 
identified in the course of our audit including our 
recommendations in relation to those matters.

For Ernst & Young Rwanda Limited
Kigali
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entities or business activities within the group to 
express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the Bank audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

• We communicate with the directors regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
• We also confirm that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with 
them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

Report on other Legal Requirements

LAW NO: 47/2017 OF 23/9/2017 GOVERNING 
BANKS IN RWANDA

NON-COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND 
REGULATION

We draw attention to Note 30(G) to the financial 
statements concerning failure by the Bank to 
meet the minimum threshold for Tier 1 capital 
and Total Capital Ratio. The Bank Tier 1 capital 
as at 31 December 2017 was 8.1% against the 
minimum required of 10% while the Total Capital 
Ratio was 12.8% against the minimum required 
of 15%.

Law No. 27/2017 of 31/05/2017 relating to 
companies requires that in carrying out our audit 
we consider and report to you on the following 
matters.  We confirm that:

i. There are no circumstances that may create 
a threat to our independence as auditor of the 
Company;
ii. We have obtained all the information and 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

 Note 2017   2016

 Frw’ 000   Frw’ 000

Interest income 4 20,735,845 19,460,755

Interest expense 5 (11,099,902) (9,358,659)

Net interest income 9,635,943 10,102,096

 

Fee and commission income 6 (a) 385,050 479,475

Fee and commission expense 6 (b) (442,758) (187,041)

Net fee and commission income (57,708) 292,434

 

Net  foreign exchange losses 7 (1,695,914) (4,692,604)

Other operating income 8 970,462 1,177,605

Total operating income 8,852,783 6,879,531

 

Net impairment charge on loans and advances 9 (12,556,843) (1,499,315)

Share of profit/(loss) of investment in associates 10 11,224 (260,627)

(Impairment)/ Gain -Investments in Associates 10 (2,739,657) 4,330,143

Net Fair Value (Loss)/Gain - on Derivative Instrument 11 (352,898) 285,601

 

Operating (loss)/income after impairment charges (6,785,391) 9,735,332

 

Employee benefits expense 12 (i) (3,843,346) (3,516,584)

Depreciation and amortization 22 (561,898) (578,730)

Other operating expenses 12 (ii) (2,388,764) (2,349,689)

Decline in fair value of investment properties 12 (iii) (750,000) -

Impairment of other assets 12(iv) (2,143,398) -

(Loss)/Profit for the year (16,472,797) 3,290,330

 

Other Comprehensive Income

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Fair Value gain/(Loss) on available for sale equity investments  

17 (b) (2,213,857) 340,020

Fair Value gain/(Loss) on Redeemable preference shares 17 (c) (855,328) -

 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (19,541,982) 3,630,350



Retained earnings  (141,326) 16,387,085

  
TOTAL EQUITY   37,834,731 57,451,093

   

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   216,115,190 223,665,489
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

  Note 2017   2016

    Frw’ 000   Frw’ 000

ASSETS        

Cash and balances with the National Bank of Rwanda 15 (a) 1,406,464  377,652

Amounts due from other banks 15 (b) 20,103,489  16,682,625

Loans and advances 16 155,374,026  151,940,028

Investment in associates 17 (a) 8,960,624  11,689,057

Available for sale equity investments 17 (b) 15,270,159 17,478,708

Redeemable convertible preference shares 17 (c) - 855,328

Derivative Financial Instruments 18 1,214,611 897,581

Other assets 19 2,213,627 11,694,674

Investment Properties 20 1,037,015 1,787,015

Intangible assets 21 792,530 306,056

Property and equipment 22 9,742,645 9,956,765

  

TOTAL ASSETS   216,115,190 223,665,489

  

LIABILITIES  

Dividends payable  11,017 11,017

Other payables 23 11,526,668 16,890,066

Borrowings 24 148,549,278 129,936,553

Special funds 25 17,676,459 18,562,894

Grants 26 517,037 813,867

TOTAL LIABILITIES   178,280,459 166,214,396

  

EQUITY  

Share capital 27 (a) 7,258,230 7,276,421

Share premium 27 (b) 11,665,569 11,665,569

Other reserves 28 19,052,258 22,122,018
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Share 
Capital

Share 
Premium

Revaluation 
Reserve

Legal Re-
serve

Ordinary 
Reserve

Credit 
Reserve Fair Value Reserve

Supplemen-
tary Capital 

Reserve

Retained 
earnings Total Equity

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Year ended 31 December 2016

As at 1 January 7,808,931 11,665,569 6,242,831 1,088,127 232,561 263,546 2,708,157 11,510,322 12,300,699 53,820,743

Profit/(loss) for the year - - - - - - - - 3,290,330 3,290,330

Adjustments on share buy back (532,510) - - - - - - - 532,510 -

Fair Value gains on available 
for sale equity investments - - - - - - 340,020 - - 340,020

Transfer from credit reserves - - - - - (263,546) - - 263,546 -

As at 31 December 7,276,421 11,665,569 6,242,831 1,088,127 232,561 - 3,048,177 11,510,322 16,387,085 57,451,093

Year ended 31 December 2017

As at 1 January 7,276,421 11,665,569 6,242,831 1,088,127 232,561 - 3,048,177 11,510,322 16,387,085 57,451,093

Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (16,472,797) (16,472,797)

Adjustments on share buy back (18,191) - - - - - - - (55,614) (73,805)

Adjustments in revaluation 
reserves - - (575) - - - - - - (575)

Fair Value losses on available 
for sale equity investments and 
preference shares

- - - - - - (3,069,185) - - (3,069,185)

Transfer from credit reserves - - - - - - - - - -

As at 31 December 7,258,230 11,665,569 6,242,256 1,088,127 232,561 - (21,008) 11,510,322 (141,326) 37,834,731

The notes set out on pages 109 to 176 form an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS

Note 2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit/(loss) before income tax (16,472,797) 3,290,330

Adjustments for:

Depreciation on property and equipment 22 442,992 459,823

Amortisation on intangible assets 21 118,906 118,907

Adjustments on property and equipment 22 (1,054) (27,365)

Gain on disposal of fixed assets 8 (448) (54,506)

Share of profit /(loss) in investments  in associates (11,224) 260,627

Net Fair Value Gain / (Loss) – Investments in Associates 10 2,739,657 (4,330,143)

Net Fair Value Loss – on Derivative Instrument 11 352,898 (226,712)

Net  foreign exchange losses 7 1,695,914 5,063,393

Decline in fair value of investment properties 12 (iii) 750,000 -

Impairment of investment properties and other assets 12 (iii) 2,143,398 -

Interest accrued on borrowings 3,641,349 3,666,335

Cash flows before changes in operating accounts (4,600,409) 8,220,689

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Loans and advances 16 (3,433,998) (26,232,632)

Other assets 19 9,481,047 (504,769)

Customer deposits - (53,897,482)

Other payables 23 (5,363,397) 4,643,849

Net payment on Derivative financial instruments (317,029) (611,980)

Net cash generated from operating activities (4,233,786) (68,382,325)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property and equipment 22 (236,282) (647,953)

Purchase of intangible assets 21 (605,380) -

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 7,023 58,158

Purchase of equity investments 18 (b) (5,308) (4,431,363)

Purchase of investment property - (1,500,000)

Disposal of investment property - 390,000

Purchase of redeemable preference shares - (17,477)

Net cash flows from investing activities (839,947) (6,148,635)

Cash flows from financing activities

Drawdown of borrowings 27,617,595 85,125,886

Repayment of borrowings (17,465,509) (11,473,102)

Drawdown of special funds 42,241 1,310,610

Repayment in special funds (401,551) (1,265,415)

Repayment of grants 26 - (27,166)

Share buy back (73,805) -

Net cash flows from financing activities 9,718,971 73,670,813

Net (Decrease)/Increase in cash and cash equivalents 4,645,238 (860,147)

Net Foreign exchange difference (195,562) (12,916)

Cash and Cash equivalents at the start of the year 15 17,060,277 17,933,340

Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year 15 21,509,953 17,060,277

Operating cash flows from interests and dividends

Interest paid 8,668,522 7,893,262

Interest received 11,902,182 10,956,088

Dividends 240,008 378,535

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Reporting Entity

Development Bank of Rwanda (the “Bank”) is a Public Limited 
Liability Company created by the law of August 5, 1967 with its 
head office in Kigali, Rwanda. The Bank is primarily a develop-
ment finance institution dedicated to becoming “the financier 
of Rwanda’s development”.
The Bank’s principal office address is: 
Development Bank of Rwanda Limited
154, Boulevard de la Revolution
P.O. Box 1341
Kigali - Rwanda.

2. Basis of Preparation

a) Basis of accounting
The Bank’s financial statements have been prepared in accor-
dance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB). The financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, except where otherwise stated in 
the accounting policies below. The financial statements have 
been presented in Rwandan Francs (Frw) rounded off to the 
nearest thousand (Frw ‘000).

b) Going concern
The Bank’s management has made an assessment of the 
Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied 
that the Bank has the resources to continue in business for the 
foreseeable future. Furthermore, the management is not aware 
of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt 
upon the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. There-
fore, the financial statements have been prepared on the going 
concern basis.

c) Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IF-
RSs requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies 
and reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures 
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expens-
es during the reporting period.

The estimates and assumptions are based on the Directors’ 
best knowledge of current events, actions, historical experience 
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable un-
der the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of 
making the judgments about the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Ac-
tual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are rec-
ognised in the period which the estimate is revised if the re-
vision affects only that period or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods. In particular, information about significant areas of 
estimation and critical judgments in applying accounting pol-
icies that have the most significant effect on the amounts rec-
ognised in the financial statements are described in Note 29.
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
3. Significant Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of 
these financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, un-
less otherwise stated.

a) Recognition of income and expense

(i) Interest
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and 
of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the 
relevant period. 
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The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts es-
timated future cash payments or receipts through the expected 
life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter 
period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or fi-
nancial liability. 

When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates 
cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial in-
strument (for example, prepayment options) but does not con-
sider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and 
points paid or received between parties to the contract that are 
an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs 
and all other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has 
been written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest in-
come is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount 
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impair-
ment loss.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all fees 
and points paid or received transaction costs, and discounts 
or premiums that are an integral part of the effective interest 
rate. Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial 
asset or liability.

Interest income and expense presented in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income includes interest on financial assets 
and liabilities at amortised cost on an effective interest rate 
basis.

(ii) Fees and Commission
Fees and commission income and expense that are integral to 
the effective interest rate on a financial asset or financial lia-
bility are included in the measurement of the effective interest 
rate.

Other fees and commission income are recognised as the relat-
ed services are performed.
Other fees and commission expense relate mainly to transac-
tion and service fees, which are expensed as the services are 
received.

(iii) Dividend Income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive in-

come is established. Usually, this is the ex-dividend date for 
quoted equity securities.

(iv) Other income
Other income comprises of gains and income related to 
non-trading assets and liabilities, and includes all realised and 
unrealized fair value changes.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
b) Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost or fair value, less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss-
es. Costs include expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is integral to 
the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part 
of that equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount 
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 
to the income statement during the financial period in which 
they are incurred.

Property and equipment is de-recognised upon disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from 
the continued use of the asset. Gains and losses arising on dis-
posal of an item of property and equipment are determined by 
comparing the net proceeds from disposal with the carrying 
amount of the item and are recognised net within ‘other operat-
ing income’ in profit or loss.

Land and buildings are shown at fair value, based on valuations 
by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation 
for buildings. Valuations are performed with sufficient regular-
ity to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not 
differ materially from its carrying amount.  
A revaluation surplus is recorded in other comprehensive in-
come and credited to the asset revaluation reserve in equity. 
However, to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit of 
the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, the in-

crease is recognised in profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is rec-
ognised in the statement of profit or loss, except to the extent 
that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset recognised 
in the asset revaluation reserve.

Accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is elimi-
nated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the 
net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. 
Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular 
asset being sold is transferred to retained earnings.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis, at annual 
rates estimated to write off the cost or valuation of the assets 
over their estimated useful lives.

Management and directors review the residual value and useful 
life of an asset at the year end and any change considered to 
be appropriate in accounting estimate is recorded through the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Management assesses at each reporting date whether there 
is any indication that any item of property and equipment is 
impaired. If any such indication exists, Management estimates 
the recoverable amount of the relevant assets.  An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carry-
ing amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell 
and value in use.

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation is calculated to 
write off the cost of the property and equipment on a straight-
line basis over the expected useful lives of the assets con-
cerned. The rates for depreciation used are as follows:

Buildings 5% Fixture, Fittings & Equipment 25%
Motor Vehicles  25%      Computer Equipment 50%
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

c) Intangible Assets
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the ba-
sis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific 
software.  These costs are amortised over their estimated use-
ful lives (five years).
Costs associated with maintaining computer software pro-
grammes are recognised as an expense as incurred.  Devel-
opment costs that are directly attributable to the design and 

testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled 
by the Bank, are recognised as intangible assets, when the fol-
lowing criteria have been met:

• It is technically feasible to complete the software product 
so that it will be available for use;
• Management intends to complete the software product 
and use it;
• There is an ability to use the software product;
• It can be demonstrated how the software product will 
generate probable future economic benefits;
• Adequate technical, financial and other resources to 
complete the development and to use or sell the software 
product are available; and
• The expenditure attributable to the software product 
during its development can be reliably measured,

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the 
software product include the software development employee 
costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are 
recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs 
previously recognised as expense are not recognised as asset 
in subsequent period. Computer software development costs 
recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful 
lives, not exceeding five years.
Gains and losses arising from de-recognition of intangible as-
sets are measured as difference between the disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
d) Capital work-in progress
Assets in the course of construction (capital work-in-progress) 
are not depreciated. Upon completion of project the accumulat-
ed cost is transferred to an appropriate asset category where it 
is depreciated according to policy.

e) Leases
Bank is the lessee:
• Operating leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards 
of ownership are retained by another party, the lessor, are clas-
sified as operating leases. Payments, including pre-payments, 
made under operating leases (net of any incentives received 
from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the period of the lease. The total payments made 
under operating leases are charged to ‘other operating expens-

es’ on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. When 
an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has 
expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by way 
of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which 
termination takes place.
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
   e) Leases (Continued)
• Finance Leases

Leases of assets where the Bank has substantially all risks 
and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. 
Finance leases are capitalised at lease’s commencement, at 
lower of fair value of leased property and the present value of 
the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated 
between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a 
constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The interest 
element of the finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the 
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of in-
terest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. 
The investment properties acquired under finance leases are 
measured subsequently at their fair value.

Bank is the lessor:
When assets are held subject to a finance lease, the present 
value of the lease payments is recognised as a receivable. The 
difference between the gross receivable and the present value 
of the receivable is recognised as unearned finance income. 
Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease using 
the net investment method (before tax), which reflects a con-
stant periodic rate of return.  The leases entered into by the 
Bank are primarily finance leases.

f)Financial assets and financial liabilities

(1) Financial Assets
The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following catego-
ries: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and receivables, held-to-maturity financial assets and available 
for sale financial assets. The directors determine the classifica-
tion of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category comprises two sub-categories: financial assets 
classified as held for trading, and financial assets designated 

by the Bank as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition.
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired 
or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchas-
ing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified 
financial instruments that are managed together and for which 
there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term prof-
it-taking.

Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they 
are designated and effective as hedging instruments. All deriv-
atives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as 
liabilities when fair value is negative.
The Bank designates certain financial assets upon initial recog-
nition as at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option). 
This designation cannot subsequently be changed and can 
only be applied when the following conditions are met:

• the application of the fair value option reduces or eliminates 
an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise or;

• the financial assets are part of a portfolio of financial instru-
ments which is risk managed and reported to senior manage-
ment on a fair value basis or;

• the financial assets consist of debt host and an embedded 
derivatives that must be separated.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

 a) Financial assets and financial liabilities (Continued)
(1) Financial Assets (Continued)

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Con-
tinued)
Financial instruments included in this category are recognised 
initially at fair value; transaction costs are taken directly to prof-
it or loss. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 
are included directly in profit or loss and are reported as ‘Net 
gains/ (losses) on financial instruments classified as held for 
trading’. Interest income and expense and dividend income and 
expenses on financial assets held for trading are included in 
‘Net interest income’ or ‘Dividend income’, respectively. Fair val-
ue changes relating to financial assets designated at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised in ‘Net gains on financial 
instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss’.
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(ii) Loans and Receivable

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market, other than:

• those that the Bank intends to sell immediately or in the short 
term, which are classified as held for trading, and those that 
the Bank upon initial recognition designates as at fair value 
through profit or loss;

• those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as 
available-for-sale; or

• those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of 
its initial investment, other than because of credit deterioration.

Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value – 
which is the cash consideration to originate or purchase the 
loan including any transaction costs – and measured subse-
quently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Loans and advances to customers, cash and other placements 
with the National Bank of Rwanda and other banks and other 
receivables are classified under this category.
iii)  Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial as-
sets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities 
that the directors have the positive intention and ability to hold 
to maturity, other than:
• those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as at 
fair value through profit or loss;
• those that the Bank designates as available-for-sale; and
• those that meet the definition of loans and receivables.
Held-to-maturity investments are initially recognised at fair 
value including direct and incremental transaction costs and 
measured subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method.

During the year, the Bank did not hold any financial assets un-
der this class

(iv) Available for sale
Available-for-sale assets are non-derivatives that are either 
designated in this category or not classified in any other cat-
egories. Equity investments are classified as available for sale. 
Where there is no active market for these investments, cost 

less impairment is deemed the most reasonable basis of mea-
surement. When an investment is derecognized, the gain or 
loss accumulated in equity is re-classified to profit or loss.
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
      a) Financial assets and financial liabilities (Continued)

(2) Financial Liabilities

The Bank’s holding in financial liabilities represents mainly 
medium and long term borrowings and other liabilities. Such 
financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and sub-
sequently measured at amortised cost.

(3) Determination of Fair Value
For financial instruments traded in active markets, the determi-
nation of fair values of financial instruments is based on quot-
ed market prices or dealer price quotations.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active mar-
ket if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an 
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or reg-
ulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly 
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. If the 
above criteria are not met, the market is regarded as being in-
active. Indicators that a market is inactive are when there is 
a wide bid-offer spread or significant increase in the bid-offer 
spread or there are few recent transactions.

For all other financial instruments, fair value is determined us-
ing valuation techniques. In these techniques, fair values are 
estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial 
instruments, using models to estimate the present value of ex-
pected future cash flows or other valuation techniques, using 
inputs (for example, LIBOR yield curve, FX rates, volatilities and 
counterparty spreads) existing at the reporting dates. The Bank 
uses widely recognised valuation models for determining fair 
values of its available for sale government securities.

For more complex instruments, the Bank uses internally devel-
oped models, which are usually based on valuation methods 
and techniques generally recognised as standard within the in-
dustry. Valuation models such as present value techniques are 
used primarily to value derivatives transacted in the over-the-
counter market, unlisted debt securities (including those with 

embedded derivatives) and other debt instruments for which 
markets were or have become illiquid. Some of the inputs to 
these models may not be market observable and are therefore 
estimated based on assumptions. The impact on net profit of 
financial instrument valuations reflecting non-market observ-
able inputs (level 3 valuations) is disclosed in Note 29.

(4) Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights 
to receive the cash flows from these assets have ceased to 
exist or the assets have been transferred and substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets are also 
transferred (that is, if substantially all the risks and rewards 
have not been transferred, the Bank tests control to ensure that 
continuing involvement on the basis of any retained powers of 
control does not prevent derecognition). Financial liabilities are 
derecognised when they have been redeemed or otherwise ex-
tinguished.

Where a financial asset is derecognised in its entirety, the dif-
ference between the carrying amount and the sum of the con-
sideration received together with any gain or loss previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income, are recognised in 
profit or loss. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
    a) Financial assets and financial liabilities 
    (Continued)

(5) Reclassification
The Bank may choose to reclassify a non-derivative financial 
asset held for trading out of the held- for-trading category if the 
financial asset is no longer held for the purpose of selling it in 
the near-term. 

Financial assets other than loans and receivables are permitted 
to be reclassified out of the held for trading category only in rare 
circumstances arising from a single event that is unusual and 
highly unlikely to recur in the near-term. In addition, the Bank 
may choose to reclassify financial assets that would meet the 
definition of loans and receivables out of the held-for-trading or 
available-for-sale categories if the Bank has the intention and 
ability to hold these financial assets for the foreseeable future 
or until maturity at the date of reclassification.

Reclassifications are made at fair value as of the reclassifica-
tion date. Fair value becomes the new cost or amortised cost 
as applicable, and no reversals of fair value gains or losses 
recorded before reclassification date are subsequently made. 
Effective interest rates for financial assets reclassified to loans 
and receivables and held-to-maturity categories are determined 
at the reclassification date. Further increases in estimates of 
cash flows adjust effective interest rates prospectively.

On reclassification of a financial asset out of the ‘at fair value 
through profit or loss’ category, all embedded derivatives are 
re-assessed and, if necessary, separately accounted for.

(6) Derivative instruments
The Bank uses derivative instruments in its portfolios for as-
set/liability management, and risk management. These in-
struments are mainly cross-currency swaps and interest rate 
swaps. The derivatives are used to manage exposure to cur-
rency risk which arises when the Bank issues loans in local cur-
rencies out of predominantly USD denominated borrowings. 
The interest component of the derivatives is reported as part of 
interest income and expense.

The Bank classifies all derivatives as held-for-trading and these 
are measured at fair value, with all changes in fair value rec-
ognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other 
non-financial host contracts are treated as separate derivatives 
when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to 
those of the host contract and the host contract is not carried 
at fair value with unrealised gains or losses reported in profit 
or loss. Where material, such derivatives are separated from 
the host contract and measured at fair value with unrealised 
gains and losses reported in the statement of comprehensive 
income.

(7) Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 
presented in the statement of financial position when, and 
only when, the Bank has a legal right to set off the recognised 
amounts and it intends either to settle on a net basis or to real-
ise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when 
permitted under IFRSs.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
      a) Financial assets and financial liabilities (Continued)

(8) Identification and Measurement of impairment of 
financial assets

At each reporting date the Bank assesses whether there is ob-
jective evidence that financial assets not carried at fair value 
through profit or loss are impaired. Financial assets are im-
paired when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss event 
has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that 
the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows on the 
asset that can be estimated reliably.

The Bank considers evidence of impairment at both a specific 
asset and collective level. All individually significant financial 
assets are assessed for specific impairment. All significant as-
sets found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively 
assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not 
yet identified. Assets that are not individually significant are 
then collectively assessed for impairment by grouping togeth-
er financial assets (carried at amortised cost) with similar risk 
characteristics.

Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity secu-
rities) are impaired can include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
 a breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in in-
terest or principal repayments;
• the Bank granting to the borrower, for economic or legal 
reasons relating to the borrowers financial difficulty, a con-
cession that the lender would not otherwise consider;
• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bank-
ruptcy or other financial reorganization;  
• the disappearance of an active market for that financial 
asset because of financial difficulties; or 
• observable data indicating that there is a measurable de-
crease in the estimated future cash flows from a group of 
financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, 
although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the indi-
vidual financial assets in the group, including: 

- adverse changes in the payment status of 
  borrowers in the group; or
- National or local economic conditions that correlate           with 
defaults on the assets in the group.

The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impair-
ment exists individually for financial assets that are individually 
significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets 
that are not individually significant.  If the Bank determines that 
no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually 
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes 
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk 
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.  
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for 
which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are 
not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not 
been incurred) discounted at the financial instrument’s original 
effective interest rate.  The carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced through the use of an allowance account and the 
amount of the loss is recognised in the profit and loss account.  
If a loan or held-to-maturity asset has a variable interest rate, 
the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the 
current effective interest rate determined under the contract. 
As a practical expedient, the Bank may measure impairment 
on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable 
market price.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the cash 
flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining 
and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
    a) Financial assets and financial liabilities (Continued)

(8) Identification and Measurement of impairment of 
financial assets (Continued)

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, 
financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit risk 
characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Bank’s grading process 
that considers asset type, industry, geographical location, 
collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors).  
Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future 
cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of 
the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the 
contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.
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Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are 
collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis 
of the contractual cash flows of the assets and historical loss 
experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to 
those in the Bank.  Historical loss experience is adjusted on 
the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of 
current conditions that did not affect the period on which the 
historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects 
of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.

Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets 
should reflect and be directionally consistent with changes in 
related observable data from period to period (e.g. changes in 
unemployment rates, property prices, payment status, or other 
factors indicative of changes in the probability of losses in the 
Bank and their magnitude).  The methodology and assumptions 
used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by 
the Bank to reduce any differences between loss estimates and 
actual loss experience.
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related 
provision for loan impairment.  Such loans are written off after 
all the necessary procedures have been completed and the 
amount of the loss has been determined.  Impairment charges 
relating to loans and advances to customers are classified in 
loan impairment charges whilst impairment charges relating 
to investment securities are classified in ‘Net gains/ (losses) 
on investment securities’. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off decrease the amount of the provision for 
loan impairment in the statement of comprehensive income.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as 
an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the 
allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income.

Loans that are either subject to collective impairment 
assessment or individually significant and whose terms have 
been renegotiated are no longer considered to be past due but 
are treated as new loans. In subsequent years, the renegotiated 
terms apply in determining whether the asset is considered to 
be past due.

g) Fiduciary assets
The Bank commonly acts as trustees and in other fiduciary 
capacities that result in the holding or placing of assets on 
behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and 
other institutions.  These assets and income arising thereon 
are excluded from these financial statements, as they are not 
assets of the Bank.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

h) Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are only offset and the net 
amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position where 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amounts and the Bank intends to either settle on a net basis, or 
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis when 
permitted by the accounting standard or for gains and losses 
arising from a group of similar transactions.

i) Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, being their 
issue proceeds (fair value of consideration received) net of 
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
stated at amortised cost; any difference between proceeds net 
of transaction costs and the redemption value is recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the period of 
the borrowings using the effective interest method charges on 
borrowings are accrued when they are incurred.

j) Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the 
Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are 
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at 
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific 
to the liability.
Where the Bank expects a provision to be reimbursed, for 
example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement 
is recognised as a separate asset but only when the 
reimbursement is virtually certain.

k) Employee benefits

(i) Short term benefits
Short term benefits consist of salaries, bonuses and any non-
monetary benefits such as medical aid contributions and 
transport allowance. Short-term employee benefit obligations 
are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as 
the related service is provided.

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be 
paid under short-term cash bonus if the Bank has a present 
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service 
provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated 
reliably.

(ii) Retirement obligations
The Bank and all its employees also contribute to the Social 
Security Fund of Rwanda, which is a defined contribution 
scheme.

A defined contribution plan is a retirement benefit plan under 
which the Bank pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. 
The Bank has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further 
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay 
all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the 
current and prior periods.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined 
contribution plan. Typically defined benefit plans define an 
amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on 
retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors, such as 
age, years of service and compensation.
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
k) Employee benefits

(ii) Retirement obligations
The Bank’s contributions to the scheme are charged to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year in which they 
are made. Costs relating to early retirement are charged to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year in which they 
are incurred.

(iii) Other entitlements
The estimated monetary liability for employees’ accrued 

annual leave entitlement at the reporting date is recognised as 
an expense accrual.

l) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held 
at call with banks, other short term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less, including: cash 
and non-restricted balances with the National Bank of  Rwanda, 
Treasury and other eligible bills, and amounts due from other 
banks.  Cash and cash equivalents excludes the cash reserve 
requirement held with the National Bank of Rwanda.

m) Investment Properties
Investment properties comprise land and buildings and parts 
of buildings held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. 
They are carried at fair value, determined annually by external 
independent valuers or management determines the value of 
the investment property based on relevant assumptions in the 
market.

Fair value is based on active market prices as adjusted, if 
necessary, for any difference in the nature, condition or location 
of the specific asset.

Investment properties are not subject to depreciation. Changes 
in their carrying amount between the reporting dates are 
recorded, net of deferred tax, through the profit or loss for the 
year.

Investment properties are derecognised either when they have 
been disposed of or when they are permanently withdrawn 
from use and no future economic benefits is expected from the 
disposal.
On disposal of an investment property, the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is charged 
or credited to the profit or loss for the year.

n) Grants
Grants are recognised at their fair value where there is 
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all 
attaching conditions will be complied with.
Receipt of a grant does not of itself provide conclusive evidence 
that the conditions attaching to the grant have been or will be 
fulfilled. Grants received are treated as unexpended grants 
payable and credited to the statement of comprehensive 
income when all conditions attaching to the grants are met.

When the grant relates to an expense item, (revenue grant) it 
is recognised as income over periods necessary to match the 
grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to 
compensate. 
Where the grant relates to an asset, (capital grant) it is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a 
systematic basis over the expected useful life of the relevant 
asset.
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
o) Special Funds
Special funds are granted by various institutions to fund various 
schemes. They are recognised as liabilities in the statement of 
financial position.

p) Share Capital
Ordinary shares are classified as ‘share capital’ in equity. Any 
premium received over and above the par value of the shares is 
classified as ‘share premium’ in equity.

q) Dividends
Dividends on ordinary shares are charged to equity in the period 
in which they are declared.

r) Taxation
No provision is made for taxation as the Bank is exempt from 
income tax.

s) Contingent Liabilities
Letters of credit acceptances and guarantees are accounted 
for as Off Balance Sheet items and described as contingent 
liabilities.  Estimation of the outcome and financial effect of 
contingent liabilities is made by management based on the 
information available up to the date the financial statements 
are approved for issue by the directors.  Any expected loss is 
charged to the statement of comprehensive income.

t) Investment in Associates
Associates are all entities over which the company has 
significant influence but not control, generally accompanying 
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting right. 

Investment in associate are accounted using equity method of 
accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially 
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or 

decreased to recognise investors share of profit or loss of the 
investee after the date of acquisition. 

If the ownership interest in associate is reduced but the 
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share 
of amounts previously recognised on other comprehensive 
income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The company’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss, and share of post-acquisition 
movement in other comprehensive income is recognised 
in other comprehensive income with the corresponding 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the 
company’s share of losses in associates equals or exceeds its 
interest in associate including any other unsecured receivables, 
the company does not recognise further losses unless it has 
incurred legal or constructive obligations or net payments on 
behalf of the associates.
The company determines at each reporting period date whether 
there is any objective evidence that investment in associate is 
impaired. If this is the case, the company calculates the amount 
of impairment as the difference between the recoverable 
amount of the associate and its carrying amount.
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3.Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
u) New and amended standards and interpretations

The following standards and amendments have been applied 
by the bank for the first time for the financial year beginning 1 
January 2017:

IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative – Amendments to IAS 7
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2017.

Key requirements:
The amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows are part 
of the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative and help users of financial 
statements better understand changes in an entity’s debt.

The amendments require entities to provide disclosures about 
changes in their liabilities arising from financing activities, 
including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash 
changes (such as foreign exchange gains or losses).
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Impact:
The Bank applied the amendment when it became effective.
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018

Key requirements:

Classification and measurement of financial assets
Except for certain trade receivables, an entity initially measures 
a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial 
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. 
Debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL), amortised cost, or fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), on the basis 
of their contractual cash flows and the business model under 
which the debt instruments are held. There is a fair value option 
(FVO) that allows financial assets on initial recognition to be 
designated as FVTPL if that eliminates or significantly reduces 
an accounting mismatch.

Equity instruments are generally measured at FVTPL. However, 
entities have an irrevocable option on an instrument-by-
instrument basis to present changes in the fair value of non-
trading instruments in other comprehensive income (OCI) 
without subsequent reclassification to profit or loss.

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

For financial liabilities designated as FVTPL using the FVO, the 
amount of change in the fair value of such financial liabilities 
that is attributable to changes in credit risk must be presented 
in OCI. The remainder of the change in fair value is presented 
in profit or loss, unless presentation in OCI of the fair value 
change in respect of the liability’s credit risk would create or 
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.

All other IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement classification and measurement requirements 
for financial liabilities have been carried forward into IFRS 9, 
including the embedded derivative separation rules and the 
criteria for using the FVO.
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
u) New and amended standards and nterpretations (Continued)

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments 

Impairment
The impairment requirements are based on an expected credit 
loss (ECL) model that replaces the IAS 39 incurred loss model. 
The ECL model applies to debt instruments accounted for at 
amortised cost or at FVOCI, most loan commitments, financial 
guarantee contracts, and contract assets under IFRS 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers and lease receivables 
under IAS 17 Leases or IFRS 16 Leases.
Entities are generally required to recognise 12-month ECL on 
initial recognition (or when the commitment or guarantee was 
entered into) and thereafter as long as there is no significant 
deterioration in credit risk. However, if there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk on an individual or collective 
basis, then entities are required to recognise lifetime ECL. 
For trade receivables, a simplified approach may be applied 
whereby the lifetime ECL are always recognised.

Hedge accounting

Hedge effectiveness testing is prospective, without the 80% to 
125% bright line test in IAS 39, and, depending on the hedge 
complexity, will often be qualitative. A risk component of a 
financial or non-financial instrument may be designated as the 
hedged item if the risk component is separately identifiable and 
reliably measureable.
The time value of an option, any forward element of a forward 
contract and any foreign currency basis spread can be excluded 
from the hedging instrument designation and can be accounted 
for as costs of hedging. More designations of groups of items 
as the hedged item are possible, including layer designations 
and some net positions. 

Transition
Early application is permitted for reporting periods beginning 
after the issue of IFRS 9 on 24 July 2014 by applying all of the 
requirements in this standard at the same time. Alternatively, 
entities may elect to early apply only the requirements for 
the presentation of gains and losses on financial liabilities 
designated as FVTPL without applying the other requirements 
in the standard.

Impact
The expected credit loss model of impairment applicable to 
the bank’s loans and advances is expected to lead to increased 
provisions. The Bank has assessed the impact of this on its 

loans and advances as at 31 December 2017 and this indicated 
that the existing allowance for impairment would have been 
71% higher than the allowance for impairment accounted for 
in accordance with IAS 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement, as at 31 December 2017. The impact on 
Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income  and Fair 
Value through Profit or Loss is not expected to be significant.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
u) New and amended standards and interpretations 
(Continued)
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2018.

Key requirements

IFRS 15 replaces all existing revenue requirements in IFRS 
(IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue, IFRIC 13 
Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15 Agreements for the 
Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets 
from Customers and SIC 31 Revenue – Barter Transactions 
Involving Advertising Services) and applies to all revenue 
arising from contracts with customers, unless the contracts 
are in the scope of other standards, such as IAS 17 (or IFRS 16 
Leases, once applied). Its requirements also provide a model 
for the recognition and measurement of gains and losses on 
disposal of certain non-financial assets, including property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets.

The standard outlines the principles an entity must apply to 
measure and recognise revenue. The core principle is that 
an entity will recognise revenue at an amount that reflects 
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.

The principles in IFRS 15 will be applied using a five-step model:
1. Identify the contract(s) with a customer;
2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract;
3. Determine the transaction price;
4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance 
obligations in the contract;
5. Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a 
performance obligation.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
u) New and amended standards and interpretations (Continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)

• Add two practical expedients to the transition 
requirements of IFRS 15 for: (a) completed contracts 
under the full retrospective transition approach; and (b) 
contract modifications at transition.

The amendments have an effective date of 1 January 2018, 
which is the effective date of IFRS 15. Entities are required to 
apply these amendments retrospectively. The amendments are 
intended to clarify the requirements in IFRS 15, not to change 
the standard.

Entities can choose to apply the standard using either a full 
retrospective approach or a modified retrospective approach, 
with some limited relief provided under either approach. Early 
application is permitted and must be disclosed.

Impact
The Bank does not expect much impact on IFRS 15 as they 
deal mostly with financial instruments which are scoped out 
of IFRS 15.

IFRS 16 Leases

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2019.

Key requirements:
The scope of IFRS 16 includes leases of all assets, with 
certain exceptions. A lease is defined as a contract, or part of a 
contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying 
asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

IFRS 16 requires lessees to account for all leases under a 
single on-balance sheet model in a similar way to finance 
leases under IAS 17. The standard includes two recognition 
exemptions for lessees – leases of ’low-value’ assets (e.g., 
personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with 
a lease term of 12 months or less). At the commencement 
date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease 
payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing 

the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., 
the right-of-use asset). Lessees will be required to separately 
recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the 
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset.

Lessees will be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the 
occurrence of certain events (e.g., a change in the lease term, a 
change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an 
index or rate used to determine those payments). The lessee 
will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of 
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
Lessor accounting is substantially unchanged from today’s 
accounting under IAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all 
leases using the same classification principle as in IAS 17 and 
distinguish between two types of leases: operating and finance 
leases.

Transition

A lessee can choose to apply the standard using either a 
full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The 
standard’s transition provisions permit certain reliefs. Early 
application is permitted, but not before an entity applies IFRS 
15.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
u) New and amended standards and interpretations (Continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Impact

Due to the fact that they do not have significant amount of 
finance leases, no significant impact is expected. on the Bank.

IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based 
Payment Transactions –Amendments to IFRS 2
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2018.

Key requirements

The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment 
in relation to the classification and measurement of share-
based payment transactions. The amendments address three 

main areas:

• The effects of vesting conditions on the measurement 
of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction. The 
amendments clarify that the approach used to account for 
vesting conditions when measuring equity-settled share-based 
payments also applies to cash-settled share-based payments;

• The classification of a share-based payment transaction with 
net settlement features for withholding tax obligations. This 
amendment adds an exception to address the narrow situation 
where the net settlement arrangement is designed to meet an 
entity’s obligation under tax laws or regulations to withhold a 
certain amount in order to meet the employee’s tax obligation 
associated with the share based payment. This amount is then 
transferred, normally in cash, to the tax authorities on the em-
ployee’s behalf. To fulfil this obligation, the terms of the share-
based payment arrangement may permit or require the entity 
to withhold the number of equity instruments that are equal to 
the monetary value of the employee’s tax obligation from the 
total number of equity instruments that otherwise would have 
been issued to the employee upon exercise (or vesting) of the 
share-based payment (‘net share settlement feature’). Where 
transactions meet the criteria, they are not divided into two 
components but are classified in their entirety as equity-settled 
share-based payment transactions, if they would have been so 
classified in the absence of the net share settlement feature;

• The accounting where a modification to the terms and con-
ditions of a share-based payment transaction changes its 
classification from cash-settled to equity settled. The amend-
ment clarifies that, if the terms and conditions of a cash-settled 
share-based payment transaction are modified, with the result 
that it becomes an equity-settled share-based payment trans-
action, the transaction is accounted for as an equity-settled 
transaction from the date of the modification. Any difference 
(whether a debit or a credit) between the carrying amount of 
the liability derecognised and the amount recognised in equity 
on the modification date is recognised immediately in profit or 
loss.
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4. Interest Income 

 2017 2016

 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

 

Loans and advances 20,029,820 18,330,952

Placements with  banks 706,025 969,267

Redeemable Convertible Shares - 160,536

 

 20,735,845 19,460,755

5. Interest expense

Interest expense on borrowings
             

11,099,902             9,358,659 

Interest expense is accrued and paid on different medium and long term lines of credit secured by the bank from its various lending partners.

 Fee and Commissions income

(a) Fees and commissions income 2017 2016

 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Credit related fees and commis-
sions 385,050 479,475

 

(b) Fees and commissions expense

 
Banking services (442,758) (187,041)

 
Net fee and commission income (57,708) 292,434

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
u) New and amended standards and interpretations (Contin-
ued)

Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to IAS 40)
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018.

Key requirements

The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer proper-
ty, including property under construction or development into, 
or out of investment property. The amendments state that a 
change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to 
meet, the definition of investment property and there is evi-
dence of the change in use. A mere change in management’s 
intentions for the use of a property does not provide evidence 
of a change in use.

Transition

Entities should apply the amendments prospectively to chang-
es in use that occur on or after the beginning of the annual re-
porting period in which the entity first applies the amendments. 
An entity should reassess the classification of property held at 
that date and, if applicable, reclassify property to reflect the 
conditions that exist at that date. Retrospective application in 
accordance with IAS 8 is only permitted if that is possible with-
out the use of hindsight. Early application of the amendments 
is permitted and must be disclosed.

Impact

The Bank intends to apply the standard when it becomes ef-
fective.

IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and 
Advance Consideration

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2018.

Key requirements

The interpretation clarifies that in determining the spot ex-
change rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, 
expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a 
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to ad-
vance consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on 
which an entity initially recognises the nonmonetary asset or 
non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. 
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, then the 
entity must determine a date of the transactions for each pay-
ment or receipt of advance consideration.
Transition

Entities may apply the amendments on a fully retrospective 
basis. Alternatively, an entity may apply the interpretation pro-
spectively to all assets, expenses and income in its scope that 
are initially recognised on or after:

• The beginning of the reporting period in which the entity 
first applies the interpretation; Or

• The beginning of a prior reporting period presented as 
comparative information in the financial statements of the 
reporting period in which the entity first applies the interpre-
tation. Early application of interpretation is permitted and 
must be disclosed.

First-time adopters of IFRS are also permitted to apply the in-
terpretation prospectively to all assets, expenses and income 
initially recognised on or after the date of transition to IFRS.
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
u) New and amended standards and interpretations (Contin-
ued)

IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and 
Advance Consideration (Continued)

Impact

The Bank intends to apply the standard when it becomes ef-
fective.
Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures - Amend-
ments to IAS 28

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2019.

Key requirements

The amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 Finan-
cial Instruments to long-term interests in an associate or joint 
venture to which the equity method is not applied but that, in 
substance, form part of the net investment in the associate or 
joint venture (long-term interests). This clarification is relevant 
because it implies that the expected credit loss model in IFRS 9 
applies to such long-term interests.
The Board also clarified that, in applying IFRS 9, an entity does 
not take account of any losses of the associate or joint venture, 
or any impairment losses on the net investment, recognised as 
adjustments to the net investment in the associate or joint ven-
ture that arise from applying IAS 28 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures.

Transition

Entities must apply the amendments retrospectively, with cer-
tain exceptions. Early application of the amendments is permit-
ted and must be disclosed.

Impact

The Bank intends to apply the standard when it becomes ef-
fective.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

u) New and amended standards and 
interpretations (Continued)

Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards

Key requirements
The IASB’s annual improvements process deals with non-ur-
gent, but necessary, clarifications and amendments to IFRS.
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1. Net Foreign exchange losses

Forex commission income 2,924 4,083

Translation gains 204,723 180,799

Translation losses (1,903,561) (4,877,486)

 

Net foreign exchange losses (1,695,914) (4,692,604)

Forex commissions are earned from international transfers made on behalf of the bank’s customers. Translation gains and losses are accounted for when 
balances of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are converted into the reporting currency (Frw) using rates at the reporting date.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

8. Other Operating income

  2017  2016

  Frw’ 000  Frw’ 000

     
Advisory and Management fees   107,770 501,442

Write back of liabilities 308,979 -

Dividends  240,008 378,535

Rent income  70,242 82,872

Gains on sale of fixed assets  448 54,506

Other income  243,015 160,250

  

  970,462 1,177,605

1. 9.  Net Impairment charge on loans and advances

Provision in the year

 
      

4,775,736 
          930,851 

Amounts written off  8,537,972 1,367,225

Recoveries on amounts previ-
ously provided for

 (62,875) (106,246)

Recoveries on amounts previ-
ously written off

 (693,990) (692,515)

  

  12,556,843 1,499,315

2. (i)Share of profit/(loss) and impairment loss in Associate 

Business Development Fund 14,407 40,828

Rwanda Enterprise Investment Company (3,183) 4,059

Kinazi Cassava           - (305,514)

Share of profit/(loss) of an associate   11,224 260,627

10    (ii)Impairment /Gain on investment in associate (2,739,657) (4,330,143)

 

3. The fair valuation of the investments in associates determined on the “net asset basis” was carried out and the gains or losses reported represent differ-
ences between the opening and closing investments’ values. This applied to all the investments except Kinazi Cassava Plant. The reported write down/loss 
for the latter represents the difference between the estimated recoverable amount and the carrying value of this investment before impairment assessment 
which was conducted at year end. 

4. 11. Net Fair Value Gain/ (Loss) on Derivative Instruments 
 

5. Net Fair Value Gain/ (Loss) on Derivative Instruments

Fair value (loss) /gains from currency swaps (Note 18) (352,898) 285,601

6. (i) Employee benefits expense 
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Salaries and wages  3,252,939 2,885,229

Retirement benefit costs  122,787 102,591

Other staff costs     467,620    528,764

  3,843,346 3,516,584

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

12.       (ii) Other operating expense

2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Travel and accommodation 249,781 276,327

Training Fees 242,992 227,262

Consultancy fees 293,569 219,535

IT expenses 361,089 208,724

Advertising and publicity 229,581 173,701

Sponsorship - 168,390

Repairs and maintenance 155,197 142,588

Land and District Taxes 66,804 118,960

Communication 98,418 117,581

Legal fees 97,643 96,941

Subscription to professional bodies 89,629 78,604

Security Fees 63,783 64,197

Directors expenses 68,675 66,475

Office stationery and utilities 53,252 61,203

Staff welfare 28,006 47,618

Audit fees 48,382 38,500

Insurance 14,116 42,502

Cleaning Expenses 29,636 40,886

Reception expenses 17,491 31,208

Donation and grants 180,720 4,712

Other administrative expenses - 123,674

2,388,764 2,349,689

12.      (iii) Decline in fair value of investment property

2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Decline in fair value of investment 
properties  750,000 -

12.      (iv) Impairment of other assets

2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Impairment of other assets  2,143,398 -
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The amount represents the decline in the fair value of the investment property during the year.

   2017  2016

   Frw’ 000  Frw’ 000

      
Treasury Bills   150,000 -

Balances with the Na-
tional Bank of Rwanda

  1,256,464 377,652

   

   1,406,464 377,652

Amounts due from other banks

      
Operating accounts with other 
banks

  20,103,489 7,572,419

Interest earning placements with 
other banks

  - 9,110,206

   20,103,594 16,682,625

Cash and balances with  National 
Bank of Rwanda (Note 15 (a))   1,406,464 377,652

Amounts due from other banks 
(Note 15 (b))   20,103,489 16,682,625

   

   21,509,953 17,060,277

2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Equipment loans 157,607,686 136,716,777

Overdrafts 194,953 10,141,265

Mortgages 5,609,471 10,863,377

Finance leases - 226,026

Vehicle loans 1,601,705 2,036,210

Other short term loans 1,198,034 181,153

Gross loans 166,211,849 160,164,808

Suspended interest (3,283,364) (5,383,181)

Impairment provision on loans and advances:

 - Individually assessed (5,520,017) (1,455,628)

 - Collectively assessed (2,034,442) (1,385,971)

155,374,026 151,940,028

Broken down as follows:

Current 13,724,284 13,420,957

Non-Current 141,649,742 138,519,070

155,374,026 151,940,027
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(a) Year ended 31 December 2017

Identified allowance for impair-
ment

Collective allowance for 
impairment Total

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

At start of the year 1,455,628 1,385,971 2,841,599

Recoveries on amounts previously provided for (62,875) - (62,875)

Provision for loan impairment 4,127,264 648,471 4,775,735

Loan impairment charge for the year 4,064,389 648,471 4,712,860

At end of the year 5,520,017 2,034,442 7,554,459

Specific allowance for impairment Collective allowance for 
impairment Total

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

At start of the year 857,844 1,159,150 2,016,994

Recoveries on amounts previously provided for (45,826) (60,420) (106,246)

Provision for loan impairment 643,610 287,241 930,851

Loan impairment charge for the year 597,784 226,821 824,605

At end of the year 1,455,628 1,385,971 2,841,599
 

17. Equity investments

The Bank has advanced financing in the form of equity in exceptional cases where the project is assessed to have a significant impact on the community and its devel-
opment but where the equity participation is necessary for improving the capital structure of the company or where the sponsors are unable to raise additional equity 
to enable the borrower operate on a commercially sound footing. Usually these are companies, which have substantial development impact but whose cash flows 
cannot support continuous repayments for long term loans. These are reported as investments in associates, available for sale equity investments and redeemable 
convertible preference shares as per the bank’s accounting policies.

The equity investment in unquoted entities is recorded at cost on initial recognition and subsequently on net asset basis less impairment since there is no ac-
tive market for these investments. In the absence of the most reliable basis of determining fair value, net asset less impairment is deemed the most reasonable 
basis of measurement. The entity will continue to hold onto the equity investment and will dispose when appropriate opportunity arises to dispose at a gain. 
 

(a) Investments in associates

2017 2016

Rwf’ 000 Rwf’ 000

Business Development Fund 6,102,513 6,088,106

Kinazi Cassava Plant - 2,739,657

Rwanda Enterprise Investment Company 12,559 15,742

Eastern Province Investment Company 2,210,652 2,210,652

Great Lakes Cement Company 634,900 634,900

8,960,624 11,689,057

2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Share of net assets at 1 January 11,689,057 7,152,541

Additional investment - 467,000

Fair Value Adjustments (2,739,657) 4,330,143

Share of profit/(loss) before taxation 11,224 (260,627)

Share of other comprehensive income 
/(loss) - -
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Share of net assets at 31 December 8,960,624 11,689,057

Share of net Asset At Cost 12,371,009 12,371,009

Associate companies Nature of business Percentage share-
holding Percentage shareholding

2017 2016

Business Development Fund Guarantee Fund 45% 45%

Kinazi Cassava Plant Cassava processing 44% 44%

Rwanda Enterprise Investment Com-
pany Investment advisory 38% 38%

Eastern Province Investment Company Hotel 25% 25%

Great Lakes Cement Company Cement production 24% 24%

(b) Available for sale equity investments

Magerwa Limited 518,489 485,465

Multi-Sectoral Investment Group 612,509 206,716

Minimex Limited 143,567 144,677

Kigali City Park Limited  757,875 757,875

Rwanda Investment Group Limited 783,652 801,062

Hostel 2020 Limited 546,691 537,236

Prime Economic Zones Limited 1,593,209 1,447,625

Bank of Kigali Limited 1,207,020 917,335

Rwanda Stock Exchange 16,912 25,369

New Forest Company Limited 2,192,546 2,192,546

Rwanda Farmers Coffee Company 
Limited 156,597 245,351

Trust Industries Limited - 2,328,539

Rugarama Park Estate 1,580,000 1,580,000

Crystal Telecom Limited  1,783,122 2,431,530

Sopyrwa 1,178,297 1,183,016

Ziniya Project  424,673 419,363

Kivu Marina  1,775,000 1,775,000

15,270,159 17,478,705

The equity investments are less than 20% of shareholding. Only Bank of Kigali and Crystal Telecom Limited are listed.

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

17. Equity investments (Continued)

(b) Available for sale equity investments (Continued)

The following table provides a movement schedule in balances of available for sale equity investments:

2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

At start of the year 17,478,705 13,174,325

Additions 5,311 3,964,360
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Fair Value gain/(Loss) (2,213,857) 340,020

At end of the year 15,270,159 17,478,705

Listed 2,990,142 3,348,865

Unlisted 12,280,017 14,129,840

15,270,159 17,478,705

The additions in the year ended 31 December 2017 relate to an additional cash investment made in ZINIYA Project. 

(a) Redeemable convertible preference shares

2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Villa Portofino Hotel - 483,328

SGCIT/ The Mirror Hotel - 372,000

- 855,328

(1) The movement in the carrying values of the redeemable convertible preference shares in the year ended 31 December 2017 relate to assessed impairment 
recognized in the year.

In 2013, the Bank entered into an agreement with Hotel Villa Portofino Limited (“the issuer” or “the company”), a non-listed company domiciled in Kigali, Rwanda and 
engaged in the hospitality business, in which it was allotted 6,000 redeemable convertible preference shares (RCPS), each valued at Frw 100,000. At 31 December 2016, 
the Bank had subscribed and paid for 4,833 of the allotted RCPS, at a value of Frw 483,328,123.

The Bank is entitled to preferential cumulative dividends at the rate of 18% per annum, calculated on the basis of the total amount invested at the applicable date.

Call option

In accordance with the subscription agreement, the issuer holds the option to redeem the RCPS or part thereof at any point, at an amount computed as the sum of the 
amount paid by the Bank for the RCPS and the compounded dividends at 18%, less all dividends paid at the time of redemption.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

17. Equity investments (Continued)

(c) Redeemable convertible preference shares (Continued)

Conversion option

In accordance with the subscription agreement, the Bank holds the option to require the issuer to convert the RCPS or part thereof into fully paid ordinary shares, each 
at the conversion rate of 1 ordinary share of Frw 100,000 for every Frw paid on the RCPS, including such premiums paid by the Bank. The bank is entitled to return of 
capital in preference to ordinary shares when the company is wound up.

In 2013, the Bank entered into an agreement with Mirror Hotel Limited (“the issuer” or “the company”), a non-listed company domiciled in Kigali, Rwanda and engaged 
in the hospitality business and tourism, in which it was allotted 3,720 redeemable convertible preference shares (RCPS), each valued at Frw 100,000. At 31 December 
2016, the Bank had subscribed and paid for 3,720 of the allotted RCPS, at a value of Frw 372,000,000.

BRD is entitled to preferential cumulative dividends at the rate of 20% per annum calculated on the basis of the amount invested by BRD at the relevant date.

Call Option

In accordance with the terms of the agreement, the bank has absolute preference to redeem the RCPS or part thereof at any time. The redemption shall be at the 
amount paid by BRD together with the compounded interest at 20%, less all dividends paid during the tenor of the RCPS.

Conversion Option

The terms of the agreement give BRD the option to require the issuer to convert the RCPS or part thereof into fully paid shares of SGCIT. The conversion shall be at 
the rate of 1 ordinary share of Frw 100,000 (the PAR value) for every Frw paid on the RCPS.BRD is entitled to return of capital in preference to ordinary shares when 
the company is wound up.

(d) Fair Value estimation

IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs 
reflect market data obtained from independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Bank’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the fol-
lowing fair value hierarchy:

• Level 1 – Fair value is determined using unadjusted quoted prices in an active market for identical assets and liabilities. Types of financial assets include: 
actively traded government and other agency securities, listed derivative instruments and listed equities. Types of financial liabilities include listed derivative 
instruments;

• Level 2 – Fair value is determined using valuation models with directly or indirectly market observable inputs. Types of financial assets include: corporate and 
other government bonds and loans, and over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives. Types of financial liabilities include over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives;

• Level 3 – Fair value is determined using Valuation models using significant non- market observable inputs. Types of financial assets include: highly structured 
OTC derivatives with unobservable parameters and corporate bonds in illiquid markets. Types of financial liabilities include highly structured OTC derivatives 
with unobservable parameters. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

17. Equity investments (Continued)

(d) Fair Value estimation (continued)

The following table presents the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2017:

Financial Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Investments in Associates (Note 17 (a)) - - 8,960,624 8,960,624

Available for sale investments (Note 17 (b)) 2,990,142 - 12,280,017 15,270,159

Redeemable preference shares (Note 17 (c)) - - - -

Derivative instruments (Note 18) - 1,214,611 - 1,214,611

Total 2,990,142 1,214,611 21,240,641 25,445,394

As at 31 December 2016:

Financial Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Investments in Associates (Note 17 (a)) - - 11,689,057 11,689,057

Available for sale investments (Note 17 (b)) 3,348,865 - 14,129,840 17,478,705

Redeemable preference shares (Note 17 (c)) - - 855,328 855,328

Derivative instruments (Note 18) - 897,581 - 897,581

Total 3,348,865 897,581 26,674,225 30,920,671

18. Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value in response to changes in interest rates, financial instrument prices, commodity prices, foreign exchange 
rates, credit risk and indices.

The bank entered into an eight year swap transaction with the National Bank of Rwanda that took effect on 22 December 2015. In the SWAP transaction, the bank paid 
to National Bank of Rwanda US$ 7,500,000 which was swapped with Frw 5,589,188,700. The Bank will receive interest of 2% on the US$7,500,000 investment and will 
pay interest of 8% to the National Bank of Rwanda on the Swapped local currency amount.

On 15 February 2016, the bank entered into a second eight year swap transaction with the National Bank of Rwanda. In this SWAP transaction, the bank paid to National 
Bank of Rwanda US$ 7,500,000 which was swapped with Frw 5,692,615,380. The Bank will receive interest of 2% on the US$ 7,500,000 investment and will pay interest 
of 8% to the National Bank of Rwanda on the Swapped local currency amount.

On 8 December 2016, the bank entered into a third ten year swap transaction with the National Bank of Rwanda. In the swap transaction, the bank paid to National 
Bank of Rwanda US$ 5,000,000 which was swapped with Frw 4,088,931,055. The Bank will receive interest of 2% on the US$5,000,000 investment and will pay interest 
of 8% to the National Bank of Rwanda on the Swapped local currency amount.

In line with IAS 39, financial instruments (Swap) are carried at fair value. As at 31 December 2016, the fair value of the derivative financial instrument (swap) was a net 
asset of Frw 897,581,333 (2015: net asset of Frw Nil). The bank’s exposure under derivative instruments is monitored as part of the overall management of its market 
risk. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

18. Derivative Financial Instruments (Continued)

The outstanding principal receipts and payments for the existing swap contracts and their respective fair values of the derivative asset or liability are as follows:

As at 31 December 2017:

Currency Swap Outstanding USD principal receipts Outstanding FRW principal payments Fair Value of 
Asset Fair Value of Liability

Frw ‘ 000 Frw ‘ 000 Frw ‘ 000 Frw ‘ 000

Contract of 22.12.2015 5,432,124 4,790,733 608,048 -

Contract of 15.02.2016 5,432,124 4,879,385 518,685 -

Contract of 08.12.2016 4,013,735 3,884,484 87,878 -

Total         14,877,983            13,554,602  1,214,611           -   

As at 31 December 2016:

Currency Swap Outstanding USD principal receipts Outstanding FRW principal payments Fair Value of Asset Fair Value of Liability

Frw ‘ 000 Frw ‘ 000 Frw ‘ 000 Frw ‘ 000

Contract of 22.12.2015 6,148,419 5,589,189 516,024 -

Contract of 15.02.2016 6,148,419 5,692,615 411,682 -

Contract of 08.12.2016 4,098,945 4,088,931 - 30,125

Total 16,395,783 15,370,735 927,706 30,125

The following table provides a reconciliation of the change in the value of the net derivative financial instrument between 01 January and 31 December:

2017 2016

Frw ‘ 000 Frw ‘ 000

Balance of Net Derivative Asset/(Liability) as at 1 January 897,581 -

Receipts during the year under swaps contracts (2,321,639) (226,712)

Payments during the year under swaps contracts 2,991,567 838,692

Fair Value gain /(loss) under swaps contracts (352,898) 285,601

Balance of Net Derivative Asset/(Liability) as at 31 December 1,214,611 897,581

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

19.  Other Assets

2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Other receivables 212,150 2,372,486

Items in the course of collection - 101,463

Due from the Government of  Rwanda and other taxes 24,080 59,901

Amounts advanced to Kinazi Cassava Plant Limited 219 26,770

Amounts due from BRD Development Fund Ltd 306,617 766,744

Prepayments 865,346 443,033

Rwanda Agri-Business Industries assets - 1,024,051

Amounts due from Banque Populaire Du Rwanda Limited 488,365 6,678,271

Amounts due from BRD Insurance Brokerage Ltd 1,075 1,075

Amounts due from EDUCATION 176,002 142,445

Amounts due from RUGARAMA PARK ESTATES 139,774 78,435

2,213,627 11,694,674
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The movement in the impairment

At 1 January 295,026 273,908

Allowance during the year 2,143,398 21,118

Recoveries during the year (163,118) 21,118

2,275,306 295,026

The Balances are broken down as follows:

Current 2,073,853 1,483,108

Non-Current 139,774 10,211,566

2,213,627 11,694,674

20. Investment properties

At Start of year 1,787,015 677,015

Additions - 1,500,000

Disposals - (390,000)

Less: decline in value (750,000) -

1,037,015 1,787,015

The valuation of the investment property was based on adjusted sales comparison approach. The directors have determined these inputs based on the size and con-
dition of the investment property.

The reported values for investment properties are all level 3 in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. There were no level 1 or level 2 assets.

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

21. Intangible assets

2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Cost

At 1 January          649,519     649,518 

Additions          605,380              -   

At 31 December        1,254,898     649,518 

Amortization

At 1 January         (343,462)    (224,555)

Charge for 2017         (118,907)    (118,907)

At 31 December         (462,368)    (343,462)

Net Book Value at 31 December          792,530     306,056 
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Year ended 31 December 2017:

 Land and buildings  IT equipment  Motor vehicles  Furniture & 
fittings  

 Works in progress  Total 

 Frw ‘000  Frw ‘000  Frw ‘000  Frw ‘000  Frw ‘000  Frw ‘000 

Cost / valuation

As at 1 January 2017 8,953,915 618,020 244,467 1,129,708 598,700 11,544,810

Additions 6,439 142,666 - 45,000 48,615 242,720

Disposal (6,225) (350) - - - (14,068)

Adjustments (7,493)

Transfer from Work in Progress 104,762 - - - (104,762) -

As at 31 December 2017 9,058,891 760,336 244,467 1,167,215 542,553 11,773,463

Depreciation

As at 1 January 2017 (668,085) (396,361) (134,377) (389,224) - (1,588,045)

Charge for the year (256,310) (83,179) (44,213) (59,290) - (442,992)

Disposal - - - 220 - 220

Adjustments - - - - - -

As at 31 December 2017 (924,395) (479,540) (178,590) (448,294) - (2,030,817)

Net Book Value as at 31 December 2017 8,134,496 280,797 65,877 718,922 542,553 9,742,645

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

22. Property and Equipment (Continued)

Year Ended 31 December 2016:

Land and buildings IT equipment Motor vehicles Furniture & 
fittings

Works in progress Total

Frw ‘000 Frw ‘000 Frw ‘000 Frw ‘000 Frw ‘000 Frw ‘000

Cost / valuation

As at 1 January 2016 8,954,595 599,092 341,923 1,132,810 38,904 11,067,324

Additions - 53,452 - 34,704 559,796 647,952

Disposal - (600) (97,456) (37,806) - (135,863)

Adjustments (680) (33,923) - - - (34,603)

As at 31 December 2016 8,953,915 618,021 244,467 1,129,708 598,700 11,544,810

Depreciation

As at 1 January 2016 (411,223) (320,744) (187,619) (346,157) - (1,265,743)

Charge for the year (256,862) (83,023) (44,213) (75,724) - (459,823)

Disposal - 169 97,455 32,657 - 130,282

Adjustments - 7,238 - - - 7,238

As at 31 December 2016 (668,085) (396,360) (134,377) (389,224) - (1,588,046)

Net Book Value as at 31 December 2016 8,285,830 221,661 110,090 740,484 598,700 9,956,765
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2017 2016

 Frw’ 000  Frw’ 000 

Cost 5,707,261 5,596,060

Accumulated depreciation (650,838) (530,566)

Net Book amount 5,056,423 5,065,494

Fair Value of Buildings

Fair value

Frw’ 000

 Level 3

Frw’ 000 Valuation techniques and inputs

Non-financial assets

Land and Buildings 6,732,690 6,732,690 Open Market Comparable Method

Other payables

2017 2016

 Frw’ 000  Frw’ 000 

Advances from customers 222,008 1,549,833

Payments in transit 1,337,622 1,391,537

Statutory deductions payable 40,425 48,376

Other taxes payable 85,975 98,501

Amounts due to local creditors 49,037 49,037

Accrued expenses 1,081,976 1,056,999

Other payables 2,241,065 878,349

Kreditanstalt Fur Wiederaufbau (KFW) 2,011,043 -

Amounts due to BRD Development Fund Ltd 3,020,396 3,317,510

Amounts due to Banque Populaire Du Rwanda 1,437,121 8,499,923

11,526,668 16,890,066

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. Borrowings

2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Afrexim Bank       15,428,648       11,144,451 

Shelter Afrique         9,471,664       11,623,761 

East African Development Bank       19,740,271       18,559,050 

European Investment Bank         5,819,118        6,884,303 

African Development Bank (AFDB)         4,770,047        5,458,209 

Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning- Tea growing         1,050,000           924,327 

 IFAD-PPPMER                    -                     38 

 Fonds Suisses Gérés                    -                   591 

BADEA       15,182,484       15,334,392 

BDEGL         6,447,267        2,360,354 

GASHORA GIRLS INITIAVE           237,781           196,749 

Bank of Kigali         3,208,863                    -   

Kreditanstalt Fur Wiederaufbau (KFW) - Borrowing         1,902,632                    -   

Eastern and Southern African Trade and Development Bank (TDB)         3,802,487                    -   

Rwanda Social Security Board (RSSB)       61,488,015       57,450,328 

  

148,549,278 129,936,553

Broken down as follows:

Current       20,768,462       70,849,306 

Non - Current     127,780,816       59,087,247 

    148,549,278     129,936,553 
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Lender Purpose Terms Maturity Date Currency

Afrexim Bank
Financing acceptable sub-borrowers en-
gaged in trade and related activities in Rwan-
da

 
USD 10m - Aggregate of the six-month LIBOR, plus a mar-
gin of 5.05%

31 November 2021 USD

Shelter Afrique Line of credit to finance construction of hous-
ing units in Rwanda

USD 7.6m - Aggregate of the six-
month LIBOR plus a margin of 6.2%; 
USD 10m - Aggregate of the six-month LIBOR plus a mar-
gin of 5.5%. 

9 December 2024 
 

27 November 2027

USD 
 

USD

East African Development 
Bank

Line of credit facility to finance eligible proj-
ects

USD 5m for 8 years , at an interest rate of Aggre-
gate of the six-month LIBOR, plus a margin of 5.2%; 
USD 10M for 8 years at an interest rate of 7.255%; 
USD 15M for 8 years at an interest rate of 6.755%

24 May 2019 
 
 

01 June 2018 
25 November 2023

USD 
 
 

USD 
USD

European Investment Bank Line of credit facility to finance up to 50% of 
eligible projects

USD 9.3m at -  Aggregate of the six-month LIBOR, plus a 
margin of 1.36% 28 February 2023 USD

African Development Bank 
(AFDB)

Line of credit facility to finance eligible proj-
ects primarily, SMEs

USD 8m - Aggregate of the six-month LIBOR, plus a margin 
of 4.67% 4 March 2023 USD

BADEA To finance SMEs and MFIs
USD 15m - Aggregate of the six-
month LIBOR, plus a margin of 5.0%; 
USD 3.5m - 2%

1 May 2026 
 

10 July 2029

USD 
 

USD

BDEGL To finance SMEs and MFIs USD 3m at 7.0%; 
USD 5m at 7.0%

31 December 2022 
01 November 2027

USD 
USD

Rwanda Social Security 
Board (RSSB) Term deposits to finance eligible projects FRW 58,840m - at an effective interest rate of 10.47% 1 July 2032 FRW

Ministry of Finance and 
Economic Planning- Tea 
growing

Financing five tea growing projects FRW 1,500m - At 0% 31 December 2024 FRW

Gashora Girls Initiative Financing of higher education for Rwandan 
girls USD 240,000 at 8% 11 October 2027 USD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

24.1 Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

1 January 2017 Additions Repayments
Foreign 

Exchange 
movement

Accrued 
interest Other 31 December 2017

 Frw’ 000  Frw’ 000  Frw’ 000  Frw’ 000  Frw’ 000  Frw’ 000  Frw’ 000 

Borrowings 129,936,553 27,617,595 (17,465,509) 1,903,561 3,615,872 2,941,206 148,549,277

Special funds 18,562,894 42,241 (401,551) - 25,478 (552,603) 17,676,459

Grants 813,867 - - - - (296,830) 517,037

149,313,314 27,659,836 (17,867,060) 1,903,561 3,641,349 2,091,773 166,742,774

25. Special funds

2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Government of Rwanda public fund 8,854,993 8,854,994

Microfinance Funds -  Belgium Cooperation 1,371,483 1,371,483

Business plan competition fund/PSF 121,300 281,755

KFW line of credit Investment fund 666,958 642,308

Rural Investment Facility 499,167 624,185

Education promotion fund 1,500,000 1,500,000

FIFAPI ROPARWA fund 892,581 892,581

MINAGRI-PDCRE fund 1,477,220 1,477,220

MINAGRI Fertilizer fund 201,571 201,571

MINAGRI-Belgium cooperation fund 262,084 262,084

MINAGRI/KWAMP Fund 402 390

SME technical assistance fund 431,886 886,979
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Other special funds 327,794 508,736

FONERWA 788,200 788,200

KFW/Kreditanstalt Fur Wiederaufbau 270,409 270,409

BDEGL II CAPACITY BUILDING GRANT 10,411 -

17,676,459 18,562,895

The above balances are all non – current.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

25. Special funds (Continued)

Fund Details

Government of Rwanda Public fund Granted by the government through the Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning  to facilitate 
financing of export, microfinance and mortgage related projects

Microfinance Funds -  Belgium Coopera-
tion

Granted by Belgium Cooperation for technical assistance and capacity building of microfinance 
institutions

Business plan competition fund/PSF Fund from Private Sector Federation for technical assistance to startup projects

KFW line of credit Investment fund Fund from KFW used to promote training, technical assistance, financing. Forms part of the guar-
antee to SMEs

Rural Investment Facility Granted by the government  through the Poverty  Reduction Strategy Grant to finance agro related 
industries and other related projects

Education promotion fund Granted by the government through the Ministry of Education  on the implementation of the Edu-
cation Promotion Fund

FIFAPI ROPARWA fund Granted by ROPARWA ( Le Reseau des Organisations  Paysannes du Rwanda)  for strengthening 
the capacity of  farmers’ organizations

MINAGRI-PDCRE fund
Fund through the government of Rwanda from the International Fund for Agricultural Develop-
ment yto maximize and diversify the revenues of the poorer growers of cash crops, thus promoting 
commercial transformation activities and financially viable market

MINAGRI Fertilizer fund Fund from the government  via the Ministry of Agriculture and Animal ResourcesFinance purchase 
of fertilizer by farmers in Rwanda

MINAGRI-Belgium cooperation fund Fund from Belgium cooperation via the Ministry of Agriculture and Animal Resources for financing 
microfinance sector

MINAGRI/KWAMP Fund
Kirehe Community Based Watershed Management Project (KWAMP) is a  fund from the Ministry 
of Agriculture and Animal Resources for building  watersheds in Kirehe District, using funds from 
the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD)

FONERWA Fund Financing to finance private sector projects in Clean Technology environmental sustainabil-
ity, & Climate Resilient and green investments

BDEGL II CAPACITY BUILDING GRANT Fund granted along with a line of credit to cater for the bank’s capacity building programme

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

26. Grants

2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Belgium Co- operation 
microfinance 209,875 485,548

UNDP grant for MFIs 107,545 107,545

Fapa Grant 8,478 8,226

PASP Grant 116,773 122,906

PRICE Grant 24,240 39,516

RAB Grant 50,126 50,126

517,037 813,867



F I N A N C I A L SBRD Annual Report | 2017

150 151

Grant Details

The Belgium Co-operation 
Microfinance

The Belgium cooperation grant is used for technical assistance and capacity building to microfinance institu-
tions or for the Bank’s operating expenses related to microfinance support

UNDP Grant The UNDP Grant is a refinancing facility for capacity building of MFIs under the Building Inclusive Financial 
Sector in Rwanda

FAPA Grant
The purpose of this grant is to finance certain expenditures required for provision of technical assistance for ca-
pacity building that will contribute to strengthening BRD’s capacity and enabling it to contribute more efficiently 
and effectively to the economic development of Rwanda

PASP Grant

The PASP grant, Post-harvest and Agribusiness support project, primary objective is to increase smallholder and 
rural labourer incomes (including women, youth and vulnerable groups) from CIP crops and dairy businesses by 
supporting aggregation of production for markets, transformation, and value-addition to enable smallholders to 
capture a higher share of the value. The project’s primary focus is the facilitation of inclusive business activities 
that can thrive on increased agricultural production from CIP crops and dairy development

Price Grant The purpose of this grant is to raise smallholder farmer’s incomes through greater sustainable by increasing 
the volume and quality of crop production, improve marketing and more effective famer organisations

RAB Grant In partnership with the PASP project, this grant was provided for the climate resilient processing plant project

Number of shares Frw’ 000

 Par value Total

As at 1 January 2016 7,808,931 1,000 7,808,931

As at 31 December 2016 7,276,421 1,000 7,276,421

As at 1 January 2017 7,276,421 1,000 7,276,421

As at 31 December 2017 7,258,230 1,000 7,258,230

Authorized share capital

On September 19, 2016 an extra ordinary meeting of the shareholders of the bank approved for the increase of share capital of the bank from Frw 7.8billion to Frw 
57.8 billion. This increase has been approved by the General Assembly of the Shareholders and the majority shareholders have indicated their respective commit-
ments and when that is planned to be paid up. 

The authorized share capital registered with Rwanda development Board is 7,808,931 shares at Rwf 1,000 each.

All shareholders have the same voting rights during annual and general meetings which is equal to the number of paid up shares held by the member.

(a) Share Premium

Share Premium 11,665,569 11,665,569

The share premium arose on the purchase of shares by one of the minority shareholders and, Government of Rwanda debt to CSR from the export promotion fund, 
Caisse Sociale Du Rwanda Debt outstanding by BRD and on the share swap with Magerwa.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

28. Other reserves

  2017 2016

  Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

 

Revaluation reserves  6,242,256 6,242,831

Legal reserves  1,088,127 1,088,127

Ordinary reserves  232,561 232,561

Credit Reserve  - -

 Fair value reserve  (21,007) 3,048,178

Supplementary capital reserve  11,510,321 11,510,321

 

 19,052,258 22,122,018

Movements in other reserves are shown on the statement of changes in equity.

The revaluation surplus represents the surplus on the revaluation of buildings and freehold land and is non-distributable.

In accordance with Article 9 of law Nº 15/91 of April 1991 related to modification of law of August 5, 1967 creating BRD, legal reserves are mandatory and computed by 
deducting 5% of net profit after off-setting of previous losses until reserves amount to 10% of share capital. The reserve is not distributable.  No new reserves have been 
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transferred during the year 2016 and year 2017 as the legal reserves are above the 10% of the share capital as at 31 December 2016 and as at 31 December 
2017.

Ordinary reserves are voluntary reserves made by the Bank’s shareholders. The percentage of transfer to be made is determined by the board of directors.

Credit reserve represents the excess of impairment provisions determined in accordance with the National Bank of Rwanda Guidelines over the IFRS impair-
ment provisions.

Fair value reserves represent fair value gains on available for sale equity investments and are not distributable.

Supplementary capital reserve relates to a Government of Rwanda subordinated debt that was converted into equity following a Government of Rwanda deci-
sion in 2010. The reserve is not distributable.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

29. Estimates and Judgements

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgments 
are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. 

The Bank regularly reviews its assets and makes judgments in determining whether an impairment loss should be recognized in respect of observable data 
that may impact on future estimated cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are 
reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

Impairment losses on loans and advances

The specific counterparty component of the total allowances for impairment applies to claims evaluated individually for impairment and is based upon man-
agement’s best estimate of the present value of the cash flows that are expected to be received. In estimating these cash flows, management makes judgments 
about counterparty’s financial situation. Each impaired asset is assessed on its merits, and the workout unit estimates of cash flows considered recoverable 
are independently reviewed by the Management Committee. 

Collectively assessed impairment allowances cover credit losses inherent in portfolios of claims with similar economic characteristics when there is objective 
evidence to suggest that they contain impaired claims, but the individual impaired items cannot yet be identified. In assessing the need for collective loan loss 
allowances, management considers factors such as credit quality, portfolio size, concentrations, and economic factors. In order to estimate the required allow-
ance, assumptions are made to define the way inherent losses are modelled and to determine the required input parameters, based on historical experience 
and current economic conditions. The accuracy of the allowances depends on how well the estimated future cash flows for specific counterparty allowances 
and the model assumptions and parameters used in determining collective allowances.

General provision sensitivity analysis

General provisions were made against normal/performing loans and watch loans and these are reported as allowance for impairment – collective assessment. 
The rate used in the year ended was 1.5% and resulted into an increase in the required provisions of Frw 648,471 thousands. The cumulative general provisions 
at the end of the year was Frw 1,385,971 thousands (See Note 16).

The following table discloses the impact on net profit had Directors estimated the collective impairment rate in 2017 to be 2.5% and 3% respectively:

At 1.5% At 2.0% At 2.5%

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

General provisions on loans and advances 2,034,442 2,665,119 3,364,108

Impact on the net profit - (630,677) (1,329,666)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30. Financial Risk Management

(A) Introduction and overview

The Bank has exposure to the following risks as a result of its operations and from its use of financial instruments:

• Credit risk;

• Liquidity risk; and 

• Market risk

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Bank’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk 
and the Bank’s management of capital.

Risk management framework

The Bank’s board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Bank’s risk management framework. The board has established the 
Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO), Credit Risk Committee and the Risk Management Division which are responsible for developing and monitoring the risk man-
agement policies in their specified areas.  The Board Audit Committee has both executive and non- executive members and reports regularly to the Board of Directors 
on their activities.

The Bank’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Bank, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor 
risks and adherence to limits.  Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered.  
The Bank through its procedures aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obliga-
tions. 
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The estimation of credit exposure is complex and requires the use of models, as the value of a product varies with changes in market variables, expected cash 
flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the 
associated loss ratios and of default correlations between counterparties. 

The Bank’s Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Bank’s risk management policies and procedures, and for 
reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Bank.  The Audit Committee is assisted in these functions by 
Internal Audit.  Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to 
the Audit Committee. 

The Bank also seeks to raise its interest margins by obtaining above-average margins, net of allowances, through lending to commercial and retail borrowers 
with a range of credit standing. Such exposures involve not just on-Statement of financial position loans and advances; the Bank also enters into guarantees 
which apparently are commitments in the form of letters of credit that it discloses as off balance sheet items.

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30. Financial Risk Management

(B) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of the Bank’s customers, clients or market counterparties fail to fulfil their contractual obligations 
to the Bank. Credit risk arises mainly from commercial and consumer loans and advances and loan commitments arising from such lending activities, but can 
also arise from credit enhancement provided, such as financial guarantees, letters of credit and acceptances.

The Bank is also exposed to other credit risks arising from investments in debt securities and other exposures arising from its trading activities (‘trading ex-
posures’), including settlement balances with market counterparties and reverse repurchase loans.

Credit risk is the single largest risk for the Bank’s business; management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk. The credit risk management 
and control are centralized in a credit risk management team, which reports to the Board of Directors through the Chief Executive Officer and head of each 
business unit regularly.

i. Credit risk measurement

(a) Loans and advances (Including commitments and guarantees)

The estimation of credit exposure is complex and requires the use of models, as the value of a product varies with changes in market variables, expected cash 
flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the 
associated loss ratios and of default correlations between counterparties.

In measuring credit risk of loan and advances to customers and to banks at a counterparty level, the Bank reflects three components 

(i) the ‘probability of default’ by the client or counterparty on its contractual obligations;

(ii)  current exposures to the counterparty and its likely future development, from which the Bank derives the ‘exposure at default’; and 

(iii) the likely recovery ratio on the defaulted obligations (the ‘loss given default’).

Probability of default

The Bank assesses the probability of default of individual counterparties using internal rating tools tailored to the various categories of counterparty.

For regulatory purposes and for internal monitoring of the quality of the loan portfolio, all the customers are segmented into five rating classes as shown below:

Regulatory rating Internal Rating Grade description

I I Performing

II II Watch

III III Substandard

IV IV Doubtful

V V Loss
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(B) Credit Risk (Continued)

Exposure at default

Exposure at default is based on the amounts the Bank expects to be owed at the time of default. For example, for a loan this is the face value. For a commit-
ment, the Bank includes any amount already drawn plus the further amount that may have been drawn by the time of default, should it occur.

Loss given default

Loss given default or loss severity represents the Bank’s expectation of the extent of loss on a claim should default occur. It is expressed as percentage loss 
per unit of exposure. It typically varies by type of counterparty, type and seniority of claim and availability of collateral or other credit support.

(b) Credit related commitments

The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required. Guarantees and standby letters of credit, which rep-
resent irrevocable assurances that the bank will make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit 
risk as loans. Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which are written undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a customer authorizing a third party to 
draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions, are collateralized by the underlying shipments of goods to which they 
relate and therefore carry less risk than a direct lending.

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in the form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to 
credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Bank is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely 
amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments, as most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit 
standards.

The Bank monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than short-
er-term commitments.

ii. Risk limit control and mitigation policies

The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, 
and to industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to annual or more frequent review. Limits on the level of credit risk by 
product, and industry sector are approved annually by the Board of Directors. 

The Board of Directors also approves individual borrower limits above specified amounts. The exposure to any one borrower including banks is further re-
stricted by sub-limits covering on and off-balance sheet exposures and daily delivery risk limits in relation to trading items such as forward foreign exchange 
contracts. Actual exposures against limits are monitored daily. Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and 
potential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing lending limits where appropriate.

The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these is the taking of security for funds advanced, which is 
common practice. The Bank implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal collateral types 
for loans and advances are:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30.  Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(B) Credit Risk (Continued)

ii. Risk limit control and mitigation policies (Continued)

• Mortgages over residential properties;

• Charges over business assets such as premises, plant and equipment;

• Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and equities.

Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally secured.

iii. Impairment and provisioning policies

The impairment allowance shown in the balance sheet at year end is derived from each of the five internal rating grades. The bank determines the impairment pro-
vision on loans and advances to customers as the difference between the carrying amount of a loan balance and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate.

iv. Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held

2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Balances with National Bank of 
Rwanda 1,406,464 377,652

Current accounts and placements 
with other banks 20,103,594 16,682,625

Loans and advances to customers 155,373,919 151,940,028

Other receivables 2,213,626 10,167,689

Derivatives 1,214,611 897,581

Credit risk exposures relating to 
off-balance sheet items:

Commitments to lend and letters 
of credit 42,677,706 47,115,315

222,989,920 227,180,890
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The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Bank at 31 December 2017 and 2016, without taking account of any collat-
eral held or other credit enhancements attached. For on-balance sheet assets, the exposures set out above are based on carrying amounts as reported 
on the balance sheet.

Loans and advances to customers, are secured by collateral in the form of charges over land and buildings and/or plant and machinery or corporate 
guarantees.

Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk to the Bank resulting from both its loan and ad-
vances portfolio and debt securities as the Bank exercises stringent controls over the granting of new loans.

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(B) Credit Risk (Continued)

iv) Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements (continued)

Financial assets that are performing, past due and impaired

2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Neither past due nor impaired 100,988,361 106,756,590

Past due but not impaired 34,439,945 34,456,161

Individually impaired 30,783,438 18,952,057

Gross  166,211,744 160,164,808

Less: 

Suspended interest (3,283,364) (5,383,181)

Allowance for impairment (7,554,459) (2,841,599)

Net  155,373,921 151,940,028

Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired

The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due not impaired can be assessed by reference to internal rating system 
recommended by the National Bank of Rwanda:

Neither past due nor impaired (Class I) 100,988,361 106,756,590

Loans and advances past due but not impaired

Loans and advances less than 90 days past due are not considered impaired, unless other information is available to indicate the contrary. The gross 
amounts of loans and advances that were past due but not impaired were as follows:

Past due 31 - 90 days (Class II) 34,439,945 34,456,161

Loans and advances individually impaired

Loans and advances less than 90 days past due are not considered impaired, unless other information is available to indicate the contrary. 

The gross amounts of loans and advances that were past due but not impaired were as follows:

Individually assessed for impair-
ment (Class III, IV and V) 30,783,438 18,952,057

Fair Value of collateral held 237,163,563 216,674,156
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(B) Credit Risk (Continued)

v. Concentration of gross loans among sectors of economy

Economic sector risk concentrations within the customer loan portfolio were as follows:

2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Agriculture 12,222,691 27,190,390

Export 65,335,068 61,695,775

Energy 7,400,580 9,064,701

Education 11,674,398 14,242,210

Housing - 434,631

SP and Infrastructure 63,423,508 40,895,952

Other 6,155,499 6,641,148

Gross loans 166,211,744 160,164,808

(C) LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering 
cash or another financial asset. Liquidity risk arises because of the possibility that the Bank might be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due 
as a result of mismatches in the timing of the cash flows under both normal and stress circumstances. Such scenarios could occur when funding needed for 
illiquid asset positions is not available to the Bank on acceptable terms. To limit this risk, management has arranged for diversified funding sources in addition 
to its core deposit base, and adopted a policy of managing assets with liquidity in mind and monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. The Bank 
has developed internal control processes and contingency plans for managing liquidity risk. This incorporates an assessment of expected cash flows and the 
availability of high grade collateral which could be used to secure additional funding if required.

In accordance with the Bank’s policy, the liquidity position is assessed under a variety of scenarios, giving due consideration to stress factors relating to both 
the market in general and specifically to the Bank. Net liquid assets consist of cash, short–term bank deposits and liquid debt securities available for immedi-
ate sale, less deposit for banks and other issued securities and borrowings due to mature within the next month.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(C) LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued)

(i) Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by remaining contractual maturities

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the undiscounted cash flows of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2017:

As at 31 December 2017 Matured Up to 6 Months 6 - 12 Months 1 - 3 Years 3 - 5 Years 5 - 7 Years Over 7 Years Total

Financial Assets Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Cash and Balances with 
National Bank of Rwanda 1,256,464 150,000 - - - - - 1,406,464

Amount due from other 
Banks 6,362,212 13,741,383 - - - - - 20,103,595

Loans and advances 10,198,077 5,602,203 5,629,420 27,349,837 31,270,681 38,960,144 181,680,247 300,690,609

Equity investments - - - - - - 39,469,392 39,469,392

Other assets receivable 417,662 306,835 1,489,129 - - - - 2,213,626

Total undiscounted finan-
cial assets (A) 18,234,415 19,800,421 7,118,549 27,349,837 31,270,681 38,960,144 221,149,639 363,883,686

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings - 8,557,525 6,606,285 34,007,781 33,809,294 25,503,468 90,718,577 199,202,930

Special funds - - - - - - ` 28,793,089

Other Liabilities 6,468,560 1,735,067 3,323,041 - - - - 11,526,668

Total undiscounted finan-
cial Liabilities (B) 6,468,560 10,292,592 9,929,326 34,007,781 33,809,294 25,503,468 119,511,666 239,522,687

Net Liquidity Gap (A-B) 11,765,855 9,507,829 (2,810,777) (6,657,944) (2,538,613) 13,456,676 101,637,973 124,360,999
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(C) LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued)

(i) Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by remaining contractual maturities (Continued)

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the undiscounted cash flows of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2016:

As at 31 December 2016  Matured  Up to 6 Months  6 - 12 Months  1 - 3 Years  3 - 5 Years  5 - 7 Years  Over 7 Years  Total 

Financial Assets  Rwf’ 000  Rwf’ 000  Rwf’ 000  Rwf’ 000  Rwf’ 000  Rwf’ 000  Rwf’ 000  Rwf’ 000 

Cash and Balances with National Bank of 
Rwanda 377,652 - - - - - - 377,652

Amounts due from other Banks 7,572,419 9,110,206 - - - - - 16,682,625

Loans and advances 11,149,665 9,405,221 5,730,565 20,227,531 19,130,401 18,159,122 68,137,522 151,940,027

Equity investments - - - - - - 31,468,467 31,468,467

Other assets receivable 6,678,271 343,754 5,753,727 - - - - 12,775,752

Total undiscounted financial assets (A) 25,778,007 18,859,181 11,484,292 20,227,531 19,130,401 18,159,122 99,605,989 213,244,523

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings 41,841,206 20,176,520 7,738,444 19,898,901 19,021,478 12,428,377 7,753,372 128,858,298

Special funds - - - - - - 18,282,247 18,282,247

Other Liabilities 8,408,361 4,501,576 5,297,918 - - - - 18,207,855

Total undiscounted financial Liabilities (B) 50,249,567 24,678,096 13,036,362 19,898,901 19,021,478 12,428,377 26,035,619 165,348,400

Net Undiscounted Position (A-B) (24,471,560) (5,818,915) (1,552,070) 328,630 108,923 5,730,745 73,570,370 47,896,123

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(D) MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, which include currency exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the fair value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument. Market risk arises from open positions in interest rates and foreign currencies, both of which are exposed to general and specific market move-
ments and changes in the level of volatility. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable limits, while 
optimizing the return on risk. Overall responsibility for managing market risk rests with the Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO). The Treasury department is 
responsible for the development of detailed risk management policies (subject to review and approval by ALCO) and for the day to day implementation of those policies.

(i) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair values of financial instruments. Interest margins may 
increase or decrease as a result of such changes in the event of upward or downward shift in interest rate structure. The Board of Directors sets limits on the level of 
mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken, which is monitored daily. 

The following tables on the next pages summarize the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorized by the earlier of contractual repricing or 
maturity dates as at 31 December:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(D) MARKET RISK (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2016 Carrying 
Amount

 Up to 6 
Months 

 6 - 12 
Months  1 - 3 Years  3 - 5 Years  5 - 7 Years  Over 7 Years Non-interest bearing

Financial Assets   Frw’000   Frw’000   Frw ‘000 Frw’000   Frw ‘000   Frw’000   Frw’000   Frw’000 

Cash and Balances with Na-
tional Bank of Rwanda 377,652 - - - - - - 377,652

Amounts due from other 
banks 16,682,625 9,098,946 - - - - - 7,583,679

Loans and advances 151,940,028 12,167,858 1,425,978 11,594,450 15,649,880 15,316,819 93,404,401 2,380,642

Equity investments 30,023,093 - - - - - - 30,023,093

Other Assets 10,167,689 - - - - - - 10,167,689

Total Financial Assets 209,191,087 21,266,804 1,425,978 11,594,450 15,649,880 15,316,819 93,404,401 50,532,755

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings 129,936,553 26,327,209 43,062,974 18,692,510 17,830,560 10,856,332 10,736,731 2,430,237

Special funds 18,562,893 - - - - - - 18,562,893

Other Liabilities 16,890,066 - 2,078,915 - - - - 14,811,151

Total Financial Liabilities 165,389,512 26,327,209 45,141,889 18,692,510 17,830,560 10,856,332 10,736,731 35,804,281

Interest sensitivity Gap 43,801,575 (5,060,405) (43,715,911) (7,098,060) (2,180,680) 4,460,487 82,667,670 14,728,474

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(D) MARKET RISK (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2017 Carrying 
Amount

Up to 6 
Months

6 - 12 
Months 1 - 3 Years 3 - 5 Years 5 - 7 Years Over 7 Years Non-interest 

bearing

Financial Assets  Frw ‘000  Frw ‘000  Frw ‘000  Frw ‘000  Frw ‘000  Frw ‘000  Frw ‘000  Frw ‘000 

Cash and Balances with Na-
tional Bank of Rwanda 1,406,464 150,000 - - - - - 1,256,464

Amount due from other Banks 20,103,594 13,741,383 6,362,211

Loans and advances 155,374,026 10,564,552 778,406 8,166,686 15,428,056 12,273,543 101,691,235 6,471,548

Equity investments 24,230,783 - - - - - - 24,230,783

Other Assets 2,213,626 - - - - - - 2,213,626

Total Financial Assets 203,328,493 24,455,935 778,406 8,166,686 15,428,056 12,273,543 101,691,235 40,534,634

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings 148,549,277 36,454,186 15,209,946 3,167,943 - 6,836,078 81,234,641 5,646,483

Special funds 17,676,459 - - - - - - 17,676,459

Other Liabilities 11,526,668 - - - - - - 11,526,668

Total Financial Liabilities 177,752,404 36,454,186 15,209,946 3,167,943 - 6,836,078 81,234,641 34,849,610

Interest sensitivity Gap at 31 

December 2017 25,576,089 (11,998,251) (14,431,540) 4,998,743 15,428,056 5,437,465 20,456,594 5,685,024
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30.  Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(D) MARKET RISK (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)

The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is fundamental to the management of the Bank. It is unusual for banks 
ever to be completely matched since business transacted is often of uncertain terms and of different types. An unmatched position potentially enhances profitability, but can 
also increase the risk of losses.

The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing liabilities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the 
liquidity of the Bank and its exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.

Sensitivity Analysis

At 31 December 2017, if the interest rate had decreased/increased by 1% with all other variables held constant, pretax profit/loss for the year would have been Frw 554 million 
(2016: Frw 487 million) higher/lower, mainly as a result of the borrowings held at variable interest rates.

(ii) Currency Risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Bank does not actively engage in dealing and 
trading operations in currencies and so the Bank’s exposure to currency risk mainly involves the risk of foreign exchange losses or gains arising on the retranslation of mon-
etary assets, liabilities and off balance sheet items denominated in foreign currency.

The table below summarizes the Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at 31 December. 

Included in the table are the Bank’s financial instruments, categorized by currency:

As at 31 December 2017 FRW USD EUR GBP TOTAL

Financial Assets Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Cash and Balances with National 
Bank of Rwanda 1,224,014 152,963 1,980 27,613 1,406,570

Amount with other banks 7,506,932 10,459,327 2,135,182 2,468 20,103,909

Loans and Advances 155,064,534 390,492 - - 155,374,026

Equity Investments 24,230,783 - - - 24,230,783

Derivatives 1,214,611 - - - 1,214,611

Other Assets 1,607,886 605,740 - - 2,213,626

Total Financial Assets (A) 190,848,760 11,608,522 2,137,162 30,081 204,543,525

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings 64,720,061 80,696,968 2,011,043 - 147,428,072

Special funds 17,473,258 203,201 - - 17,676,459

Other Liabilities 8,736,116 979,887 122,773 - 9,838,776

Total Financial Liabilities (B) 90,929,435 81,880,056 2,133,816 - 174,943,307

Net On -Balance sheet Position 
(A-B) 99,919,325 (70,271,534) 3,346 30,081 29,600,218

As at 31 December 2016 FRW USD EUR GBP TOTAL

Financial Assets Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Cash and Balances with National Bank of Rwanda 260,061 95,643 21,948 - 377,652

Amounts with other banks 10,403,882 5,658,283 618,267 2,193 16,682,625

Loans and Advances 151,940,028 - - - 151,940,028

Equity Investments 30,023,093 - - - 30,023,093

Derivatives 897,581 - - - 897,581

Other Assets 4,283,566 7,093,275 315,319 2,514 11,694,674

Total Financial Assets (A) 197,808,211 12,827,201 955,534 4,707 211,615,653

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings 57,351,170 72,141,381 444,541 - 129,936,553

Special funds 18,562,503 390 - - 18,562,593

Other Liabilities 9,973,615 6,397,065 529,386 - 16,890,066

Total Financial Liabilities (B) 85,887,288 78,538,836 973,927 - 165,389,212

Net On -Balance sheet Position (A-B) 111,920,923 (65,681,635) (18,393) 4,707 46,226,441

Currency % Change in rate Effect on Pretax 
profit

% Change in 
rate Effect on Pretax profit

  2017  2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

USD (-)/+10% (-)/+ 7,027,153 (-)/+10% (-)/+ 6,568,164

EUR (-)/+10% (-)/+ 335 (-)/+10% +/(-)  1,839

GBP (-)/+10% +/(-)   3,008 (-)/+10% +/(-)  471
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(i) Price Risk

Equity % Change in RSE stock index Effect on OCI/Equity % Change in RSE stock index Effect on OCI/Equity

  2017  2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

BoK (-)/+ 10%         (-)/+  120,702 (-)/+ 10%        (-)/+ 91,734 

CTL (-)/+ 10%        (-)/+ 178,312 (-)/+ 10%        (-)/+ 243,153 

(E) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities approximate to their fair value.

(F) Fair value of financial instruments

IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable 
inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Bank’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs have 
created the following fair value hierarchy:

• Level 1 – Fair value is determined using unadjusted quoted prices in an active market for identical assets and liabilities. Types of financial assets 
include: actively traded government and other agency securities, listed derivative instruments and listed equities. Types of financial liabilities include 
listed derivative instruments;

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30.  Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(F) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

• Level 2 – Fair value is determined using valuation models with directly or indirectly market observable inputs. Types of financial assets include: 
corporate and other government bonds and loans, and over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives. Types of financial liabilities include over-the-counter (OTC) 
derivatives;

• Level 3 – Fair value is determined using Valuation models using significant non- market observable inputs. Types of financial assets include: highly 
structured OTC derivatives with unobservable parameters and corporate bonds in illiquid markets. Types of financial liabilities include highly struc-
tured OTC derivatives with unobservable parameters.

This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Bank considers relevant and observable market prices in its valuations where 
possible.

As at 31 December 2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Equity investments at fair value 
through profit or loss and OCI 2,990,142 - 21,240,641 24,230,783

Derivative financial instrument through 
Profit or Loss - 1,214,611 - 1,214,611

Total Financial Assets 2,990,142 1,214,611 21,240,641 25,445,394

As at 31 December 2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Rwf’ 000 Rwf’ 000 Rwf’ 000 Rwf’ 000

Equity investments at fair value 
through profit or loss and OCI 3,348,865 - 26,674,228 30,023,093

Derivative financial instrument through 
Profit or Loss - 897,581 - 897,581

Total Financial Assets 3,348,865 897,581 26,674,228 30,920,674

Reconciliation of Level 3 Items:

Equity Investments

Frw’ 000

At 1 January 2017 26,674,228

Additional investment -

Investments existed -

Fair value gain/(Loss) ( 5,433,587)

At 31 December 2017 21,240,641

At 31 December 2016 26,674,228
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(F) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

The management assessed the fair values of cash and short term deposits, other assets, other payables, approximate their carrying amounts largely due to 
the short term maturities of this instruments. 

The fair values of equity investments were estimated using equity dividend yields. Equity dividend yields represent the future dividends and are usually ex-
pressed in annualised percentage terms. They are usually unobservable for less liquid instruments with little with historical data.

Quantitative analysis of significant unobservable inputs

Interest rate/equity price volatility:

Volatility measures the expected future variability of a market price. It is generally quoted as a percentage; a higher number represents a more volatile 
instrument, for which larger swings in price (or interest rate) are expected. Volatility varies per instrument and in time and therefore, it is not viable to make 
reliable and meaningful general statements about volatility levels.

Discount margin/spreads:

Discount margin/spreads represent the discount rates used when calculating the present value of future cash flows. In discounted cash flow models such 
spreads are added to the benchmark rate when discounting the future expected cash flows. Hence, these spreads reduce the net present value of an asset 
or increase the value of a liability. They generally reflect the premium an investor expects to achieve over the benchmark interest rate to compensate for 
the higher risk driven by the uncertainty of the cash flows caused by the credit quality of the asset. They can be implied from market prices and are usually 
unobservable for illiquid or complex instruments.

Equity dividend yields:

Equity dividend yields represent the expected future dividends and are usually expressed in annualised percentage terms. They are usually unobservable for 
less liquid instruments with little historical data.

31 December 2017 Level 1 Level 3 Total Fair Value Total Carrying amount

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Financial assets-Available for sale

Listed 2,990,142  – 2,990,142 2,990,142

Unlisted                 - 12,280,017 12,280,017    12,280,017

Investments in Associates - - -

Listed                  - 8,960,624 8,960,624 8,960,624

Unlisted

Total Financial assets 2,990,142 21,240,641 24,230,783 24,230,783

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(F) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

The table below shows the classification of Available for sale equity Equity investments measured at fair value and cost. 

Valuation hierarchy set out below.

(ii) Valuation hierarchy 2016

31 December 2016 Level 1 Level 3

Total

Fair Value

Total Carrying amount

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Financial assets-Available for sale

Listed 3,348,865  – 3,348,865 3,348,865

Unlisted                 - 14,129,840 14,129,840 14,129,840

Investments in Associates -

Listed                  - 11,689,057 11,689,057 11,689,057

unlisted

Total Financial assets 3,348,865 25,818,897 29,167,762 29,167,762
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(F) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation:

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurements categorized within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 
31 December 2016 and 2017 are as shown below.

Unquoted Valuation technique Significant unobservable 
Inputs. 

Sensitivity of the input to fair value

Unquoted: Financial assets-Available for sale/in-
vestments in associate Unlisted equities.

Net Asset Value Company growth in Net 
Assets Discount for lack of 
marketability

Increase/Decrease in Net asset Value 
would increase/decrease value of in-
vestments.

Level 3 reconciliation

The following table shows a reconciliation of all movements in the fair value of financial instruments categorised within Level 3 between the beginning and the end of the 
reporting period:

2017

Frw’ 000

Balance as at 01 January 29,167,763

Payment received -

(Loss)/profit during the period (2,213,857)

Purchases -

Sales                     -

Balance as at 31 December 26,953,906

(G) Capital management

The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept that the ‘equity’ on the face of the statement of financial position, are:

• To comply with the capital requirements set under the Central Bank’s Regulation;

• To safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

• To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

The Bank’s regulator National Bank of Rwanda (BNR) sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank as a whole. The parent company and individual banking operations are 
directly supervised by their local regulators. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(G) Capital management (Continued)

In implementing current capital requirements, BNR, requires the Bank to maintain a prescribed ratio of total capital to total risk-weighted assets.

Tier 1 capital consists of shareholders’ equity comprising paid up share capital (issued and fully paid-up common share and irredeemable, non-cumulative preference shares), share premium, prior year 
retained profits, net current after tax profit to date (only 50%), general reserves less goodwill and other intangible assets, current years losses (if any), investments in unconsolidated financial subsidiaries, 
prohibited loans to insiders and deficiencies in provisions for losses. Tier 2 capital includes the Bank’s recognized revaluation reserve on fixed assets, and the subordinated debt not to exceed 50% of the Bank’s 
core capital subjected to discount factors. Tier 2 capital is limited to 100% of Tier 1 capital.

The table below summarizes the composition of the regulatory capital for the bank supposed to comply, at all times, with a regulatory floor of 15%:

2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Core Capital (Tier 1)

Share capital 7,258,230 7,276,421

Share premium 11,665,569 11,665,569

Prior year retained profits 16,331,472 12,833,209

General reserves 1,320,688 1,320,688

Intangible assets (792,530) (306,056)

Current year profit/Loss (16,472,798) 1,645,165

Core Capital 19,310,631 34,434,996

Supplementary Capital (Tier 2)

Revaluation reserve 1,560,564 1,560,708

Quasi capital - Supplementary equity capital < or = 100% of core capital 9,655,316 11,510,321

11,215,879 13,071,029

Total Capital (A) 30,526,510 47,506,025

Risk Weighted assets (B) 238,616,908 214,238,386

Capital Adequacy Ratio % (A/B) 12.8% 22.2%

The Bank did not meet the minimum threshold for Tier 1 capital and Total Capital Ratio. The Bank Tier 1 capital as at 31 December 2017 was 8.1% against the minimum required of 10% while the Total Capital 
Ratio was 12.8% against the minimum required of 15%.

The Government of Rwanda (GoR) through Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning has committed to inject capital in which Rwf 20 billion will form part of Tier 1 Capital and an additional Rwf 20.8 billion 
as supplementary capital.

Rwanda Social Security Board has also committed to inject Rwf 5 billion in cash and convert Rwf 10 billion of the term deposits to equity. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

31. Classification of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

The following table provides a reconciliation of the line items in the statement of financial position and categories of financial instruments:

As at 31 December 2017:

Loans and 
receivables Other at amortized cost Held to Maturity Available for sale Total Carrying Amount

 Frw’ 000  Frw’ 000  Frw’ 000  Frw’ 000  Frw’ 000 

Assets

Balances with Central Bank - 1,406,464 - - 1,406,464

Balances due from other Banks - 20,103,594 - - 20,103,594

Loans and advances 155,274,026 - - - 155,274,026

Equity investments (Note 17) - - - 24,230,783 24,230,783

Other assets - 2,213,626 - - 2,213,626

The Bank did not meet the minimum threshold for Tier 1 capital and Total Capital Ratio. The Bank Tier 1 capital as at 31 December 2017 was 8.1% against the minimum 
required of 10% while the Total Capital Ratio was 12.8% against the minimum required of 15%.

The Government of Rwanda (GoR) through Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning has committed to inject capital in which Rwf 20 billion will form part of Tier 1 
Capital and an additional Rwf 20.8 billion as supplementary capital.

Rwanda Social Security Board has also committed to inject Rwf 5 billion in cash and convert Rwf 10 billion of the term deposits to equity. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

31. Classification of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

The following table provides a reconciliation of the line items in the statement of financial position and categories of financial instruments:

Total Financial Assets 155,274,026 23,723,684 - 24,230,783 203,228,493

Liabilities

Borrowings - 148,549,277 - - 148,549,277

Special funds - 17,676,459 - - 17,676,459

Other payables - 11,526,668 - - 11,526,668

Total Financial Liabilities - 177,752,404 - - 177,752,404
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

32. Capital commitments

Off balance sheet items and contingencies

The Bank conducts business involving lending, performance bonds and indemnities.  The following are the commitments and contingencies outstanding as at year-end.

Loans and receivables Other at amortized cost Held to Maturity Available for sale Total Carrying Amount

 Frw’ 000  Frw’ 000  Frw’ 000  Frw’ 000  Frw’ 000 

Assets

Balances with Central Bank - 377,652 - - 377,652

Balances due from other Banks - 16,682,625 - - 16,682,625

Loans and advances 151,940,028 - - - 151,940,028

Equity investments (Note 17) - - - 30,023,094 30,023,094

Other assets - 11,694,674 - - 11,694,674

Total Financial Assets 151,940,028 28,754,951 - 30,023,094 210,718,073

Liabilities

Borrowings - 129,936,553 - - 129,936,553

Special funds - 18,562,893 - - 18,562,893

Other payables - 16,890,066 - - 16,890,066

Total Financial Liabilities - 165,389,512 - - 165,389,512

2017 2016

Note Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Letters of credit (a)    4,903,685    4,296,649 

Un-disbursed loan commitments (b)  37,774,021  42,818,666 

 42,677,706  47,115,315 

(a) Letters of credit

Letters of credit commit the Bank to make payments to suppliers of equipment to approved projects, on presentation of shipping documents.

(b) Un-disbursed loan commitments

Commitments to lend are agreements to lend to a customer in future subject to certain conditions. Such commitments are normally made for a fixed period.

(c) Litigations

The Bank is a litigant in several cases which arise from normal day to day banking activities. The directors and management believe the bank has strong grounds for success and are 
confident that they should get rulings in their favor in matters before court. In cases where the Bank may not be successful, directors and management are confident that such cases 
would not significantly impact the bank’s operations either individually or in aggregate. Management has also carried out an assessment of all the cases outstanding as at 31 December 
2017 and did not find any that warranted a provision. This position is supported by independent professional legal advice.

33. Related parties

The ultimate controlling party of the group is the Government of Rwanda, which owns 41% of the Bank’s shares. 35% of the remaining shares are held by various government agencies 
and the rest of the shares are held widely.  There is no ultimate parent of the group. There are other companies which are related to the Group through common shareholdings or com-
mon directorships.

A number of banking and other transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These include operation of current accounts, placement of deposits, 
foreign currency transactions and loans to Directors and other key management personnel of the Bank. Related-party transactions during the year, outstanding balances at the year-
end, and relating expense and income recognised during the year are as follows:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

32. Related parties (Continued)

(a) Loans and advances to related parties

2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Loans and advances to senior managers 837,748 945,473

Loans and advances to companies owned by 
BRD shareholders 12,856,804 6,417,008

13,694,552 7,362,481

Loans and advances to senior managers were issued at interest rates ranging between 0% and 5% and were all performing as at 31 December 2017 and as at 31 De-
cember 2016 and hence no provision was required.

Loans and advances to companies owned by BRD shareholders were issued at normal rates of the bank applicable to other non-related clients. These loans were all performing as at 
31 December 2017 and as at 31 December 2016 and hence no provision was required, however, these are subjected to impairment assessment as other loans to non-related clients.
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Outstanding balances with related parties

2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Kinazi Cassava Plant 219 26,770

Business Development Fund 306,616 766,744

Rugarama Park Estates ltd 139,773 78,435

BRD Education Fund 176,002 142,445

622,610 1,014,394

The outstanding balances with Kinazi Cassava Plant Ltd arise mainly from amounts advanced to the entity. The outstanding balances with Rugarama Park Estates relate to 
mainly operational expenses of Rugarama Park met by BRD. The outstanding balances of BRD education relate to Management fees and salaries of Education staff. The receiv-
ables are unsecured in nature and bear no interest.

Key management compensation and directors’ remuneration

Key management compensation and directors’ remuneration

Key management compensation 2017 2016

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Salaries and other employee benefits 1,070,778 972,533

Contributions to retirement schemes      60,720      40,223

1,131,498 1,012,756

Directors’ remuneration

Fess and other expenses 68,675 66,475

34. Post period end events

Except as disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, there are no events after the reporting date that require disclosure in or adjustments to the 
financial statements as at the date of this report.

Appendix I - Other Disclosures 2017 2016

1. Off - balance sheet credit exposures Frw’ 000 42,677,706 47,115,315

2. Non - performing loans indicators

    a. Non-performing loans (NPL) Frw’ 000 33,633,470 18,952,057

    b. NPL Ratio % 16.34% 9.41%

3. Capital Strength

a. Core capital (Tier 1) Frw’ 000 19,310,631   34,741,051

b. Supplementary capital (Tier 2) Frw’ 000 11,215,880   13,071,029

c. Total Capital Frw’ 000 30,526,511   47,812,080

d. Total risk weighted assets Frw’ 000 238,616,908   214,238,386

e. Core capital/total risk weighted assets (Tier 1 Ratio) % 8.1% 16.7%

f. Tier 2/total risk weighted assets (Tier 2 ratio) % 4.7% 6.10%

g. Total capital/total risk weighted assets (Total Capital 
ratio) % 12.8% 22. 2%

4. Liquidity

a. Regulatory liquidity coverage ratio (30 days ahead) 145.96% 178.00%

b. Internal liquidity coverage ratio (one year ahead) 81.00% 12.00%

5. Insider lending

a. Loans to directors, shareholders and subsidiaries Frw’ 000 13,694,552 7,362,481

b. Loans to employees Frw’ 000 4,398,670 4,386,736
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6. Management and Board Composition

a. Number of Board members 9 9

b. Number of Executive Directors 0 0

c. Number of Non - Executive Directors 9 9

d. Number of female Directors 2 2

e. Number of male Directors 7 7

f. Number of Executive committee members 8 8

g. Number of females in the executive committee 2 2

h. Number of males in the executive committee 6 6
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